### UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

### **FORM 10-Q**

(Mark One)

☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES **EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934** 

For the quarterly period ended <u>June 30, 2019</u>

 $\hfill\Box$  TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES **EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934** 

> For the transition period from \_\_\_\_ to \_\_\_ Commission file number 001-00035



#### **GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

New York		14-0689340					
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation of	r organization)	(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.	.)				
41 Farnsworth Street,	Boston MA	02210					
(Address of principal executive off	ices)	(Zip Code)					
(Registrant's telep	hone number, including area cod	e) <u>(617) 443-3000</u>					
(Former notes and the securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the section 12(b) of the securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the section	ame, former address and former if changed since last report)	fiscal year,					
Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of each exchange on which	registered				
Common stock, par value \$0.06 per share	GE	New York Stock Exchang	e				
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) he Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mon and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements. Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has see to Puls 405 of Pagulation S.T. (\$232,405 of this above	ths (or for such shorter period that is for the past 90 days. Yes ☑ No submitted electronically every Inte	at the registrant was required to file su □ eractive Data File required to be submi	ch reports), itted pursuan				
to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T ( $\S232.405$ of this chawas required to submit such files). Yes $\boxtimes$ No $\square$	ipter) during the preceding 12 mo	ntns (or for such shorter period that th	e registrant				
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a lareporting company or an emerging growth company company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule	y. See the definitions of "large acc	elerated filer," "accelerated filer," "sma					
Large accelerated filer		Accelerated filer					
Non-accelerated filer		Smaller reporting company					
Emerging growth company							
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check is complying with any new or revised financial account Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a s	ting standards provided pursuant	to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.	. 🗆				

There were 8,727,072,000 shares of common stock with a par value of \$0.06 per share outstanding at June 30, 2019.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
About General Electric	3
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A)	3
Consolidated Results	4
Segment Operations	7
Corporate Items and Eliminations	17
Other Consolidated Information	19
Capital Resources and Liquidity	21
Critical Accounting Estimates	27
Other Items	27
Non-GAAP Financial Measures	28
Controls and Procedures	34
Other Financial Data	34
Risk Factors	34
Legal Proceedings	35
Financial Statements and Notes	37
Forward-Looking Statements	74
Glossary	75
Exhibits	75
Form 10-Q Cross Reference Index	76
Signatures	77

#### ABOUT GENERAL ELECTRIC

General Electric Company operates worldwide as a high-tech industrial company through its five industrial segments, Power, Renewable Energy, Aviation, Healthcare, Oil & Gas, and through its financial services segment, Capital. The Power segment offers technologies, solutions, and services related to energy production, including gas and steam turbines, generators, and power generation services. The Renewable Energy segment provides wind turbine platforms, hardware and software, offshore wind turbines, solutions, products and services to hydropower industry, blades for onshore and offshore wind turbines, and high voltage equipment. The Aviation segment provides jet engines and turboprops for commercial airframes, maintenance, component repair, and overhaul services, as well as replacement parts, additive machines and materials, and engineering services. The Healthcare segment provides healthcare technologies in medical imaging, digital solutions, patient monitoring, and diagnostics, drug discovery, biopharmaceutical manufacturing technologies and performance enhancement solutions. The Oil & Gas segment offers oilfield services and equipment, turbomachinery and process solutions. The Capital segment leases and finances aircraft, aircraft engines and helicopters, provides financial and underwriting solutions, and manages our run-off insurance operations.

# MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (MD&A)

The consolidated financial statements of General Electric Company (the Company) combine the industrial manufacturing and services businesses of GE with the financial services businesses of GE Capital or Financial Services and are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

We believe investors will gain a better understanding of our company if they understand how we measure and talk about our results. Because of the diversity in our businesses, we present our financial statements in a three-column format, which allows investors to see our GE Industrial operations separately from our Financial Services operations. We believe that this provides useful information to investors. When used in this report, unless otherwise indicated by the context, we use the terms to mean the following:

- General Electric or the Company the parent company, General Electric Company.
- **GE** consolidated the adding together of GE and GE Capital, giving effect to the elimination of transactions between the two. We present the results of GE consolidated in the left-side column of our consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss), Financial Position and Cash Flows.
- **GE** the adding together of all affiliates except GE Capital, whose continuing operations are presented on a one-line basis, giving effect to the elimination of transactions among such affiliates. As GE presents the continuing operations of GE Capital on a one-line basis, certain intercompany profits resulting from transactions between GE and GE Capital have been eliminated at the GE level. We present the results of GE in the center column of our consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss), Financial Position and Cash Flows.
- **GE Capital or Financial Services** the adding together of all affiliates of GE Capital giving effect to the elimination of transactions among such affiliates. We present the results of GE Capital in the right-side column of our consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss), Financial Position and Cash Flows.
- **GE Industrial** GE excluding the continuing operations of GE Capital. We believe that this provides investors with a view as to the results of our industrial businesses and corporate items. An example of a GE Industrial metric is GE Industrial Free Cash Flows (Non-GAAP).
- Industrial segment the sum of our five industrial reportable segments, without giving effect to the elimination of transactions among such segments and between these segments and our financial services segment. This provides investors with a view as to the results of our industrial segments, without inter-segment eliminations and corporate items. An example of an industrial segment metric is industrial segment revenue growth.

Refer to the Glossary for a list of key terms used in our MD&A and financial statements. Operational and financial overviews for our operating segments are provided in the Segment Operations section.

This document contains "forward-looking statements" - that is, statements related to future events that by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain. For details about the uncertainties that could cause our actual results to be materially different than those expressed in our forward-looking statements, see the Risk Factors and Forward-Looking Statements sections, as well as our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 and our other Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.

In the accompanying analysis of financial information, we sometimes use information derived from consolidated financial data but not presented in our financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. Certain of these data are considered "non-GAAP financial measures" under SEC rules. See the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section for the reasons we use these non-GAAP financial measures and the reconciliations to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measures.

Amounts reported in billions in tables within this report are computed based on the amounts in millions. As a result, the sum of the components reported in billions may not equal the total amount reported in billions due to rounding. Certain columns and rows within the tables may not add due to the use of rounded numbers. Percentages presented are calculated from the underlying numbers in millions. Discussions throughout this MD&A are based on continuing operations unless otherwise noted. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

GE's Internet address at www.ge.com, Investor Relations website at www.ge.com/investor-relations and our corporate blog at www.gereports.com, as well as GE's Facebook page and Twitter accounts and other social media, including @GE\_Reports, contain a significant amount of information about GE, including financial and other information for investors. GE encourages investors to visit these websites from time to time, as information is updated and new information is posted.

#### **CONSOLIDATED RESULTS**

**SIGNIFICANT DEVELOPMENTS.** In November 2018, and pursuant to our announced plan of an orderly separation from Baker Hughes, a GE company (BHGE) over time, BHGE completed an underwritten public offering in which we sold 101.2 million shares of BHGE Class A common stock. BHGE also repurchased 65 million BHGE LLC units from us. The total consideration received by us from these transactions was \$3.7 billion. As a result, our economic interest in BHGE reduced from 62.5% to 50.4% and we recognized a pretax loss in equity of \$2.2 billion. Any reduction in our ownership interest below 50% will result in us losing control of BHGE. At that point, we would deconsolidate our Oil & Gas segment, recognize any remaining interest at fair value and recognize any difference between carrying value and fair value of our interest in earnings. Depending on the form and timing of our separation, and if BHGE's stock price remains below our current carrying value, we may recognize a significant loss in earnings. Based on BHGE's share price at July 26, 2019 of \$24.84 per share, the loss upon deconsolidation from a sale of our interest would be approximately \$7.4 billion. See Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

On February 25, 2019, we completed the spin-off and subsequent merger of our Transportation segment with Wabtec Corporation, a U.S. rail equipment manufacturer. In the transaction, participating GE shareholders received shares of Wabtec common stock representing an approximate 24.3% ownership interest in Wabtec common stock. GE received approximately \$2.8 billion in cash as well as shares of Wabtec common stock and Wabtec non-voting convertible preferred stock that, together, represent an approximate 24.9% ownership interest in Wabtec. GE is also entitled to additional cash consideration up to \$0.5 billion for tax benefits that Wabtec realizes from the transaction. As a result, we reclassified our Transportation segment to discontinued operations in the first quarter of 2019 and recorded a gain of \$3.5 billion (\$2.5 billion after-tax) in discontinued operations. On May 6, 2019, we sold 25.3 million shares of Wabtec common stock resulting in proceeds of \$1.8 billion. After the sale, our ownership of Wabtec reduced to approximately 11.8% which we intend to monetize over time. See Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

Also on February 25, 2019, we announced an agreement to sell our BioPharma business within our Healthcare segment to Danaher Corporation for total consideration of approximately \$21.4 billion subject to certain adjustments. At March 31, 2019, we classified BioPharma as a business held for sale. The transaction is expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2019, subject to regulatory approvals and customary closing conditions, and provides us flexibility and optionality with respect to our remaining Healthcare business.

We recognized a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of \$0.7 billion related to goodwill at our Grid Solutions equipment and services reporting unit within our Renewable Energy segment. This charge was recorded within Corporate. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

**SECOND QUARTER 2019 RESULTS.** Consolidated revenues were \$28.8 billion, down \$0.3 billion, or 1%, for the quarter. The decrease in revenues was largely attributable to the sales of Industrial Solutions, Value-Based Care and Distributed Power businesses in June 2018, July 2018 and November 2018, respectively. Industrial segment organic revenues\* increased \$1.9 billion, or 7%, driven by our Renewable Energy, Oil & Gas, Aviation and Healthcare segments, partially offset by our Power segment.

Continuing earnings per share was \$(0.03). Excluding non-operating benefit costs, gains (losses) on business dispositions, restructuring and other charges, goodwill impairments and unrealized gains (losses) on investments, Adjusted earnings per share\* was \$0.17.

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, GE Industrial profit was \$(0.4) billion and GE Industrial profit margins were (1.3)%, down \$1.6 billion or 590 basis points, driven by a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of \$0.7 billion in the second quarter of 2019, increased net losses from disposed or held for sale businesses of \$0.4 billion, increased unrealized losses on investments of \$0.3 billion and increased adjusted Corporate operating costs\* of \$0.1 billion, partially offset by decreased restructuring and other costs of \$0.1 billion. Industrial segment profit decreased \$0.6 billion, or 21%, primarily due to lower results within our Power, Renewable Energy and Aviation segments, partially offset by the performance of our Healthcare and Oil & Gas segments. Industrial segment organic profit\* decreased \$0.5 billion, or 17%.

GE cash flows from operating activities (CFOA) from continuing operations was \$(0.8) billion for both the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. GE CFOA remained flat primarily due to no GE Pension Plan contributions in 2019 compared to \$0.9 billion in 2018 and lower net disbursements for equipment project costs, offset by lower net income and higher cash used for working capital and employee benefit liabilities compared to 2018. Adjusted GE Industrial Free Cash Flows (FCF)\* were \$(2.2) billion and \$(1.4) billion for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase in cash used was primarily due to lower net income and higher cash used for working capital and employee benefit liabilities compared to 2018, partially offset by lower net disbursements for equipment project costs compared to 2018. See the Capital Resources and Liquidity - Statement of Cash Flows section for further information.

Orders are contractual commitments with customers to provide specified goods or services for an agreed upon price. Backlog is unfilled customer orders for products and product services (expected life of contract sales for product services).

GE INDUSTRIAL BACKLOG (In billions)				Jun	ne 30, 2019 Jur	ne 30, 2018	
Equipment				\$	85.0 \$	81.8	
Services					311.5	276.5	
Total backlog				\$	396.5 \$	358.3	
GE INDUSTRIAL ORDERS	Thre	ee months ended	June 30	Si	x months ended	ended June 30	
(In billions)		2019	2018		2019	2018	
Equipment	\$	14.1 \$	14.9	\$	26.4 \$	27.2	
Services		14.6	15.0		28.5	28.7	
Total orders	\$	28.7 \$	30.0	\$	54.9 \$	55.9	
Total organic orders	\$	29.3 \$	28.2	\$	55.8 \$	52.7	

As of June 30, 2019, backlog increased \$38.1 billion, or 11%, from the prior year due to an increase in services backlog of \$35.0 billion and equipment backlog of \$3.2 billion primarily at Aviation.

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, orders decreased \$1.3 billion, or 4%, on a reported basis and increased \$1.1 billion, or 4%, organically driven by an increase in services orders of \$0.5 billion primarily at Renewable Energy, Oil & Gas and Aviation, partially offset by Power as well as an increase in equipment orders of \$0.6 billion primarily at Renewable Energy and Power, partially offset by Aviation.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, orders decreased \$1.0 billion, or 2%, on a reported basis and increased \$3.1 billion, or 6%, organically driven by an increase equipment orders of \$1.8 billion primarily at Renewable Energy, Power and Oil & Gas, partially offset by Aviation as well as an increase in services orders of \$1.3 billion primarily at Aviation and Oil & Gas.

Remaining performance obligation (RPO), a defined term under GAAP, is backlog excluding any purchase order that provides the customer with the ability to cancel or terminate without incurring a substantive penalty, even if the likelihood of cancellation is remote based on historical experience. We plan to continue reporting backlog as we believe that it is a useful metric for investors, given its relevance to total orders. See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

June 30, 2019 (In billions)	Equipment	Services	Total
Backlog	\$ 85.0 \$	311.5 \$	396.5
Adjustments	(34.7)	(110.4)	(145.1)
Remaining performance obligation	\$ 50.3 \$	201.1 \$	251.4

Adjustments to reported backlog of \$(145.1) billion as of June 30, 2019 are largely driven by adjustments of \$(132.1) billion in our Aviation segment: (1) backlog includes engine contracts for which we have received purchase orders that are cancelable. We have included these in backlog as our historical experience has shown no net cancellations, as any canceled engines are typically moved by the airframer to other program customers; (2) our services backlog includes contracts that are cancelable without substantive penalty, primarily time and materials contracts; (3) backlog includes engines contracted under long-term service agreements, even if the engines have not yet been put into service. These adjustments to reported backlog are expected to be satisfied beyond one year.

REVENUES	Thre	ee months ended	Six months ended June 30			
(In billions)		2019	2018		2019	2018
Consolidated revenues	\$	28.8 \$	29.2	\$	56.1 \$	56.9
Equipment		12.6	12.6		24.2	24.7
Services		14.5	14.6		28.3	28.4
Industrial segment revenues		27.1	27.2		52.5	53.2
Corporate items and Industrial eliminations		(0.2)	(0.1)		(0.2)	_
GE Industrial revenues	\$	26.8 \$	27.1	\$	52.2 \$	53.2
Financial services revenues	\$	2.3 \$	2.4	\$	4.5 \$	4.6

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, consolidated revenues decreased \$0.3 billion, or 1%, primarily driven by decreased industrial segment revenues of \$0.1 billion and decreased Financial Services revenues of \$0.1 billion. The overall foreign currency impact on consolidated revenues was a decrease of \$0.6 billion.

Industrial segment revenues decreased \$0.1 billion as decreases at Power and Healthcare were partially offset by increases at Renewable Energy, Oil & Gas and Aviation. This decrease was driven by the net effects of dispositions of \$1.4 billion, primarily attributable to the sales of Industrial Solutions, Value-Based Care and Distributed Power in June 2018, July 2018 and November 2018, respectively, and the effects of a stronger U.S. dollar of \$0.6 billion. Excluding the effects of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency translation, industrial segment organic revenues\* increased \$1.9 billion, or 7%.

Financial Services revenues decreased \$0.1 billion, or 4%, primarily due to volume declines, partially offset by higher gains and lower impairments.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, consolidated revenues decreased \$0.8 billion, or 1%, primarily driven by decreased industrial segment revenues of \$0.7 billion and decreased Financial Services revenues of \$0.1 billion. The overall foreign currency impact on consolidated revenues was a decrease of \$1.3 billion.

Industrial segment revenues decreased \$0.7 billion, or 1%, as decreases at Power and Healthcare were partially offset by increases at Aviation, Oil & Gas and Renewable Energy. This decrease was driven by the net effects of dispositions of \$2.6 billion, primarily attributable to the sales of Industrial Solutions, Value-Based Care and Distributed Power in June 2018, July 2018 and November 2018, respectively, and the effects of a stronger U.S. dollar of \$1.3 billion. Excluding the effects of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency translation, industrial segment organic revenues\* increased \$3.2 billion, or 6%.

Financial Services revenues decreased \$0.1 billion, or 1%, primarily due to volume declines, partially offset by higher gains and lower impairments.

EARNINGS (LOSS) AND EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE	Thre	Three months ended June 30			Six months ended June 30		
(In billions; per-share in dollars and diluted)		2019	2018		2019	2018	
Continuing earnings	\$	(0.3) \$	0.7	\$	0.7 \$	0.9	
Continuing earnings per share	\$	(0.03) \$	0.08	\$	0.07 \$	0.11	

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, consolidated continuing earnings decreased \$1.0 billion due to decreased GE Industrial continuing earnings of \$1.3 billion, and a goodwill impairment charge of \$0.7 billion in 2019, partially offset by increased benefit for GE Industrial income taxes of \$0.6 billion driven by the completion of prior years' audit, decreased interest and other financial charges of \$0.2 billion, decreased non-operating benefit costs of \$0.1 billion and decreased Financial Services losses of \$0.1 billion.

GE Industrial continuing earnings decreased \$1.3 billion, or 49%. Corporate items and eliminations decreased \$0.7 billion primarily attributable to increased net losses from disposed or held for sale businesses of \$0.4 billion, increased unrealized losses on investments of \$0.3 billion and increased adjusted Corporate operating costs\* of \$0.1 billion, partially offset by decreased restructuring and other costs of \$0.1 billion. Industrial segment profit decreased \$0.6 billion, or 21%, with decreases at Power, Renewable Energy and Aviation, partially offset by higher profit at Healthcare and Oil & Gas. This decrease in industrial segment profit was driven in part by the net effects of dispositions of \$0.1 billion, primarily associated with the sales of Industrial Solutions, Value-Based Care and Distributed Power in June 2018, July 2018 and November 2018, respectively. Excluding the effects of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency translation, industrial segment organic profit\* decreased \$0.5 billion, or 17%.

Financial Services continuing losses decreased \$0.1 billion, or 57%, primarily due to higher gains, lower impairments, higher tax benefits and lower excess interest costs, partially offset by volume declines. Gains were \$0.2 billion and \$0.1 billion in the second quarters of 2019 and 2018, respectively, which primarily related to sales of GE Capital Aviation Services (GECAS) aircraft and engines resulting in gains of \$0.1 billion in both 2019 and 2018 and the sale of an equity method investment resulting in a gain of \$0.1 billion in 2019 at Energy Financial Services (EFS).

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, consolidated continuing earnings decreased \$0.3 billion due to decreased GE Industrial continuing earnings of \$0.9 billion and a goodwill impairment charge of \$0.7 billion in 2019, partially offset by decreased Financial Services losses of \$0.5 billion, decreased provision for GE Industrial income taxes of \$0.4 billion driven by the completion of prior years' audit, decreased interest and other financial charges of \$0.3 billion and decreased non-operating benefit costs of \$0.3 billion.

GE Industrial continuing earnings decreased \$0.9 billion, or 20%. Corporate items and eliminations decreased \$0.3 billion primarily attributable to increased unrealized losses on investments of \$0.3 billion and increased adjusted Corporate operating costs\* of \$0.2 billion, partially offset by decreased restructuring and other costs of \$0.2 billion. Industrial segment profit decreased \$0.6 billion, or 11%, with decreases at Renewable Energy, Power and Aviation, partially offset by higher profit at Oil & Gas and Healthcare. This decrease in industrial segment profit was driven in part by the net effects of dispositions of \$0.3 billion, primarily associated with the sales of Industrial Solutions, Value-Based Care and Distributed Power in June 2018, July 2018 and November 2018, respectively, offset by lower restructuring and business development costs related to Baker Hughes of \$0.3 billion and the effects of a weaker U.S. dollar of \$0.1 billion. Excluding the effects of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency translation, industrial segment organic profit\* decreased \$0.7 billion, or 12%.

Financial Services continuing losses decreased \$0.5 billion primarily due to higher gains, lower excess interest costs, tax law changes and lower impairments. Gains were \$0.4 billion and \$0.2 billion in the first half of 2019 and 2018, respectively, which primarily related to sales of GECAS aircraft and engines resulting in gains of \$0.2 billion and \$0.1 billion in the first half of 2019 and 2018 and the sale of an equity method investment resulting in a gain of \$0.1 billion in 2019 at EFS.

**AVIATION AND GECAS 737 MAX.** Aviation develops, produces, and sells LEAP aircraft engines through CFM International (CFM), a company jointly owned by GE and Safran Aircraft Engines, a subsidiary of the Safran Group of France. The LEAP-1B engine is the exclusive engine for the Boeing 737 MAX. In March 2019, global regulatory authorities ordered a temporary fleet grounding of the Boeing 737 MAX. In April 2019, Boeing announced a temporary reduction in the 737 MAX production rate, and during the second quarter of 2019, CFM reduced its production rate for the LEAP-1B to meet Boeing's revised aircraft build rate. As a result of the 737 MAX grounding, GE CFOA was adversely affected by an estimated \$0.3 billion and \$0.6 billion for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. If the 737 MAX remains grounded, based on current assumptions, we anticipate a negative impact to GE CFOA of approximately \$0.4 billion per quarter in the second half of 2019. See Capital Resources and Liquidity - Statement of Cash Flows for further information.

At June 30, 2019, GECAS owned 29 of these aircraft, 25 of which are leased to various lessees that remain obligated to make contractual rental payments. In addition, GECAS has made pre-delivery payments to Boeing related to 150 of these aircraft on order and has made financing commitments to acquire a further 19 aircraft under purchase and leaseback contracts with airlines.

As of June 30, 2019, we have approximately \$2.1 billion of net assets related to the 737 MAX program that primarily comprises predelivery payments and owned aircraft subject to lease offset by progress collections. No impairment charges were incurred related to the 737 MAX aircraft and related balances in the first half of 2019 as we continue to believe these assets are fully recoverable. We continue to monitor these developments with our airline customers, lessees and Boeing.

**SEGMENT OPERATIONS.** Segment revenues include sales of products and services by the segment. Industrial segment profit is determined based on internal performance measures used by our Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM), who is our Chief Executive Officer (CEO), to assess the performance of each business in a given period. In connection with that assessment, the CEO may exclude matters, such as charges for restructuring, rationalization and other similar expenses, acquisition costs and other related charges, certain gains and losses from acquisitions or dispositions, and certain litigation settlements. Subsequent to the Baker Hughes transaction on July 3, 2017, restructuring and other charges are included in the determination of segment profit for our Oil & Gas segment. See the Corporate Items and Eliminations section for additional information about costs excluded from segment profit.

Segment profit excludes results reported as discontinued operations and the portion of earnings or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests of consolidated subsidiaries, and as such only includes the portion of earnings or loss attributable to our share of the consolidated earnings or loss of consolidated subsidiaries.

Interest and other financial charges, income taxes and non-operating benefit costs are excluded in determining segment profit for the industrial segments. Interest and other financial charges, income taxes, non-operating benefit costs and GE Capital preferred stock dividends are included in determining segment profit (which we sometimes refer to as "net earnings") for the Capital segment.

Other income is included in segment profit for the industrial segments.

Certain corporate costs, such as those related to shared services, employee benefits, and information technology, are allocated to our segments based on usage. A portion of the remaining corporate costs is allocated based on each segment's relative net cost of operations.

SUMMARY OF REPORTABLE SEGMENTS	Three months ended June 30				Six months ended June 30			
(Dollars in millions)	2019	2018	V%		2019	2018	V%	
Power	\$ 4,681 \$	6,261	(25) %	\$	9,298 \$	12,209	(24) %	
Renewable Energy	3,627	2,883	26 %		6,165	5,722	8 %	
Aviation	7,877	7,519	5 %		15,831	14,631	8 %	
Healthcare	4,934	4,978	(1) %		9,616	9,680	(1) %	
Oil & Gas	5,953	5,554	7 %		11,569	10,939	6 %	
Total industrial segment revenues	27,071	27,195	— %		52,479	53,181	(1) %	
Capital	2,321	2,429	(4) %		4,548	4,602	(1) %	
Total segment revenues	29,392	29,623	(1) %		57,027	57,783	(1) %	
Corporate items and eliminations	(561)	(462)	(21) %		(910)	(833)	(9) %	
Consolidated revenues	\$ 28,831 \$	29,162	(1) %	\$	56,117 \$	56,950	(1) %	
Power	\$ 117 \$	410	(71) %	\$	228 \$	654	(65) %	
Renewable Energy	(184)	85	U		(371)	196	U	
Aviation	1,385	1,475	(6) %		3,046	3,078	(1) %	
Healthcare	958	926	3 %		1,740	1,660	5 %	
Oil & Gas	82	73	12 %		245	(70)	F	
Total industrial segment profit (loss)	2,359	2,969	(21) %		4,887	5,518	(11) %	
Capital	(89)	(207)	57 %		46	(422)	F	
Total segment profit (loss)	2,270	2,762	(18) %		4,933	5,095	(3) %	
Corporate items and eliminations	(956)	(222)	U		(1,165)	(886)	(31) %	
GE goodwill impairments	(744)	_	— %		(744)		— %	
GE interest and other financial charges	(444)	(686)	35 %		(1,032)	(1,326)	22 %	
GE non-operating benefit costs	(554)	(688)	19 %		(1,115)	(1,369)	19 %	
GE benefit (provision) for income taxes	137	(487)	F		(213)	(576)	63 %	
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to GE common shareowners	(291)	679	U		663	940	(29 )%	
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes	231	(63)	F		2,823	(1,504)	F	
Less net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests, discontinued operations		1	(100) %		(2)	4	U	
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax and noncontrolling interest	231	(64)	F		2,825	(1,508)	F	
Consolidated net earnings (loss) attributable to the GE common shareowners	\$ (61) \$	615	U	\$	3,488 \$	(568)	F	

Effective the first quarter of 2019, Corporate items and eliminations includes the results of our Lighting segment for all periods presented.

Oil & Gas segment profit excluding restructuring and other charges\* of \$135 million and \$148 million was \$217 million and \$222 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Oil & Gas segment profit excluding restructuring and other charges\* of \$194 million and \$473 million was \$439 million and \$403 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

#### **POWER**

Effective the first quarter of 2019, we reorganized the businesses within our Power segment into Gas Power and Power Portfolio, and effectively eliminated the Power headquarters structure to allow us to reduce costs and improve operations. In the second quarter of 2019, we completed the reorganization of our Grid Solutions equipment and services business into our Renewable Energy segment and our Grid Solutions software business into Corporate for all periods presented. Gas Power is a unified gas life cycle business combining our Gas Power Systems and Power Services businesses, while Power Portfolio comprises our Steam Power Systems (including services previously reported in Power Services), Power Conversion and GE Hitachi Nuclear businesses. Power Portfolio's 2018 results also include our former Industrial Solutions and Distributed Power businesses which were sold in June 2018 and November 2018, respectively.

The power market as well as its operating environment continue to be challenging. Over the past several quarters, our outlook for Power was driven by the significant overcapacity in the industry, increased price pressure from competition on servicing the installed base, and the uncertain timing of deal closures due to financing and the complexities of working in emerging markets. In addition, our near-term earnings outlook could be impacted by project execution and our own underlying operational challenges. Also, market factors such as increasing energy efficiency and renewable energy penetration continue to impact long-term demand.

We have and will continue to take actions to right size our business for the current market conditions and our long-term outlook, including restructuring our operations to dispose of non-core businesses, resizing our remaining businesses to better align with market demand and driving these businesses with an operational rigor and discipline that is focused on our customers' lifecycle experience. We are building a cost structure to support an average 25 to 30 gigawatt new unit gas turbine market; however, actual orders in a given year can vary. As a result of these actions and overall market conditions, we believe the business is showing early signs of stabilization and expect incremental improvements in 2020 with further acceleration in 2021 and beyond.

We continue to invest in new product development, such as our HA-Turbines, and upgrades which offset our cost reduction initiatives as these are critical to our customers and the long-term strategy of the business.

(In billions)	June	30, 2019	June 30, 2018
Equipment	\$	19.4	\$ 18.6
Services		67.0	68.0
Total backlog	\$	86.4	\$ 86.6

	Three months ende	Three months ended June 30			
(Dollars in billions)	2019	2018	2019	2018	
GE Gas Turbine unit orders	20	10	35	18	
Heavy-Duty Gas Turbine(a) unit orders	16	7	27	11	
HA-Turbine(b) unit orders	7	2	10	2	
Aeroderivative(a) unit orders	4	3	8	7	
GE Gas Turbine Gigawatts orders(c)	4.6	1.5	6.7	2.0	
GE Gas Turbine unit sales	11	12	20	26	
Heavy-Duty Gas Turbine(a) unit sales	4	7	11	19	
HA-Turbine(b) unit sales	<del>_</del>	3	1	4	
Aeroderivative(a) unit sales	7	5	9	7	

- (a) Heavy-Duty Gas Turbines and Aeroderivatives are subsets of GE Gas Turbines.
- (b) HA-Turbines are a subset of Heavy-Duty Gas Turbines.
- (c) Gigawatts reported associated with financial orders in the periods presented.

Equipment	\$ 2.1 \$	2.5 \$	3.1 \$	4.0
Services	2.8	3.8	5.5	6.8
Total orders	\$ 4.9 \$	6.3 \$	8.6 \$	10.7
Gas Power	\$ 3.2 \$	3.5 \$	6.5 \$	7.0
Power Portfolio	1.4	2.8	2.8	5.2
Total sub-segment revenues	\$ 4.7 \$	6.3 \$	9.3 \$	12.2
Equipment	\$ 1.5 \$	2.4 \$	3.0 \$	4.9
Services	3.2	3.8	6.3	7.3
Total segment revenues	\$ 4.7 \$	6.3	9.3 \$	12.2
Segment profit	\$ 0.1 \$	0.4 \$	6 0.2 \$	0.7
Segment profit margin	2.5%	6.5%	2.5%	5.4%

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, segment orders were down \$1.4 billion (22%), segment revenues were down \$1.6 billion (25%) and segment profit was down \$0.3 billion (71%).

Reported orders decrease of \$1.4 billion was driven primarily by the nonrecurrence of \$1.1 billion of orders related to Industrial Solutions and Distributed Power following their sales in June 2018 and November 2018, respectively. Orders increased \$0.1 billion, or 2%, organically mainly due to orders for nine more heavy-duty gas turbines at Gas Power, largely offset by a decrease in Steam orders at Power Portfolio.

Revenues decreased \$0.3 billion, or 5%, organically\*. Equipment revenues decreased due to lower unit sales, including three fewer heavy-duty gas turbines. Services revenues decreased due to lower contractual services revenues driven by lower outages and mix. Profit decreased \$0.2 billion, or 69%, organically\* due to lower unit sales and lower productivity.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, segment orders were down \$2.2 billion (20%), segment revenues were down \$2.9 billion (24%) and segment profit was down \$0.4 billion (65%).

Backlog as of June 30, 2019 decreased \$0.2 billion from June 30, 2018 primarily due to the nonrecurrence of \$3.9 billion of backlog related to Industrial Solutions and Distributed Power following their sales in June 2018 and November 2018, respectively. Offsetting this decrease, backlog increased \$3.8 billion, or 5%, driven by an increase equipment backlog of \$2.1 billion and services backlog of \$1.6 billion.

Reported orders decrease of \$2.2 billion was driven primarily by the nonrecurrence of \$2.3 billion of orders related to Industrial Solutions and Distributed Power following their sales in June 2018 and November 2018, respectively. Orders increased \$0.6 billion, or 7%, organically mainly due to orders for 16 more heavy-duty gas turbines at Gas Power, largely offset by a decrease in Steam orders at Power Portfolio.

Revenues decreased \$0.4 billion, or 4%, organically\*. Equipment revenues decreased due to lower unit sales, including eight fewer heavy-duty gas turbines, and services revenues decreased due to lower contractual services revenues driven by lower outages and mix.

Profit decreased \$0.3 billion, or 61%, organically\* due to lower unit sales, partially offset by lower costs and favorable contractual settlements of \$0.1 billion.

#### RENEWABLE ENERGY

In the second quarter of 2019, we completed the reorganization of our Grid Solutions equipment and services business into our Renewable Energy segment and our Grid Solutions software business into Corporate for all periods presented. We recognized a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of \$0.7 billion related to goodwill at our Grid Solutions equipment and services reporting unit. This charge was recorded within Corporate. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

The onshore wind market in the U.S. continues to see the positive impact from the Production Tax Credit (PTC) cycle and customer preference shifting to larger, more efficient units to drive down costs and compete with other power generation options. Despite the competitive nature of the market, onshore wind order pricing has stabilized in the first half of 2019 due to demand caused by the anticipated expiration of PTCs in the U.S. in 2020 and auction stabilization in international markets. We expect a significant production ramp for 2019 deliveries in onshore wind and are monitoring our operational risk as we execute. The grid market continues to be challenging as we have experienced current year order declines in the High Voltage Direct Current (HVDC) and High Voltage (HV) product lines.

New product introductions continue to be important to our customers who are demonstrating the willingness to invest in new technology that decreases the levelized cost of energy. We are continuing to focus on cost reduction initiatives of our products, in-sourcing blade production and developing larger, more efficient turbines like the Haliade-X and Cypress.

(In billions)	June 30, 2019	June 30, 2018
Equipment	\$ 15.3	\$ 15.3
Services	10.4	7.9
Total backlog	\$ 25.7	\$ 23.3

<sup>\*</sup>Non-GAAP Financial Measure

	Three months ended June			d June 30	S	Six months ended June 30		
(Dollars in billions)		2019		2018		2019		2018
Wind Turbine unit orders		984		320		1,954		1,256
Wind Turbine Megawatts orders(a)		2,670		1,032		5,334		3,380
Repower unit orders		494		287		594		345
Wind Turbine unit sales		804		351		1,157		703
Wind Turbine Megawatts sales(a)		2,257		1,039		3,245		1,915
Repower unit sales		221		227		377		403
(a) Megawatts reported associated with financial orders in the per	iods present	ed.						
Equipment	\$	2.9	\$	2.0	\$	5.9	\$	5.0
Services		0.8		0.7		1.3		1.2
Total orders	\$	3.7	\$	2.7	\$	7.2	\$	6.2
Onshore Wind	\$	2.4	\$	1.3	\$	3.9	\$	2.6
Grid Solutions equipment and services	·	0.9	·	1.2	·	1.9	·	2.4
Hydro and Offshore Wind		0.2		0.3		0.4		0.7
Total sub-segment revenues	\$	3.6	\$	2.9	\$	6.2	\$	5.7
Equipment	\$	2.9	\$	2.2	\$	4.8	\$	4.6
Services		0.8		0.6		1.3		1.2
Total segment revenues	\$	3.6	\$	2.9	\$	6.2	\$	5.7
Segment profit (loss)	\$	(0.2)	\$	0.1	\$	(0.4)	\$	0.2
Segment profit margin	,	(5.1)%	ı	2.9%		(6.0)%		3.4%

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, segment orders were up \$1.0 billion (35%), segment revenues were up \$0.7 billion (26%) and segment profit was down \$0.3 billion.

Orders increased \$1.0 billion, or 38%, organically due to increased demand for North America Onshore Wind equipment resulting from the anticipated expiration of PTCs.

Revenues increased \$0.9 billion, or 33%, organically\*. Equipment revenues increased due to 453 more wind turbine shipments on a unit basis, or 117% more megawatts shipped, than in the prior year, offset by a decrease in Grid Solutions equipment due to lower HVDC and Alternate Current Substation (ACS) project revenues and HV product shipments. Services revenues increased primarily due to an increase in repower units pricing at Onshore Wind from the prior year.

Profit decreased \$0.3 billion organically\* largely due to higher losses in Grid Solutions equipment and services, Hydro and Offshore Wind as we began fully consolidating these entities in the fourth quarter of 2018, as well as project execution challenges including higher losses on legacy contracts. These items were offset by increased profit driven by higher volume in Onshore Wind and cost productivity, offset by the impact of U.S.-China tariffs, price pressure in Grid Solutions equipment and services and Onshore Wind and increased research and development spend for Haliade-X and Cypress.

# For the six months ended June 30, 2019, segment orders were up \$1.0 billion (17%), segment revenues were up \$0.4 billion (8%) and segment profit was down \$0.6 billion.

Backlog as of June 30, 2019 increased \$2.4 billion, or 10%, from June 30, 2018 driven by increased demand at Onshore Wind resulting from the anticipated expiration of PTCs as well as increased repower orders, partially offset by a decrease in Grid Solutions equipment backlog due to lower HVDC orders.

Orders increased \$1.2 billion, or 20%, organically due to increased demand for North America Onshore Wind equipment resulting from the anticipated expiration of PTCs.

Revenues increased \$0.8 billion, or 14%, organically\*. Equipment revenues increased due to 454 more wind turbine shipments on a unit basis, or 69% more megawatts shipped, than in the prior year, partially offset by decreases in Offshore due to the execution of a large project in prior year and Grid Solutions equipment due to lower HVDC and ACS project revenues and HV product shipments. Services revenues increased primarily due to an increase in repower units pricing at Onshore Wind from the prior year.

Profit decreased \$0.6 billion organically\* due to higher losses in Grid Solutions equipment and services, Hydro and Offshore Wind as we began fully consolidating these entities in the fourth quarter of 2018, as well as project execution challenges including higher losses on legacy contracts, partially offset by a \$0.1 billion non-cash gain from the termination of two Offshore Wind contracts. These items were offset by increased profit driven by higher volume in Onshore Wind and cost productivity, offset by the impact of U.S.-China tariffs, price pressure in Grid Solutions equipment and services and Onshore Wind and increased research and development spend for Haliade-X and Cypress.

#### **AVIATION**

Global passenger air travel continued to grow (measured in revenue passenger kilometers (RPK)\*), oil prices remained stable, and traffic growth was broad-based across global regions. We expect this trend to drive continued demand in the installed base of commercial engines and increased focus on newer, more fuel-efficient aircraft. Industry-load factors for airlines remained above 80%\*. Air freight volume decreased, particularly in international markets driven by economic conditions and slowing global trade. As it relates to the military environment, the U.S. Department of Defense has increased its budget and foreign governments have increased spending to upgrade or modernize their existing fleets, creating future opportunities.

We announced record commercial wins at the Paris Air Show, some of which, contributed to backlog growth of 17% from June 30, 2018. We continue to expect future orders as a result of these wins.

Total engineering, comprised of both company and customer funded spending, continues to grow in line with revenue growth. Company funded R&D spend has remained approximately flat as more costs have transitioned to external funding, primarily in our Military business.

Refer to the Aviation and GECAS 737 MAX discussion in Consolidated Results for information regarding the Company's exposure related to the temporary fleet grounding of the Boeing 737 MAX.

(In billions)	June	30, 2019	June 30, 2018
Equipment	\$	38.2	\$ 36.1
Services		205.7	171.9
Total backlog	\$	243.9	\$ 208.1

	Thre	e months ended	Six months ended June 30		
(Dollars in billions)		2019	2018	2019	2018
Commercial Engines unit orders		899	959	1,698	2,134
GEnx Engines(a) unit orders		21	269	51	293
LEAP Engines(a) unit orders		693	440	1,329	1,434
Military Engines unit orders		53	277	79	528
Commercial Engines unit sales		723	697	1,474	1,348
GEnx Engines(a) unit sales		70	57	148	107
LEAP Engines(a) unit sales		437	250	861	436
Military Engines unit sales		143	204	304	342
Spares Rate(b) unit sales	\$	27.0 \$	26.6	\$ 28.5 \$	25.9

(a) GEnx and LEAP engines are subsets of commercial engines

<sup>(</sup>b) Commercial externally shipped spares and spares used in time & material shop visits in millions of dollars per day.

Equipment	\$	3.5 \$	4.5	\$	6.7 \$	7.7
Services	•	5.1	5.0	,	10.6	9.9
Total orders	\$	8.6 \$	9.5	\$	17.3 \$	17.6
Commercial Engines & Services	\$	5.8 \$	5.5	\$	11.8 \$	10.8
Military		1.0	1.1		2.0	2.0
Systems & Other		1.1	0.9		2.0	1.8
Total sub-segment revenues	\$	7.9 \$	7.5	\$	15.8 \$	14.6
Equipment	\$	3.0 \$	2.9	\$	6.1 \$	5.4
Services		4.8	4.6		9.7	9.2
Total segment revenues	\$	7.9 \$	7.5	\$	15.8 \$	14.6
Segment profit	\$	1.4 \$	1.5	\$	3.0 \$	3.1
Segment profit margin		17.6%	19.6%		19.2%	21.0%

<sup>\*</sup> Based on the latest available information from the International Air Transport Association

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, segment orders were down \$1.0 billion (10%), segment revenues were up \$0.4 billion (5%) and segment profit was down \$0.1 billion (6%).

Orders decreased \$0.8 billion, or 9%, organically primarily driven by four large commercial equipment orders received in second quarter 2018 that were not expected to repeat in the current year. Services orders increased attributable to increased materials orders.

Revenues increased \$0.5 billion, or 6%, organically\*. Equipment revenues increased primarily due to 26 more commercial units, including 187 more LEAP units, versus the prior year, partially offset by lower legacy commercial output in the CFM product line and timing of military equipment deliveries. Services revenues also increased primarily due to increased price and a higher commercial spare parts shipment rate.

Profit decreased \$0.1 billion, or 6%, organically\*, mainly due to the continued negative mix from lower shipments on commercial engines, primarily the CFM to LEAP engine transition and Passport engine shipments, partially offset by Services increased volume and increased price. Additionally, we recorded charges in the period related to the uncertainty of collection for a customer in a challenging financial position and additional costs for the GE9X engine certification.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, segment orders were down \$0.4 billion (2%), segment revenues were up \$1.2 billion (8%) and segment profit was down 1%.

Backlog as of June 30, 2019 increased \$35.8 billion, or 17%, from June 30, 2018 primarily due to an increase in long-term service agreements.

Orders decreased \$0.4 billion, or 2%, organically primarily driven by four large commercial equipment orders received in second quarter 2018 that were not expected to repeat in the current year. Services orders increased attributable to increased materials orders.

Revenues increased \$1.3 billion, or 9%, organically\*. Equipment revenues increased primarily due to 126 more commercial units, including 425 more LEAP units, versus the prior year, partially offset by lower legacy commercial output in the CFM product line and the timing of military equipment deliveries. Services revenues also increased primarily due to increased price and a higher commercial spare parts shipment rate.

Profit decreased 1% organically\*, mainly due to the continued negative mix from lower shipments on commercial engines, primarily the CFM to LEAP engine transition and Passport engine shipments, partially offset by Services increased volume and increased price. Additionally, we recorded charges in the period related to the uncertainty of collection for a customer in a challenging financial position and additional costs for the GE9X engine certification.

#### **HEALTHCARE**

The global healthcare market has continued to expand, driven by macro trends relating to growing and aging populations, increasing chronic and lifestyle-related disease, accelerating demand for healthcare in emerging markets, increasing demand for biologic drugs and insulin, and increasing use of diagnostic imaging. Technological innovation that makes it possible to address an increasing number of diseases, conditions and patients in more cost-effective manner has also driven growth across each of our global markets.

The Healthcare Systems market continues to expand at low single-digit rates. Growth in emerging markets is driven by long-term trends of expanding demand and access to healthcare. However, there is short-term variation driven by market-specific political and economic cycles. Developed markets are expected to remain steady in the near term driven by macro trends in the healthcare industry. The Life Sciences market, which encompasses Bioprocess and Pharmaceutical diagnostics, continues to be strong. The Bioprocess market is growing at a high single-digit rate, driven by growth in biologic drugs. The Pharmaceutical diagnostics business is positioned in the contrast agent and nuclear tracer markets. This market is expected to grow at low- to mid-single digit rates, driven by continued diagnostic imaging procedure growth and increasing contrast and tracer-enhancement of these same procedures, as these products help to increase the precision of the diagnostic information provided to clinicians.

We continue focusing on creating new products and solutions as well as expanding uses of existing offerings that are tailored to the different needs of our global customers. We strive to introduce technology innovation that enable our customers to improve their patient and operational outcomes as they diagnose, treat and monitor an increasing number of medical conditions and patients. During the year, we launched a number of new products, including CARESCAPE ONE, our next generation patient monitoring solution, and Revolution Apex, our first Artificial Intelligence-enabled premium CT. In addition, in our first collaboration product with Roche, we released the Navify Tumor Board 2.0, a solution that pools medical imaging and other patient data to give medical teams a more comprehensive view of each patient in a single place before they decide on treatment.

Effective January 1, 2019, the Healthcare Equipment Finance (HEF) financing business within our Capital segment was transferred to our Healthcare segment and is presented within Healthcare Systems.

(In billions)					Jun	e 30, 2019	Jun	e 30, 2018
Equipment					\$	6.7	\$	6.2
Services					•	11.5	·	11.4
Total backlog					\$	18.2	\$	17.6
		ree months	ende	d June 30	Si	x months e	nded	June 30
(Dollars in billions)		2019		2018		2019		2018
Equipment	\$	3.2	\$	3.1	\$	6.1	\$	5.8
Services		2.0		2.2		4.0		4.2
Total orders	\$	5.2	\$	5.3	\$	10.1	\$	10.1
Healthcare Systems	\$	3.6	\$	3.7	\$	7.0	\$	7.3
Life Sciences		1.3		1.2		2.6		2.4
Total sub-segment revenues	\$	4.9	\$	5.0	\$	9.6	\$	9.7
Equipment	\$	2.8	\$	2.8	\$	5.5	\$	5.4
Services	,	2.1	·	2.2	•	4.1	·	4.3
Total segment revenues	\$	4.9	\$	5.0	\$	9.6	\$	9.7
Segment profit	\$	1.0	\$	0.9	\$	1.7	\$	1.7
Segment profit margin	·	19.4%	)	18.6%		18.1%		17.1%

**SEGMENT OPERATIONS** 

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, segment orders were down \$0.1 billion (2%), segment revenues were down 1% and segment profit was up 3%.

Orders increased \$0.1 billion, or 3%, organically primarily attributable to continued strength in Life Sciences.

Revenues increased \$0.2 billion, or 4%, organically\* due to higher volume in Life Sciences, driven by BioPharma and Pharmaceutical Diagnostics, as well as higher volume in Healthcare Systems.

Profit increased \$0.1 billion, or 9%, organically\* primarily driven by volume growth and cost productivity due to cost reduction actions including increased digital automation, sourcing and logistic initiatives, design engineering and prior year restructuring actions. These increases were partially offset by inflation, the impact of U.S.-China tariffs, and investments in programs including digital product innovations and Healthcare Systems new product introductions.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, segment orders were up \$0.1 billion (1%), segment revenues were down \$0.1 billion (1%) and segment profit was up \$0.1 billion (5%).

Backlog as of June 30, 2019 increased \$0.7 billion, or 4%, from June 30, 2018 primarily due to an increase in equipment backlog of \$0.5 billion.

Orders increased \$0.6 billion, or 6%, organically primarily attributable to growth in services orders in both Life Sciences and Healthcare Systems.

Revenues increased \$0.4 billion, or 4%, organically\* due to higher volume in Life Sciences, driven by BioPharma and Pharmaceutical Diagnostics, as well as higher volume in Healthcare Systems.

Profit increased \$0.2 billion, or 11%, organically\* primarily driven by volume growth and cost productivity due to cost reduction actions including increased digital automation, sourcing and logistic initiatives, design engineering and prior year restructuring actions. These increases were partially offset by inflation, the impact of U.S.-China tariffs, and investments in programs including digital product innovations and Healthcare Systems new product introductions.

#### **OIL & GAS**

The oil and gas market is dependent on spending by our customers for oil and natural gas exploration, field development and production. This spending is driven by a number of factors, including our customers' forecasts of future energy supply and demand, their access to resources to develop and produce oil and natural gas, their ability to fund their capital programs, the impact of new government regulations and most importantly, their expectations for oil and natural gas prices as a key driver of their cash flows.

Oil and gas markets remained dynamic in the second quarter of 2019. Commodity prices increased 9% as compared to the first quarter of 2019. However, Brent and WTI oil prices remained 7% and 12%, respectively, lower than the same quarter last year. Within the quarter, Brent oil prices fluctuated from a high of \$74.94 to a low of \$61.66, and WTI oil prices fluctuated from a high of \$66.24 to a low of \$51.13. In addition, rig counts in the quarter were up 3% versus the second quarter of 2018 driven by a 15% increase in the international rig count, partially offset with a 7% decline in the North American rig count. From an offshore and liquefied natural gas (LNG) perspective, in the first half of 2019, major equipment projects were awarded in the Oilfield Equipment and Turbomachinery & Process Solutions markets, in line with expectations. We remain focused on delivering innovative cost-efficient solutions that deliver step changes in operating and economic performance for our customers.

(In billions)					June	e 30, 2019	Jun	e 30, 2018
Equipment					\$	5.6	\$	5.3
Services						15.6		16.0
Total backlog					\$	21.1	\$	21.4
	e months	ended	June 30	Si	x months e	nded	June 30	
(Dollars in billions)		2019		2018		2019		2018
Equipment	\$	2.8	\$	2.5	\$	5.1	\$	4.5
Services		3.7		3.5		7.2		6.8
Total orders	\$	6.5	\$	6.0	\$	12.2	\$	11.3
Turbomachinery & Process Solutions (TPS)	\$	1.4	\$	1.4	\$	2.7	\$	2.8
Oilfield Services (OFS)		3.3		2.9		6.2		5.6
Oilfield Equipment (OFE)		0.7		0.6		1.4		1.3
Digital Solutions		0.6		0.7		1.2		1.3
Total sub-segment revenues	\$	6.0	\$	5.6	\$	11.6	\$	10.9
Equipment	\$	2.4	\$	2.2	\$	4.6	\$	4.4
Services		3.6		3.4		6.9		6.5
Total segment revenues	\$	6.0	\$	5.6	\$	11.6	\$	10.9
Segment profit	\$	0.1	\$	0.1	\$	0.2	\$	(0.1)
Segment profit margin		1.4%		1.3%		2.1%		(0.6)%

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, segment orders were up \$0.5 billion (8%), segment revenues were up \$0.4 billion (7%) and segment profit was up 12%.

Orders increased \$0.7 billion, or 11%, organically primarily driven by an increase in equipment orders resulting from major contract awards in TPS and increased OFS activity.

Revenues increased \$0.6 billion, or 11%, organically\* primarily resulting from higher OFS activity of \$0.4 billion in international and North America markets and higher OFE activity of \$0.1 billion driven by higher volume in subsea production systems and services. Profit increased 5% organically\* primarily driven by volume growth and improved cost productivity, partially offset by a loss related to the expected sale of a non-core business within TPS.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, segment orders were up \$0.9 billion (8%), segment revenues were up \$0.6 billion (6%) and segment profit was up \$0.3 billion.

Backlog as of June 30, 2019 decreased \$0.3 billion, or 1%, from June 30, 2018 primarily due to a decrease in services backlog of \$0.5 billion, partially offset by an increase in equipment backlog of \$0.2 billion.

Orders increased \$1.3 billion, or 11%, organically primarily driven by an increase in equipment orders resulting from major contract awards in TPS and increased OFS activity.

Revenues increased \$1.0 billion, or 9%, organically\* primarily resulting from higher OFS activity of \$0.7 billion in international and North America markets and higher OFE activity of \$0.2 billion driven by higher volume in subsea production systems and services.

Profit increased \$0.1 billion, or 18%, organically\* primarily driven by volume growth and improved cost productivity, partially offset by a loss related to the expected sale of a non-core business within TPS.

#### **CAPITAL**

In 2018, we announced plans to take actions to make GE Capital smaller and more focused, including a substantial reduction in the size of GE Capital's Energy Financial Services (EFS) and Industrial Finance (IF) businesses (GE Capital strategic shift). With respect to this announcement, we completed \$15 billion of asset reductions during 2018 and \$1.6 billion of asset reductions during the first half of 2019, including approximately \$0.5 billion during the second quarter of 2019. Also in the second quarter of 2019, we classified \$3.6 billion of GE Capital Aviation Services (GECAS) financing receivables as held for sale. See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for further information. We expect to execute total asset reductions of approximately \$10 billion by the end of 2019, primarily comprising receivables held by GECAS, Working Capital Solutions (WCS), supply chain finance program and EFS assets. We continue to evaluate strategic options to accelerate the further reduction in the size of GE Capital, some of which could have a material financial charge depending on the timing, negotiated terms and conditions of any ultimate arrangements.

In the second quarter of 2019, GE Capital received a \$1.5 billion capital contribution from GE and expects to receive approximately \$2.5 billion of additional capital contributions from GE by the end of 2019.

GE Capital made capital contributions to its insurance subsidiaries of \$1.9 billion and \$3.5 billion in the first quarters of 2019 and 2018, respectively, and expects to provide further capital contributions of approximately \$9 billion through 2024. See the Capital Resources and Liquidity section for further information.

We annually perform premium deficiency testing across our run-off insurance portfolio and expect this year's testing to be completed in the third quarter of 2019. We have observed a decline in market interest rates this year, which we expect will result in a lower discount rate and, holding all other assumptions constant, an increase in our future policy benefit reserves on a GAAP basis. In addition, it may also result in a lower discount rate under the statutory accounting rules that are relevant for determining the amount of capital to be contributed to our insurance subsidiaries.

As previously disclosed within the GAAP Reserve Sensitivities included in "Other Items" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, a 25 basis point reduction in our discount rate, holding all other assumptions within our 2018 premium deficiency test constant, could increase our future policy benefit reserves on a GAAP basis by up to \$1.0 billion (pre-tax).

Our discount rate is based upon the actual yields on our investment security portfolio and our forecasted reinvestment rate, which comprises the future rates at which we expect to invest proceeds from investment maturities and projected future capital contributions. While the movement in market rates impacts the reinvestment rate, it does not typically impact the actual yield on our existing investments. Furthermore, our assumed reinvestment rate on future fixed income investments is based both on expected long-term average rates and current market interest rates.

For the reasons described above, a decline in market interest rates would not result in an equivalent decline in our discount rate assumption. Since our 2018 premium deficiency test, market interest rates have declined by approximately 75 basis points. This will impact a component of our discount rate only, and holding all other assumptions constant, would have increased our future policy benefit reserves on a GAAP basis by less than \$1.0 billion (pre-tax).

There are many other assumptions that we are in the process of updating as part of our annual premium deficiency test that will be completed in the third quarter of 2019.

Effective January 1, 2019, the HEF business within our Capital segment was transferred to our Healthcare segment.

Refer to the Aviation and GECAS 737 MAX discussion in Consolidated Results for information regarding the Company's exposure related to the temporary fleet grounding of the Boeing 737 MAX.

	Т	hree months ende	ed June 30	Six months ended June 30				
(In billions)		2019	2018		2019	2018		
GECAS	\$	1.2 \$	1.2	\$	2.5 \$	2.4		
EFS		0.1	(0.1)		0.1	(0.1)		
IF and WCS		0.2	0.4		0.5	0.7		
Insurance		0.7	0.7		1.4	1.5		
Other continuing operations		_	0.1		_	0.1		
Total sub-segment revenues	\$	2.3 \$	2.4	\$	4.5 \$	4.6		
GECAS	\$	0.3 \$	0.3	\$	0.6 \$	0.6		
EFS		0.1	_		0.1	_		
IF and WCS		0.1	0.1		0.1	0.2		
Insurance		_	_		_	_		
Other continuing operations(a)		(0.5)	(0.6)		(8.0)	(1.1)		
Total sub-segment profit	\$	(0.1) \$	(0.2)	\$	<b>—</b> \$	(0.4)		

	June 30, 2019	December 31, 2018
GE Capital debt to equity ratio	4.5:1	5.7:1

(a) Other continuing operations is primarily driven by excess interest costs from debt previously allocated to assets that have been sold as part of the GE Capital Exit Plan (our plan announced in 2015 to reduce the size of our financial services businesses), preferred stock dividend costs and interest costs not allocated to GE Capital segments, which are driven by GE Capital's interest allocation process. Interest costs are allocated to GE Capital segments based on the tenor of their assets using the market rate at the time of origination. Debt on the GE Capital balance sheet was issued based on the profile of our balance sheet prior to the decision in 2015 to strategically reduce the size of GE Capital. It included long-dated maturities that are no longer consistent with a much smaller business. As a result, actual interest expense is higher than interest expense allocated to the remaining GE Capital segments. Preferred stock dividend costs will become a GE obligation in January 2021 as the internal preferred stock issued by GE Capital to GE under which GE Capital pays preferred stock dividends to GE to fund GE preferred stock dividends will convert into common equity. See Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements for further information on GE and GE Capital preferred stock. The excess interest costs from debt previously allocated to assets that have been sold are expected to run off by 2020. In addition, we anticipate unallocated interest costs to decline gradually as debt matures and/or is refinanced.

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, Capital revenues decreased \$0.1 billion, or 4%, primarily due to volume declines, partially offset by higher gains and lower impairments.

Capital losses decreased \$0.1 billion, or 57%, primarily due to higher gains, lower impairments, higher tax benefits and lower excess interest costs, partially offset by volume declines. Gains were \$0.2 billion and \$0.1 billion in the second quarters of 2019 and 2018, respectively, which primarily related to sales of GECAS aircraft and engines resulting in gains of \$0.1 billion in both 2019 and 2018 and the sale of an equity method investment resulting in a gain of \$0.1 billion in 2019 at EFS.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, Capital revenues decreased \$0.1 billion, or 1%, primarily due to volume declines, partially offset by higher gains and lower impairments.

Capital losses decreased \$0.5 billion primarily due to higher gains, lower excess interest costs, tax law changes and lower impairments. Gains were \$0.4 billion and \$0.2 billion in the first half of 2019 and 2018, respectively, which primarily related to sales of GECAS aircraft and engines resulting in gains of \$0.2 billion and \$0.1 billion in the first half of 2019 and 2018 and the sale of an equity method investment resulting in a gain of \$0.1 billion in 2019 at EFS.

#### **CORPORATE ITEMS AND ELIMINATIONS**

	Three months ended June 30		Six months ended Ju	ne 30
(In millions)	2019	2018	2019	2018
Revenues				
Eliminations and other	\$ (561) \$	(462)	\$ (910) \$	(833)
Total Corporate Items and Eliminations	\$ (561) \$	(462)	\$ (910) \$	(833)
Operating profit (cost)				
Gains (losses) on disposals and held for sale businesses	\$ (116) \$	329	\$ 250 \$	263
Restructuring and other charges(a)	(328)	(462)	(567)	(800)
Unrealized gains (losses)	(51)	266	(38)	266
Goodwill impairment (Note 8)	(744)	_	(744)	_
Adjusted total corporate costs (operating) (Non-GAAP)	(462)	(356)	(809)	(614)
Total Corporate Items and Eliminations (GAAP)	\$ (1,700) \$	(222)	\$ (1,909) \$	(886)

<sup>(</sup>a) Subsequent to the Baker Hughes transaction, restructuring and other charges are included in the determination of segment profit for our Oil & Gas segment.

Unrealized gains (losses) are related to our retained Wabtec equity investment for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, and to our Pivotal software equity investment for the three months ended June 30, 2018.

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, revenues decreased by \$0.1 billion, primarily as a result of a \$0.3 billion decrease in revenue related to our Lighting business, partially offset by a \$0.1 billion increase in inter-segment eliminations.

Operating costs increased \$1.5 billion, primarily as a result of a goodwill impairment charge of \$0.7 billion related to our Renewable Energy segment in the second quarter of 2019, and \$0.4 billion of higher net losses from disposed or held for sale businesses. These higher net losses primarily relate to the nonrecurrence of a \$0.3 billion gain from the sale of our Industrial Solutions business to ABB in the second quarter of 2018 and a \$0.1 billion realized loss on our Wabtec investment in the second quarter of 2019. Operating costs also increased as a result of \$0.3 billion of higher unrealized losses due to the nonrecurrence of a \$0.3 billion unrealized gain related to our equity investment in Pivotal Software in the second quarter of 2018, and a \$0.1 billion unrealized loss related to our equity investment in Wabtec in the second quarter of 2019. These increases were partially offset by \$0.1 billion of lower restructuring and other charges. In addition, adjusted total corporate costs\* increased \$0.1 billion due to an increase of \$0.1 billion in costs associated with existing environmental, health and safety matters in the second quarter of 2019, and the nonrecurrence of gains associated with the sale of intangible assets of \$0.1 billion in the second quarter of 2018.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, revenues decreased by \$0.1 billion, primarily as a result of a \$0.4 billion decrease in revenue related to our Lighting business partly offset by a \$0.2 billion increase in inter-segment eliminations.

Operating costs increased \$1.0 billion, primarily as a result of a goodwill impairment charge of \$0.7 billion related to our Renewable Energy segment in the second quarter of 2019, higher unrealized losses, primarily due to the nonrecurrence of a \$0.3 billion unrealized gain related to our equity investment in Pivotal Software in the second quarter of 2018. These increases were partially offset by \$0.2 billion of lower restructuring and other charges primarily related to our Power segment. In addition, adjusted total corporate costs\* increased \$0.2 billion due to a \$0.1 billion increase in costs associated with existing environmental, health and safety matters in the second quarter of 2019, and the nonrecurrence of gains associated with the sale of intangible assets of \$0.1 billion in the six months ended June 30, 2018.

Excluding gains (losses) on disposals and held for sale businesses, restructuring and other charges, unrealized gains (losses) and goodwill impairment in the above table, adjusted total corporate costs (operating)\* were \$462 million and \$809 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively, and \$356 million and \$614 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively. We believe that adjusting corporate costs\* to exclude the effects of items that are not closely associated with ongoing corporate operations provides management and investors with a meaningful measure that increases the period-to-period comparability of our ongoing corporate costs.

**RESTRUCTURING.** Restructuring actions are an essential component of our cost improvement efforts to both existing operations and those recently acquired. Restructuring and other charges relate primarily to workforce reductions, facility exit costs associated with the consolidation of sales, service and manufacturing facilities, the integration of acquisitions, and certain other asset write-downs such as those associated with product line exits. We continue to closely monitor the economic environment and expect to undertake further restructuring actions to more closely align our cost structure with earnings and cost reduction goals.

RESTRUCTURING & OTHER CHARGES  Three months ended June 30				Six months ended June 30				
(In billions)	2019		2018	2	2019	2018		
Workforce reductions	\$	0.2 \$	0.2	\$	0.4 \$	0.4		
Plant closures & associated costs and other asset write-downs		0.1	0.3	\$	0.2	0.5		
Acquisition/disposition net charges		0.1	0.2	\$	0.2	0.4		
Total (including Oil & Gas)	\$	0.4 \$	0.7	\$	0.8 \$	1.3		

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, restructuring and other charges were \$0.4 billion of which approximately \$0.1 billion was reported in cost of products/services and \$0.3 billion was reported in selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A). These activities were primarily at Corporate, Power and Oil & Gas. Cash expenditures for restructuring and other charges were approximately \$0.4 billion for the three months ended June 30, 2019. Of the total \$0.4 billion restructuring and other charges, \$0.1 billion was recorded in the Oil & Gas segment, which amounted to \$0.1 billion net of noncontrolling interest.

For the three months ended June 30, 2018, restructuring and other charges were \$0.7 billion of which approximately \$0.2 billion was reported in cost of products/services, \$0.4 billion was reported in SG&A. These activities were primarily at Corporate, Oil & Gas, and Power. Cash expenditures for restructuring and other charges were approximately \$0.4 billion for the three months ended June 30, 2018. Of the total \$0.7 billion restructuring and other charges, \$0.2 billion was recorded in the Oil & Gas segment, which amounted to \$0.1 billion net of noncontrolling interest.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, restructuring and other charges were \$0.8 billion of which approximately \$0.2 billion was reported in cost of products/services and \$0.5 billion was reported in SG&A. These activities were primarily at Corporate, Power and Oil & Gas. Cash expenditures for restructuring and other charges were approximately \$0.8 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2019. Of the total \$0.8 billion restructuring and other charges, \$0.2 billion was recorded in the Oil & Gas segment, which amounted to \$0.1 billion net of noncontrolling interest.

For the six months ended June 30, 2018, restructuring and other charges were \$1.3 billion of which approximately \$0.5 billion was reported in cost of products/services, \$0.7 billion was reported in SG&A. These activities were primarily at Oil & Gas, Corporate and Power. Cash expenditures for restructuring and other charges were approximately \$0.8 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2018. Of the total \$1.3 billion restructuring and other charges, \$0.5 billion was recorded in the Oil & Gas segment, which amounted to \$0.3 billion net of noncontrolling interest.

**COSTS AND GAINS NOT INCLUDED IN SEGMENT RESULTS.** As discussed in the Segment Operations section within the MD&A, certain amounts are not included in industrial segment results because they are excluded from measurement of their operating performance for internal and external purposes. These costs relate primarily to restructuring and acquisition and disposition activities.

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, costs not included in segment results were \$0.9 billion, of which \$0.8 billion was related to the Renewable Energy segment primarily as a result of a goodwill impairment charge of \$0.7 billion and \$0.1 billion was related to the Power segment. There were no gains or losses not included in the segment results for the three months ended June 30, 2019. In addition to the segment results, there was \$0.1 billion of costs and \$0.1 billion of losses related to Corporate.

For the three months ended June 30, 2018, costs not included in segment results were \$0.3 billion, of which \$0.1 billion was related to the Power segment and \$0.1 billion was related to the Renewable Energy segment. Gains not included in segment results were \$0.3 billion, of which \$0.3 billion was related to the Power segment. In addition to the segment results, there was \$0.2 billion of costs and \$0.3 billion of gains related to Corporate.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, costs not included in segment results were \$1.0 billion, of which \$0.8 billion was related to the Renewable Energy segment primarily as a result of a goodwill impairment charge of \$0.7 billion, \$0.1 billion was related to the Power segment and \$0.1 billion was related to the Healthcare segment. There were no gains or losses not included in the segment results for the six months ended June 30, 2019. In addition to the segment results, there was \$0.3 billion of costs and \$0.2 billion of gains related to Corporate.

For the six months ended June 30, 2018, costs not included in segment results were \$0.5 billion, of which \$0.3 billion was related to the Power segment, \$0.1 billion was related to the Renewable Energy segment, and \$0.1 billion was related to the Healthcare segment. Gains not included in segment results were \$0.3 billion, of which \$0.3 billion was related to the Power segment. In addition to segment results, there was \$0.3 billion of costs and \$0.2 billion of gains related to Corporate.

#### OTHER CONSOLIDATED INFORMATION

**INTEREST AND OTHER FINANCIAL CHARGES.** Consolidated interest and other financial charges amounted to \$1.0 billion and \$1.3 billion for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and \$2.1 billion and \$2.6 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

GE interest and other financial charges (which excludes interest on assumed debt) amounted to \$0.4 billion and \$0.7 billion for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively and \$1.0 billion and \$1.3 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The reductions were driven primarily by the reversal of \$0.1 billion of accrued interest on tax liabilities due to the completion of the 2012-2013 Internal Revenue Service (IRS) audit in June 2019, as well as lower expense related to lower sales of GE long-term receivables to GE Capital. The primary components of GE interest and other financial charges are interest on short- and long-term borrowings and financing costs on sales of receivables. Total GE interest and other financial charges of \$0.2 billion and \$0.4 billion was recorded at Corporate and \$0.3 billion and \$0.3 billion was recorded by GE segments for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and \$0.5 billion and \$0.5 billion was recorded by GE segments for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

GE Capital interest and other financial charges (which includes interest on debt assumed by GE) was \$0.6 billion and \$0.8 billion for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and \$1.3 billion and \$1.6 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The decrease in 2019 compared to 2018 was primarily due to lower average borrowings balances due to maturities and lower net interest on assumed debt resulting from an increase in intercompany loans to GE which bear the right of offset (see the Borrowings section of Capital Resources and Liquidity for an explanation of assumed debt and right-of-offset loans), partially offset by an increase in average interest rates due to changes in market rates.

**CONSOLIDATED INCOME TAXES.** Many factors impact our income tax expense and cash tax payments. The most significant factor is that we conduct business in over 180 countries and the majority of our revenue is earned outside the U.S. Our tax liability is also affected by U.S. and foreign tax incentives designed to encourage certain investments, like research and development; and by acquisitions, dispositions and tax law changes. Finally, our tax returns are routinely audited, and settlements of issues raised in these audits sometimes affect our tax rates.

See Other Consolidated Information - Income Taxes section and Critical Accounting Estimates - Income Taxes section within MD&A in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 for further information.

For the three months ended June 30, 2019, the consolidated income tax rate was 54.0% compared to 40.8% for the three months ended June 30, 2018. The positive rate for 2019 reflects a tax benefit on a pre-tax loss.

In June 2019, the IRS completed the audit of our consolidated U.S. income tax returns for 2012-2013, which resulted in a decrease in our balance of unrecognized tax benefits (i.e., the aggregate tax effect of differences between tax return positions and the benefits recognized in our financial statements). The Company recognized a resulting non-cash continuing operations tax benefit of \$0.4 billion plus an additional net interest benefit of \$0.1 billion. Of these amounts, GE recorded \$0.4 billion of tax benefits and \$0.1 billion of net interest benefits, and GE Capital recorded insignificant amounts of tax and net interest benefits. These benefits resulted in an impact to continuing earnings per share of \$0.06. GE Capital also recorded a non-cash benefit in discontinued operations of \$0.3 billion of tax benefits and an insignificant amount of net interest benefits. These benefits resulted in an impact to discontinued earnings per share of \$0.04. See Notes 2 and 14 of the consolidated financial statements for further information.

The consolidated provision (benefit) for income taxes was \$(0.1) billion in the second quarter of 2019 and \$0.5 billion in the second quarter of 2018. The decrease in tax provision was primarily due to the completion of the above-referenced IRS audit of the 2012-2013 consolidated U.S. income tax returns, lower expense from global activities including the nonrecurrence of a 2018 charge associated with a change in deferred taxes resulting from the decision to execute an internal restructuring to separate the Healthcare business, the nonrecurrence of second quarter 2018 dispositions taxed above the statutory rate and the decrease in pre-tax income. This was partially offset by a lower benefit to adjust the year-to-date tax rate to be in-line with the lower projected full-year rate.

The consolidated tax provision (benefit) includes \$(0.1) billion and \$0.5 billion for GE (excluding GE Capital) for the second quarters of 2019 and 2018, respectively.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, the consolidated income tax rate was 7.4% compared to 30.0% for the six months ended June 30, 2018.

The consolidated provision (benefit) for income taxes was \$0.1 billion for the six months of 2019 and \$0.5 billion for the six months of 2018. The decrease in tax provision was primarily due to the completion of the above-referenced IRS audit of the 2012-2013 consolidated U.S. income tax returns, lower expense from global activities including the nonrecurrence of a 2018 charge associated with a change in deferred taxes resulting from the decision to execute an internal restructuring to separate the Healthcare business and the nonrecurrence of 2018 dispositions taxed above the statutory rate. This was partially offset by the lower benefit to adjust the year-to-date tax rate to be in-line with the lower projected full-year rate.

The consolidated tax provision (benefit) includes \$0.2 billion and \$0.6 billion for GE (excluding GE Capital) for the six months of 2019 and 2018, respectively.

**DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS.** Discontinued operations primarily comprise our Transportation segment, residual assets and liabilities related to our exited U.S. mortgage business (WMC), as discussed in Legal Proceedings and Notes 2 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements, our mortgage portfolio in Poland and trailing liabilities associated with the sale of our GE Capital businesses.

In the first quarter of 2019, as a result of the spin-off and subsequent merger of our Transportation business with Wabtec, we recognized a gain of \$3.5 billion (\$2.5 billion after-tax) in discontinued operations. See Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

In June 2019, GE Capital recorded \$0.3 billion of tax benefits and an insignificant amount of net interest benefits due to a decrease in our balance of unrecognized tax benefits. See the Consolidated Income Tax section above.

In January 2019, we announced an agreement in principle with the United States to settle the investigation by the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) regarding potential violations of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA) by WMC and GE Capital, and in April 2019, the parties entered into a definitive settlement agreement. Under the agreement, which concludes this investigation, GE, without admitting liability or wrongdoing, paid the United States a civil penalty of \$1.5 billion.

The mortgage portfolio in Poland comprises floating rate residential mortgages, of which approximately 84% are denominated in Swiss Francs, as opposed to the local currency in Poland, which comprises the remaining 16%. At June 30, 2019, the portfolio had a carrying value of \$2.6 billion with a 1.4% 90-day delinquency rate and an average loan to value ratio of 70%. The portfolio is recorded at fair value less cost to sell and includes a \$0.3 billion impairment, which reflects our best estimate of the effects of potential legislative relief to borrowers and of ongoing litigation in Poland related to foreign currency-denominated mortgages. Future adverse developments in the potential for legislative relief or in litigation involving our subsidiary or other banks with similar portfolios could result in further impairment or other losses related to these loans in future reporting periods.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS	Three months ended June 30				Six months ended June 30			
(In billions)		2019 2018				2019	2018	
Earnings (loss) of discontinued operations, net of taxes	\$	231	\$	(63)	\$	270 \$	(1,507)	
Gain (loss) on disposal, net of taxes		_		_		2,553	3	
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes	\$	231	\$	(63)	\$	2,823 \$	(1,504)	

#### CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

**FINANCIAL POLICY.** We intend to maintain a disciplined financial policy, targeting a sustainable credit rating in the Single-A range with a GE industrial net debt\*/EBITDA ratio of less than 2.5x and a dividend in line with our peers over time, as well as a less than 4-to-1 debt-to-equity ratio for GE Capital. We remain on track to deliver against these leverage goals. GE industrial net debt\* was \$54.4 billion and \$55.3 billion at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

GE realized \$1.8 billion of proceeds in the second quarter of 2019 from the monetization of a portion of our stake in Wabtec, in addition to total proceeds of \$3.3 billion realized in the first quarter of 2019, comprising \$2.8 billion from the completion of the merger of our Transportation business with Wabtec and \$0.4 billion of proceeds from the sale of our Digital ServiceMax business. We also expect to realize future proceeds from the sale of our BioPharma business within our Healthcare segment and the monetization of our remaining stakes in BHGE and Wabtec. At June 30, 2019, GE total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash was \$20.1 billion.

GE Capital generated approximately \$1.6 billion from asset reductions for the six months ended June 30, 2019, as part of our plan to execute total asset reductions of approximately \$10 billion in 2019 to meet our overall \$25 billion target. In addition, in the second quarter of 2019, GE Capital received a \$1.5 billion capital contribution from GE, and expects to receive approximately \$2.5 billion of additional capital contributions from GE by the end of 2019. At June 30, 2019, GE Capital total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash was \$11.9 billion (excluding \$0.6 billion classified within discontinued operations).

We maintain a strong focus on liquidity, and define our liquidity risk tolerance based on sources and uses to maintain a sufficient liquidity position to meet our obligations under both normal and stressed conditions. At both GE and GE Capital, we manage our liquidity to provide access to sufficient funding to meet our business needs and financial obligations throughout business cycles.

Our liquidity plans are established within the context of our financial and strategic planning processes and consider the liquidity necessary to fund our operating commitments, which include purchase obligations for inventory and equipment, payroll and general expenses (including pension funding). We also consider our capital allocation and growth objectives, including funding debt maturities and insurance obligations, investing in research and development, and dividend payments.

Following is an overview of the primary sources of liquidity for GE and GE Capital as well as significant transactions that affect their respective liquidity positions. See the Liquidity Sources section for details of GE and GE Capital liquidity and the Statement of Cash Flows section for information regarding GE and GE Capital cash flow results.

**GE LIQUIDITY.** GE's primary sources of liquidity consist of cash and cash equivalents, free cash flows from our operating businesses, monetization of receivables, proceeds from announced dispositions, and short-term borrowing facilities (described below). Cash generation can be subject to variability based on many factors, including seasonality, receipt of down payments on large equipment orders, timing of billings on long-term contracts, the effects of changes in end markets and our ability to execute dispositions.

As mentioned above, GE has available a variety of short-term borrowing facilities to fund its operations, including a commercial paper program, revolving credit facilities and short-term intercompany loans from GE Capital, which are generally repaid within the same quarter. See the Liquidity Sources section for details of our credit facilities and borrowing activity in our external short-term borrowing facilities.

**GE CAPITAL LIQUIDITY.** GE Capital's primary sources of liquidity consist of cash and cash equivalents, cash generated from asset reductions and cash flows from our businesses. Based on asset and liability management actions we have taken, GE Capital does not plan to issue any incremental GE Capital senior unsecured term debt until 2021. We expect to maintain an adequate liquidity position to fund our insurance obligations and debt maturities primarily as a result of cash generated from asset reductions and dispositions, as well as from repayments of intercompany loans and capital contributions from GE. Additionally, while we maintain adequate liquidity levels, we may engage in liability management actions, such as buying back debt, based on market and economic conditions in order to reduce our interest expense. See the Segment Operations - Capital section for further information regarding allocation of GE Capital interest expense to the GE Capital businesses.

GE Capital provided capital contributions to its insurance subsidiaries of approximately \$1.9 billion and \$3.5 billion in the first quarters of 2019 and 2018, respectively, and expects to provide further capital contributions of approximately \$9 billion through 2024. These contributions are subject to ongoing monitoring by Kansas Insurance Department (KID), and the total amount to be contributed could increase or decrease, or the timing could be accelerated, based upon the results of reserve adequacy testing or a decision by KID to modify the schedule of contributions set forth in January 2018. GE maintains specified capital levels at these insurance subsidiaries under capital maintenance agreements. Going forward, we anticipate funding any capital needs for insurance through a combination of GE Capital asset sales, GE Capital liquidity, GE Capital future earnings and capital contributions from GE.

In January 2019, we announced an agreement in principle with the United States to settle the DOJ investigation regarding potential violations of FIRREA by WMC and GE Capital, and in April 2019, the parties entered into a definitive settlement agreement. Under the agreement, which concludes this investigation, GE, without admitting liability or wrongdoing, paid the United States a civil penalty of \$1.5 billion, on behalf of itself and WMC. GE Capital concurrently paid \$1.5 billion to GE to indemnify GE for this payment pursuant to the terms of an agreement between GE and GE Capital.

**LIQUIDITY SOURCES.** Consolidated cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash totaled \$32.0 billion at June 30, 2019, comprising \$13.1 billion and \$18.8 billion held in the U.S. and outside the U.S., respectively. Cash held in non-US entities has generally been reinvested in active foreign business operations; however, substantially all of our unrepatriated earnings were subject to U.S. federal tax and, if there is a change in reinvestment, we would expect to be able to repatriate that cash (excluding amounts held in countries with currency controls) without additional federal tax cost. Any foreign withholding tax on a repatriation to the U.S. would potentially be partially offset by a U.S. foreign tax credit.

GE cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash totaled \$20.1 billion at June 30, 2019, including \$3.1 billion in BHGE, \$2.7 billion of cash held in countries with currency control restrictions, and \$0.6 billion of restricted use cash. Excluding these items, total GE cash and cash equivalents was \$13.6 billion at June 30, 2019. BHGE cash can only be accessed by GE through the declaration of a dividend by BHGE's Board of Directors, our pro-rata share of BHGE stock buybacks, and settlements of any intercompany positions. Cash held in countries with currency control restrictions represents cash held in countries which may restrict the transfer of funds to the U.S. or limit our ability to transfer funds to the U.S. without incurring substantial costs, but which is available to fund operations and growth in these countries. Restricted use cash represents cash that is not available to fund operations, and primarily comprises collateral for receivables sold and funds restricted in connection with certain ongoing litigation matters.

GE Capital cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash totaled \$11.9 billion at June 30, 2019 (excluding \$0.6 billion classified within discontinued operations), including \$0.9 billion which was subject to regulatory restrictions, primarily in insurance entities.

GE has in place committed credit lines which it may use from time to time to meet its short-term liquidity needs. The following table provides a summary of the committed and available credit lines at June 30, 2019.

GE COMMITTED AND AVAILABLE CREDIT FACILITIES (In billions)	June	30, 2019	December 31, 2018	
Unused back-up revolving credit facility	\$	20.0	\$	20.0
Revolving credit facilities (exceeding one year)		18.9		23.9
Bilateral revolving credit facilities (364-day)		3.1		3.6
Total committed credit facilities	\$	42.0	\$	47.5
Less offset provisions		6.7		6.7
Total net available credit facilities	\$	35.3	\$	40.8

Included in our credit facilities is an unused \$20.0 billion back-up syndicated credit facility extended by 36 banks, expiring in 2021, and an unused \$14.8 billion syndicated credit facility extended by six banks, expiring in 2020. The commitments under these syndicated credit facilities may be reduced by up to \$6.7 billion due to offset provisions for any bank that holds a commitment to lend under both facilities.

In 2019 and 2020, the amount committed and available under the syndicated credit facility expiring in 2020 will periodically be reduced by the greater of specified contractual commitment reductions or calculated commitment reductions, which is determined based on any potential specified issuances of equity and incurrences of incremental debt by GE or its subsidiaries, as well as a portion of industrial business disposition proceeds. In the first quarter of 2019, the amount committed and available under this facility was reduced by the calculated commitment reduction of \$5.0 billion to \$14.8 billion. Remaining contractual commitment reductions are \$7.4 billion in the fourth quarter of 2019, \$2.5 billion in the second quarter of 2020, and \$5.0 billion in the fourth quarter of 2020. On March 12, 2019, GE entered into an amendment to the facility, which provides for a deferral of the timing of the fourth quarter 2019 and second quarter 2020 contractual commitment reductions if the BioPharma transaction does not close prior to those reduction dates. The \$20 billion syndicated back-up revolving credit facility expiring in 2021 does not contain any contractual commitment reduction features.

Under the terms of an agreement between GE Capital and GE, GE Capital has the right to compel GE to borrow under all credit facilities except the syndicated credit facility expiring in 2020, and transfer the proceeds to GE Capital as intercompany loans, which would be subject to the same terms and conditions as those between GE and the lending banks. GE Capital has not exercised this right.

The following table provides a summary of the activity in the primary external sources of short-term liquidity for GE in the second quarter of 2019 and 2018.

(In billions)		mercial Paper	Revolving Credit Facilities			
2019						
Average borrowings during the second quarter	\$	3.0	\$	1.3	\$	4.3
Maximum borrowings outstanding during the second quarter		3.1		1.8		4.8
Ending balance at June 30		3.0		_		3.0
2018						
Average borrowings during the second quarter	\$	13.4	\$	1.6	\$	15.0
Maximum borrowings outstanding during the second quarter		15.8		2.0		17.3
Ending balance at June 30		3.0		_		3.0

Total average and maximum borrowings in the table above are calculated based on the daily outstanding balance of the sum of commercial paper and revolving credit facilities.

The reduction in total GE average and maximum short-term borrowings during the second quarter of 2019 compared to the second quarter of 2018 was primarily driven by holding more cash resulting from disposition proceeds.

In addition to its external liquidity sources, GE may from time to time enter into short-term intercompany loans from GE Capital to utilize GE Capital's excess cash as an efficient source of liquidity. These loans are repaid within the same quarter. No such loans were made in the first six months of 2019.

**BORROWINGS.** Consolidated total borrowings were \$105.8 billion and \$109.9 billion at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. The reduction from 2018 to 2019 was driven primarily by net repayments at GE Capital of \$5.3 billion, including \$4.3 billion of long-term debt maturities, partially offset by an increase of \$1.0 billion in fair value adjustments for debt in fair value hedge relationships.

In 2015, senior unsecured notes and commercial paper were assumed by GE upon its merger with GE Capital. Under the conditions of the 2015 assumed debt agreement, GE Capital agreed to continue making required principal and interest payments on behalf of GE, resulting in the establishment of an intercompany receivable and payable between GE and GE Capital. In addition, GE Capital has periodically made intercompany loans to GE with maturity terms that mirror the assumed debt. As these loans qualify for right-of-offset presentation, they reduce the assumed debt intercompany receivable and payable between GE and GE Capital, as noted in the table below.

The following table provides a reconciliation of total short- and long-term borrowings as reported on the respective GE and GE Capital Statements of Financial Position to borrowings adjusted for assumed debt and intercompany loans:

June 30, 2019 (In billions)	GE	GE Capital	Consolidated(a)
Total short- and long-term borrowings	\$ 66.8 \$	40.0	\$ 105.8
Debt assumed by GE from GE Capital	(35.0)	35.0	_
Intercompany loans with right of offset	13.7	(13.7)	_
Total intercompany payable (receivable) between GE and GE Capital	(21.2)	21.2	
Total borrowings adjusted for assumed debt and intercompany loans	\$ 45.6 \$	61.2	\$ 105.8

(a) Included elimination of other GE borrowings from GE Capital, primarily related to timing of cash settlements associated with GE receivables monetization programs.

When measuring the individual financial positions of GE and GE Capital, assumed debt should be considered a GE Capital debt obligation, and the intercompany loans with the right of offset mentioned above should be considered a GE debt obligation and a reduction of GE Capital's total debt obligations. The following table illustrates the primary components of GE and GE Capital borrowings, adjusted for assumed debt and intercompany loans.

GE (In billions)	Jun	e 30, 2019	De	ecember 31, 2018	GE Capital (In billions)	June 30, 2019	December 31 2018	
Commercial paper	\$	3.0	\$	3.0	Commercial paper	\$ —	\$	_
GE senior notes		20.4		20.4	Senior and subordinated notes	37.3		39.1
Intercompany loans from GE Capital		13.7		13.7	Senior and subordinated notes assumed by GE	35.0		36.3
Other GE borrowings		2.2		2.6	Intercompany loans to GE	(13.7)	)	(13.7)
Total adjusted borrowings ex. BHGE	\$	39.3	\$	39.7	Other GE Capital borrowings	2.7		3.9
Total BHGE borrowings		6.3		6.3				
Total GE adjusted borrowings	\$	45.6	\$	46.0	Total GE Capital adjusted borrowings	\$ 61.2	\$	65.5

Other GE Capital borrowings included \$1.4 billion and \$1.9 billion at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, of non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities where GE Capital has securitized financial assets as an alternative source of funding.

The intercompany loans from GE Capital to GE bear the right of offset against amounts owed by GE Capital to GE under the assumed debt agreement and can be prepaid by GE at any time, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty. These loans are priced at market terms and have a collective weighted average interest rate of 3.5% and term of approximately 10.5 years at June 30, 2019.

**CREDIT RATINGS AND CONDITIONS.** We have relied, and may continue to rely, on the short- and long-term debt capital markets to fund, among other things, a significant portion of our operations. The cost and availability of debt financing is influenced by our credit ratings. Moody's Investors Service (Moody's), Standard and Poor's Global Ratings (S&P), and Fitch Ratings (Fitch) currently issue ratings on GE and GE Capital short- and long-term debt.

The credit ratings of GE and GE Capital as of the date of this filing are set forth in the table below.

	Moody's	S&P	Fitch
GE			
Outlook	Stable	Stable	Negative
Short term	P-2	A-2	F2
Long term	Baa1	BBB+	BBB+
GE Capital			
Outlook	Stable	Stable	Negative
Short term	P-2	A-2	F2
Long term	Baa1	BBB+	BBB+

There were no changes in GE or GE Capital ratings from the end of the first quarter of 2019 through the date of this filing.

We are disclosing our credit ratings and any current quarter updates to these ratings to enhance understanding of our sources of liquidity and the effects of our ratings on our costs of funds. Our ratings may be subject to a revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organization, and each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating. For a description of some of the potential consequences of a reduction in our credit ratings, see the Financial Risks section of Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.

The following table provides a summary of the estimated potential liquidity impact in the event of further downgrades with regards to the most significant credit ratings conditions of the Company based on their proximity to our current ratings.

(In billions)	Triggers Below	At June 30, 2019
Derivatives		
Terminations	BBB/Baa2 \$	(0.3)
Cash margin posting	BBB/Baa2	(0.4)
Receivables Sales Programs		
Loss of cash commingling	A-2/P-2/F2 \$	(0.9)
Alternative funding sources	A-2/P-2/F2	(1.3)

The following sections provide additional details regarding the significant credit rating conditions of the Company.

**DEBT CONDITIONS.** Substantially all of our debt agreements do not contain material credit rating covenants.

If our short-term credit ratings were to fall below A-2/P-2/F2, it is possible that we would lose all or part of our access to the tier-2 commercial paper markets, which would reduce our borrowing capacity in those markets. This may result in increased utilization of our revolving credit facilities to fund our intra-quarter operations.

**DERIVATIVE CONDITIONS.** Swap, forward and option contracts are executed under standard master agreements that typically contain mutual downgrade provisions that provide the ability of the counterparty to require termination if the credit ratings of the applicable GE entity were to fall below specified ratings levels agreed upon with the counterparty, primarily BBB/Baa2. Our master agreements also typically contain provisions that provide termination rights upon the occurrence of certain other events, such as a bankruptcy or events of default by one of the parties. If an agreement was terminated under any of these circumstances, the termination amount payable would be determined on a net basis and could also take into account any collateral posted. The net amount of our derivative liability subject to such termination provisions, after consideration of collateral posted by us and outstanding interest payments was \$0.3 billion at June 30, 2019. This excludes exposure related to embedded derivatives, which are not subject to these provisions.

In addition, certain of our derivatives, primarily interest rate swaps, are subject to additional cash margin posting requirements if our credit ratings were to fall below BBB/Baa2. The amount of additional margin will vary based on, among other factors, market movements and changes in our positions. At June 30, 2019, the amount of additional margin that we could be required to post if we fell below these ratings levels was approximately \$0.4 billion.

See Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for further information about our risk exposures, our use of derivatives, and the effects of this activity on our financial statements.

**OTHER CONDITIONS.** Where we provide servicing for third-party investors, GE is contractually permitted to commingle cash collected from customers on financing receivables sold to third-party investors with our own cash prior to payment to third-party investors, provided our short-term credit rating does not fall below A-2/P-2/F2. In the event any of our ratings were to fall below such levels, we may be required to segregate certain of these cash collections owed to third-party investors into restricted bank accounts and would lose the short-term liquidity benefit of commingling with respect to such collections. The financial impact to our intra-quarter liquidity would vary based on collections activity for a given quarter and may result in increased utilization of our revolving credit facilities. The loss of cash commingling would have resulted in an estimated maximum reduction of approximately \$0.9 billion to GE intra-quarter liquidity during the second quarter of 2019.

In addition, we have relied, and may continue to rely, on securitization programs to provide alternative funding for sales of GE receivables to third-party investors. If any of our short-term credit ratings were to fall below A-2/P-2/F2, the timing or amount of liquidity generated by these programs could be adversely impacted. In the second quarter of 2019, the estimated maximum reduction to our ending liquidity had our credit ratings fallen below these levels was approximately \$1.3 billion.

**FOREIGN CURRENCY.** As a result of our global operations, we generate and incur a significant portion of our revenues and expenses in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Such principal currencies include the euro, the pound sterling, the Brazilian real and the Chinese renminbi, among others. The effects of foreign currency fluctuations on earnings, excluding the earnings impact of the underlying hedged item, was less than \$0.1 billion for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and less than \$0.2 billion for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018. This analysis excludes any offsetting effect from the forecasted future transactions that are economically hedged.

See Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for further information about our risk exposures, our use of derivatives, and the effects of this activity on our financial statements.

**STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS – SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 VERSUS 2018.** We manage the cash flow performance of our industrial and financial services businesses separately. We therefore believe it is useful to report separate GE and GE Capital columns in our Statement of Cash Flows because it enables us and our investors to evaluate the cash from operating activities of our industrial businesses (the principal source of cash generation for our industrial businesses) separately from the cash flows of our financial services business, as well as to evaluate the cash flows between our industrial businesses and GE Capital.

In preparing our Statement of Cash Flows, we make certain adjustments to reflect cash flows that cannot otherwise be calculated by changes in our Statement of Financial Position. These adjustments may include, but are not limited to, the effects of currency exchange, acquisitions and dispositions of businesses, businesses classified as held for sale, the timing of settlements to suppliers for property, plant and equipment, non-cash gains/losses and other balance sheet reclassifications.

All other operating activities reflect cash sources and uses as well as non-cash adjustments to net earnings (loss). See Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding All other operating activities, All other investing activities and All other financing activities.

The following investing and financing activities affected recognized assets or liabilities but did not result in cash receipts or payments in the six months ended June 30, 2019: our retained ownership interest in and tax benefits receivable from Wabtec; additional non-cash deferred purchase price received by GE Capital related to sales of current receivables; and right-of-use assets obtained in operating leases. See Notes 2, 4 and 7, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

**GE CASH FLOWS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS.** The most significant source of cash in GE CFOA is customer-related activities, the largest of which is collecting cash resulting from product or services sales. The most significant operating use of cash is to pay our suppliers, employees, tax authorities and others for a wide range of material, services and taxes.

See the Intercompany Transactions between GE and GE Capital section and Notes 4 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding certain transactions affecting our consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

GE cash used for operating activities was \$0.8 billion (including \$0.4 billion generated from Oil & Gas CFOA) in both 2019 and 2018. The decrease of an insignificant amount in cash used was primarily due to: the nonrecurrence of GE Pension Plan contributions of \$0.9 billion in 2018; a decrease in payments of equipment project cost accruals of \$0.6 billion; and a decrease in cash used for contract & other deferred assets of \$0.1 billion, primarily due to higher billings on our long-term service agreements, partially offset by lower liquidations of deferred inventory. These decreases in cash used were partially offset by: lower net earnings of \$0.6 billion; an increase in cash used for working capital of \$0.5 billion; and an increase in cash used for employee related liabilities of \$0.4 billion. The increase in cash used for working capital was due to an increase in cash used for current receivables of \$1.4 billion, primarily driven by lower sales of receivables and receivables growth resulting from the 737 MAX grounding and higher inventory build of \$0.6 billion, mainly as a result of expected deliveries in the second half of 2019. These increases in cash used for working capital were partially offset by higher progress collections of \$1.3 billion, mainly as a result of net liquidations in 2018, including the impact of the timing of progress collections received in the fourth quarter of 2017, and an increase in cash from accounts payable of \$0.2 billion. The effects of the BHGE Class B shareholder dividends of \$0.2 billion and \$0.3 billion in 2019 and 2018, respectively, are eliminated from GE CFOA.

GE cash from investing activities was \$2.0 billion in 2019 compared with an insignificant amount in 2018. The \$2.0 billion increase was primarily due to: proceeds from the spin-off of our Transportation business of \$4.6 billion (including the secondary offering of Wabtec common stock shares in the second quarter of 2019) and proceeds from other business dispositions (net of cash transferred) of \$1.0 billion in 2019, from the sale of businesses at Aviation, Corporate and Power, compared with \$2.4 billion in 2018, primarily from the sale of our Industrial Solutions business; the nonrecurrence of the purchase of an aviation technology joint venture of \$0.6 billion in 2018; a decrease in net cash paid for settlements of derivative hedges of \$0.5 billion; partially offset by the 2019 capital contribution to GE Capital of \$1.5 billion; business acquisitions of \$0.4 billion, related to the transfer of the HEF business from GE Capital to our Healthcare segment in 2019; and an increase in cash used related to net settlements between our continuing operations (primarily our Corporate functions) and businesses in discontinued operations (primarily our Transportation segment) of \$0.3 billion. Additions to property, plant and equipment and internal-use software were \$1.8 billion in both 2019 and 2018 (including \$0.6 billion and \$0.4 billion at Oil & Gas in 2019 and 2018, respectively).

GE cash used for financing activities was \$1.5 billion in 2019 compared with \$4.0 billion in 2018. The \$2.5 billion decrease in cash used was primarily due to: a decrease in common dividend payments to shareowners of \$1.9 billion; a decrease in BHGE net stock repurchases and dividends to noncontrolling interests of \$0.4 billion; and lower repayments of borrowings of \$0.2 billion.

**GE CAPITAL CASH FLOWS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS.** GE Capital cash from operating activities was \$1.3 billion in 2019 compared with cash used for operating activities of \$0.2 billion in 2018. The increase of \$1.4 billion was primarily due to: a net increase in cash collateral received from counterparties on derivative contracts of \$2.1 billion; partially offset by a general decrease in cash generated from earnings (loss) from continuing operations.

GE Capital cash from investing activities was \$0.9 billion in 2019 compared with \$5.7 billion in 2018. The decrease of \$4.8 billion was primarily due to: lower collections of financing receivables of \$3.4 billion; an increase of net purchases of investment securities of \$2.0 billion; and an increase in cash used related to net settlements between our continuing operations (primarily our Corporate function) and businesses in discontinued operations (primarily WMC) of \$1.6 billion; partially offset by an increase in cash related to our current receivables and supply chain finance programs with GE of \$1.8 billion and the nonrecurrence of intercompany loans from GE Capital to GE of \$0.9 billion in 2018.

GE Capital cash used for financing activities was \$4.7 billion in 2019 compared with \$16.7 billion in 2018. The decrease of \$12.0 billion was primarily due to lower net repayments of borrowings of \$10.5 billion and a capital contribution from GE to GE Capital of \$1.5 billion.

**INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN GE AND GE CAPITAL.** Transactions between related companies are made on arm's length terms and are reported in the GE and GE Capital columns of our financial statements, which we believe provide useful supplemental information to our consolidated financial statements. See Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

Sales of Receivables. In order to manage short-term liquidity and credit exposure, GE sells current and long-term customer receivables to GE Capital and other third parties. These transactions are made on arm's length terms and any discount related to time value of money, is recognized within the respective GE Industrial business in the period these receivables were sold to GE Capital or third parties. See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

**Supply Chain Finance Programs.** GE's industrial businesses participate in a supply chain finance program with GE Capital where GE Capital may settle supplier invoices early in return for early pay discounts. In turn, GE settles invoices with GE Capital in accordance with the original supplier payment terms. The GE liability associated with the funded participation in the program is presented as accounts payable and amounted to \$4.4 billion and \$4.9 billion at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

At June 30, 2019, \$0.9 billion of the GE accounts payable balance is subject to supply chain finance programs with third parties. The terms of these arrangements do not alter our obligation to our suppliers and service providers which arise from our contractual supply agreements with them.

On February 28, 2019, we sold GE Capital's supply chain finance program platform to MUFG Union Bank, N.A. and have started transitioning our existing program to a program with that party. The GE funded participation in the GE Capital program will continue to be settled following the original invoice payment terms with expectation that the majority of the transition will occur by the first half of 2021. GE CFOA could be adversely affected in the short term should certain suppliers not transition to the new third-party program and we elect to take advantage of early pay discounts on trade payables offered by those suppliers. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, there was an insignificant effect on GE CFOA related to the MUFG transition.

**GE Capital Finance Transactions.** During the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, GE Capital acquired 28 aircraft (list price totaling \$3.5 billion) and 17 aircraft (list price totaling \$2.0 billion), respectively, from third parties that will be leased to others, which are powered by engines that were manufactured by GE Aviation and affiliates and made payments related to spare engines and engine parts to GE Aviation and affiliates of \$0.2 billion and \$0.3 billion, respectively. Additionally, GE Capital had \$1.4 billion and \$1.2 billion of net book value of engines, originally manufactured by GE Aviation and affiliates and subsequently leased back to GE Aviation and affiliates at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Also, during the six months ended June 30, 2019, GE recognized equipment revenues of \$0.6 billion from customers within our Power and Renewable Energy segments in which GE Capital is an investee or is committed to be an investee in the underlying projects.

For certain of these investments, in order to meet its underwriting criteria, GE Capital may obtain a direct guarantee from GE related to the performance of the third party. GE guarantees can take many forms and may include, but not be limited to, direct performance or payment guarantees, return on investment guarantees, asset value guarantees and loss pool arrangements. As of June 30, 2019, GE had outstanding guarantees to GE Capital on \$1.3 billion of funded exposure and \$1.4 billion of unfunded commitments, which included guarantees issued by industrial businesses. The recorded contingent liability for these guarantees was insignificant as of June 30, 2019 and is based on individual transaction level defaults, losses and/or returns.

#### **CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES**

Please refer to the Critical Accounting Estimates and Other Items sections within MD&A and Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements of our Annual Report on Form 10-K Report filed on February 26, 2019, for a discussion of our accounting policies and critical accounting estimates.

#### **OTHER ITEMS**

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS. In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2018-12, Financial Services - Insurance (Topic 944): Targeted Improvements to the Accounting for Long-Duration Contracts. The ASU is effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with an election to adopt early. In July 2019, the FASB proposed, subject to comment, to delay the adoption to periods beginning after December 15, 2021. We are evaluating the effect of the standard on our consolidated financial statements and anticipate that its adoption will significantly change the accounting for measurements of our long-duration insurance liabilities. The ASU requires cash flow assumptions used in the measurement of various insurance liabilities to be reviewed at least annually and updated if actual experience or other evidence indicates previous assumptions need to be revised with any required changes recorded in earnings. Under the current accounting guidance, the discount rate is based on expected investment yields, while under the ASU the discount rate will be equivalent to the upper-medium grade (i.e., single A) fixedincome instrument yield reflecting the duration characteristics of the liability and is required to be updated in each reporting period with changes recorded in other comprehensive income. In measuring the insurance liabilities under the new standard, contracts shall not be grouped together from different issue years. These changes result in the elimination of premium deficiency testing and shadow adjustments. While we continue to evaluate the effect of the standard on our ongoing financial reporting, we anticipate that the adoption of the ASU will materially affect our financial statements. As the ASU is only applicable to the measurements of our long-duration insurance liabilities under GAAP, it will not affect the accounting for our insurance reserves or the levels of capital and surplus under statutory accounting practices.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, *Financial Instruments - Credit Losses*. The ASU introduces a new accounting model, the Current Expected Credit Losses model (CECL), which requires earlier recognition of credit losses and additional disclosures related to credit risk. The CECL model utilizes a lifetime expected credit loss measurement objective for the recognition of credit losses for loans and other receivables at the time the financial asset is originated or acquired. The expected credit losses are adjusted each period for changes in expected lifetime credit losses. This model replaces the multiple existing impairment models in current GAAP, which generally require that a loss be incurred before it is recognized. The new standard will also apply to receivables arising from revenue transactions such as contract assets and accounts receivables, as well as reinsurance recoverables at GE Capital's run-off insurance operations and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. We continue to evaluate the effect of the standard on our consolidated financial statements.

**MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.** We have no mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K to report for the current quarter.

**OUR EMPLOYEES AND EMPLOYEE RELATIONS.** On June 3, 2019, GE began labor negotiations with most of its U.S. unions, including the Industrial Division of the Communications Workers of America (IUE-CWA), to replace the current labor agreements that were set to expire on or around June 23, 2019. Although GE reached a tentative agreement with the IUE-CWA for a new four-year national collective bargaining agreement at the conclusion of those negotiations, that agreement and new labor agreements with the non-IUE unions have not yet been ratified. However, GE and the union leaders have temporarily agreed to extend the terms of the current labor agreements, with the exception of those benefits that have specific expiration dates outlined in those agreements. While the outcome of the 2019 negotiations cannot be predicted, GE has a history of successfully negotiating national agreements.

#### **NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES**

We believe that presenting non-GAAP financial measures provides management and investors useful measures to evaluate performance and trends of the total company and its businesses, and increases period-to-period comparability. In addition, management recognizes that certain non-GAAP terms may be interpreted differently by other companies under different circumstances. In various sections of this report we have made reference to the following non-GAAP financial measures in describing our (1) revenues, specifically GE Industrial segment organic profit; Adjusted GE Industrial profit and profit margin (excluding certain items); Adjusted earnings (loss); and Adjusted earnings (loss) per share (EPS), (3) cash flows, specifically GE Industrial Free Cash Flows (FCF) and Adjusted GE Industrial FCF, and (4) debt balances, specifically GE Industrial net debt.

The reasons we use these non-GAAP financial measures and the reconciliations to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measures follow.

#### GE INDUSTRIAL ORGANIC REVENUES, PROFIT (LOSS) AND PROFIT MARGIN BY SEGMENT (NON-GAAP)

GE INDUSTRIAL ORGANIC REVENUES,	•	Revenue			t profit (lo			Profit margin			
Three months ended June 30 (In millions)	2019	2018	V%	2019	2018	V%	2019	2018	V pts		
Power (GAAP)	\$ 4,681	\$ 6,261	(25)%	\$ 117	\$ 410	(71)%	2.5 %	6.5%	(4)pts		
Less: acquisitions	_	_			_						
Less: business dispositions	(4)	1,144			85						
Less: foreign currency effect	(165)	_		17	_						
Power organic (Non-GAAP)	\$ 4,849	\$ 5,117	(5)%	\$ 100	\$ 325	(69)%	2.1 %	6.4%	(4.3)pts		
Renewable Energy (GAAP)	\$ 3,627	\$ 2,883	26 %	\$ (184)	\$ 85	U	(5.1)%	2.9%	(8)pts		
Less: acquisitions	1	_		2	_						
Less: business dispositions	_	_		_	(2)						
Less: foreign currency effect	(197)	_		23	_						
Renewable Energy organic (Non-GAAP)	\$ 3,823	\$ 2,883	33 %	\$ (208)	\$ 87	U	(5.4)%	3.0%	(8.4)pts		
Aviation (GAAP)	\$ 7,877	\$ 7,519	5 %	\$ 1,385	\$ 1,475	(6)%	17.6 %	19.6%	(2)pts		
Less: acquisitions	_	_			_						
Less: business dispositions	_	105			13						
Less: foreign currency effect	(8)			 9							
Aviation organic (Non-GAAP)	\$ 7,885	\$ 7,413	6 %	\$ 1,376	\$ 1,462	(6)%	17.5 %	19.7%	(2.2)pts		
Healthcare (GAAP)	\$ 4,934	\$ 4,978	(1)%	\$ 958	\$ 926	3 %	19.4 %	18.6%	0.8pts		
Less: acquisitions	19	_		(6)	_						
Less: business dispositions	_	108		(10)	30						
Less: foreign currency effect	(136)	_		2	_						
Healthcare organic (Non-GAAP)	\$ 5,051	\$ 4,870	4 %	\$ 972	\$ 895	9 %	19.2 %	18.4%	0.8pts		
Oil & Gas (GAAP)	\$ 5,953	\$ 5,554	7 %	\$ 82	\$ 73	12 %	1.4 %	1.3%	0.1pts		
Less: restructuring & other (GE share)				(135)	(148)						
Adjusted Oil & Gas (Non-GAAP)	5,953	5,554	7 %	217	222	(2)%	3.6 %	4.0%	(0.4)pts		
Less: acquisitions	_	_			_						
Less: business dispositions	4	68			10						
Less: foreign currency effect	(131)			(5)							
Adjusted Oil & Gas organic (Non-GAAP)	\$ 6,080	\$ 5,486	11 %	\$ 223	\$ 212	5 %	3.7 %	3.9%	(0.2)pts		
GE Industrial segment (GAAP)	27,071	27,195	— %	2,359	2,969	(21)%	8.7 %	10.9%	(2)pts		
Less: restructuring & other (GE share)				(135)	(148)						
Adjusted GE Industrial segment (Non-GAAP)	27,071	27,195	— %	2,494	3,117	(20)%	9.2 %	11.5%	(2.3)pts		
Less: acquisitions	20	_		(4)	_						
Less: business dispositions	_	1,426		(10)	136						
Less: foreign currency effect	(637)			46							
GE Industrial segment organic (Non-GAAP)	27,688	25,769	7 %	2,463	2,981	(17)%	8.9 %	11.6%	(3)pts		

We believe that this measure provides management and investors with a more complete understanding of underlying operating results and trends of established, ongoing operations by excluding the effect of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency, as these activities can obscure underlying trends. We also believe that presenting organic revenues\* separately for our industrial businesses provides management and investors with useful information about the trends of our industrial businesses and enables a more direct comparison to other non-financial companies.

GE INDUSTRIAL ORGANIC REVENUES, PROFIT (LOSS) AND PROFIT MARGIN BY SEGMENT (NON-GAAP)

		Revenue		Segn	nen	t profit (lo	ss)	Pr	Profit margin		
Six months ended June 30 (In millions)	2019	2018	V%	2019		2018	V%	2019	2018	V pts	
Power (GAAP)	\$ 9,298	\$12,209	(24)%	\$ 228	\$	654	(65)%	2.5 %	5.4 % (	2.9)pts	
Less: acquisitions	_	_		_		_					
Less: business dispositions	5	2,156		(4)		160					
Less: foreign currency effect	(376)	_		37							
Power organic (Non-GAAP)	\$ 9,668	\$10,053	(4)%	\$ 194	\$	494	(61)%	2.0 %	4.9 % (	2.9)pts	
Renewable Energy (GAAP)	\$ 6,165	\$ 5,722	8 %	\$ (371)	\$	196	U	(6.0)%	3.4 % (	9.4)pts	
Less: acquisitions	2	_		6		_					
Less: business dispositions	_	_				(2)					
Less: foreign currency effect	(369)	_		48		_					
Renewable Energy organic (Non-GAAP)	\$ 6,532	\$ 5,722	14 %	\$ (425)	\$	198	U	(6.5)%	3.5 %	(10)pts	
Aviation (GAAP)	\$15,831	\$14,631	8 %	\$ 3,046	\$	3,078	(1)%	19.2 %	21.0 % (	1.8)pts	
Less: acquisitions	_	_		_		_					
Less: business dispositions	_	105		_		14					
Less: foreign currency effect	(16)	_		19		_					
Aviation organic (Non-GAAP)	\$15,846	\$14,526	9 %	\$ 3,027	\$	3,063	(1)%	19.1 %	21.1 %	(2)pts	
Healthcare (GAAP)	\$ 9,616	\$ 9,680	(1)%	\$ 1,740	\$	1,660	5 %	18.1 %	17.1 %	1pts	
Less: acquisitions	40	_		(10)		_					
Less: business dispositions	_	217		(43)		51					
Less: foreign currency effect	(270)	_		_		_					
Healthcare organic (Non-GAAP)	\$ 9,847	\$ 9,463	4 %	\$ 1,793	\$	1,609	11 %	18.2 %	17.0 %	1.2pts	
Oil & Gas (GAAP)	\$11,569	\$10,939	6 %	\$ 245	\$	(70)	F	2.1 %	(0.6)%	2.7pts	
Less: restructuring & other (GE share)				(194)		(473)					
Adjusted Oil & Gas (Non-GAAP)	11,569	10,939	6 %	439		402	9 %	3.8 %	3.7 %	0.1pts	
Less: acquisitions	_	_		_							
Less: business dispositions	4	112		_		19					
Less: foreign currency effect	(286)	_		(13)		_					
Adjusted Oil & Gas organic (Non-GAAP)	\$11,851	\$10,827	9 %	\$ 452	\$	383	18 %	3.8 %	3.5 %	0.3pts	
GE Industrial segment (GAAP)	52,479	53,181	(1)%	4,887		5,518	(11)%	9.3 %	10.4 % (	1.1)pts	
Less: restructuring & other (GE share)				(194)		(473)					
Adjusted GE Industrial segment (Non-GAAP)	52,479	53,181	(1)%	5,081		5,990	(15)%	9.7 %	11.3 % (	1.6)pts	
Less: acquisitions	41	_		(4)		_					
Less: business dispositions	9	2,590		(46)		242					
Less: foreign currency effect	(1,316)			91							
GE Industrial segment organic (Non-GAAP)	53,745	50,591	6 %	5,040		5,748	(12)%	9.4 %	11.4 % (	2.0)pts	
									•		

We believe that this measure provides management and investors with a more complete understanding of underlying operating results and trends of established, ongoing operations by excluding the effect of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency, as these activities can obscure underlying trends. We also believe that presenting organic revenues\* separately for our industrial businesses provides management and investors with useful information about the trends of our industrial businesses and enables a more direct comparison to other non-financial companies.

ADJUSTED GE INDUSTRIAL PROFIT AND PROFIT MARGIN	Т	hree months	ende	ed June 30	Six months ended June 30					
(EXCLUDING CERTAIN ITEMS) (NON-GAAP) (In millions)		2019	)	2018		2019		2018		
GE Industrial revenues (GAAP)	\$	26,833	\$	27,137	\$	52,242	\$	53,159		
Costs										
GE Industrial costs and expenses (GAAP)	\$	27,194	\$	26,764	\$	52,259	\$	52,379		
Less: GE interest and other financial charges		444		686		1,032		1,326		
Less: non-operating benefit costs		554		688		1,115		1,369		
Less: restructuring & other		382		610		690		1,270		
Less: goodwill impairments		744		_		744		_		
Add: noncontrolling interests		(23)		(134)		36		(100)		
Adjusted GE Industrial costs (Non-GAAP)	\$	25,047	\$	24,646	\$	48,714	\$	48,314		
Other Income										
GE other income (GAAP)	\$	(1)	\$	866	\$	883	\$	1,057		
Less: unrealized gains (losses)		(51)		266		(38)		266		
Less: restructuring & other		_		_		9		(3)		
Less: gains (losses) and impairments for disposed or held for sale businesses		(196)		329		169		263		
Adjusted GE other income (Non-GAAP)	\$	246	\$	270	\$	743	\$	532		
GE Industrial profit (GAAP)	\$	(362)	\$	1,239	\$	866	\$	1,838		
GE Industrial profit margin (GAAP)		(1.3)%	6	4.6%		1.7%		3.5%		
Adjusted GE Industrial profit (Non-GAAP)	\$	2,032	\$	2,762	\$	4,271	\$	5,377		
Adjusted GE Industrial profit margin (Non-GAAP)		7.6 %	6	10.2%		8.2%	6	10.1%		

We believe that GE Industrial profit and profit margins adjusted for the items included in the above reconciliation are meaningful measures because they increase the comparability of period-to-period results.

ADJUSTED GE INDUSTRIAL ORGANIC PROFIT	Three mont	hs ended Ju	une 30	Six months ended June 30				
(NON-GAAP) (In millions)	2019	2018	V%	2019	2018	V%		
Adjusted GE Industrial profit (Non-GAAP)	\$ 2,032 \$	2,762	(26) % \$	4,271 \$	5,377	(21)%		
Adjustments:								
Less: acquisitions	(4)	_		(4)	_			
Less: business dispositions	(10)	134		(55)	220			
Less: foreign currency effect	47	_		98	_			
Adjusted GE Industrial organic profit (Non-GAAP)	\$ 2,000 \$	2,628	(24) % \$	4,232 \$	5,157	(18)%		

We believe that this measure provides management and investors with a more complete understanding of underlying operating results and trends of established, ongoing operations by excluding the effect of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency, as these activities can obscure underlying trends.

ADJUSTED EARNINGS (LOSS) (NON-GAAP)	Three montl	hs ended Jui	ne 30		Six months ended June 30				
(In millions)	2019	2018	V%		2019		2018	V%	
Consolidated earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to GE common shareowners (GAAP)	\$ (291) \$	679	U	\$	663	\$	940	(29)%	
Less: GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to GE common shareowners (GAAP)	(89)	(207)			46	(	422)		
GE Industrial earnings (loss) (Non-GAAP)	(202)	886	U		617	1,	362	(55)%	
Non-operating benefits costs (pre-tax) (GAAP)	(554)	(688)			(1,115)	(1,	369)		
Tax effect on non-operating benefit costs	116	144			234		287		
Less: non-operating benefit costs (net of tax)	(437)	(543)			(881)	(1,	081)		
Gains (losses) and impairments for disposed or held for sale businesses (pre-tax)	(196)	329			169		263		
Tax effect on gains (losses) and impairments for disposed or held for sale businesses(a)	16	(129)			52	(	105)		
Less: gains (losses) and impairments for disposed or held for sale businesses (net of tax)	(179)	200			221		158		
Restructuring & other (pre-tax)	(382)	(610)			(681)	(1,	139)		
Tax effect on restructuring & other(a)	88	(79)			144		55		
Less: restructuring & other (net of tax)	(295)	(689)			(538)	(1,	084)		
Goodwill impairments (pre-tax)	(744)	_			(744)		_		
Tax effect on goodwill impairments(a)	(55)	_			(55)		_		
Less: goodwill impairments (net of tax)	(799)	_			(799)		_		
Unrealized gains (losses)	(51)	266			(38)		266		
Tax on unrealized gains (losses)	11	(56)			8		(56)		
Less: unrealized gains (losses)	(40)	210			(30)		210		
Less: GE Industrial U.S. tax reform enactment adjustment	_	(24)			(101)		(55)		
Adjusted GE Industrial earnings (loss) (Non-GAAP)	\$ 1,549 \$	1,732	(11)%	\$	2,745	\$ 3,	215	(15)%	
GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to GE common shareowners (GAAP)	(89)	(207)	57 %		46	(	422)	F	
Less: GE Capital U.S. tax reform enactment adjustment					99		(45)		
Adjusted GE Capital earnings (loss) (Non-GAAP)	\$ (89) \$	(207)	57 %	\$	(53)	\$ (	377)	86 %	
Adjusted GE Industrial earnings (loss) (Non-GAAP)	\$ 1,549 \$	1,732	(11)%	\$	2,745		215	(15)%	
Add: Adjusted GE Capital earnings (loss) (Non-GAAP)	 (89)	(207)	57 %	_	(53)		377)	/=\-·	
Adjusted earnings (loss) (Non-GAAP)	\$ 1,460 \$	1,525	(4)%	\$	2,692	<b>\$</b> 2,	838	(5)%	

<sup>(</sup>a) The tax effect presented includes both the rate for the relevant item as well as other direct and incremental tax charges.

ADJUSTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (EPS)	Three month	ns ended Jur	ne 30	Six months ended June 30				
(NON-GAAP)	2019	2018	V%	2019	2018	V%		
Consolidated EPS from continuing operations attributable to GE common shareowners (GAAP)	\$ (0.03) \$	0.08	U \$	0.07 \$	0.11	(36)%		
Less: GE Capital EPS from continuing operations attributable to GE common shareowners (GAAP)	(0.01)	(0.02)		0.01	(0.05)			
GE Industrial EPS (Non-GAAP)	\$ (0.02) \$	0.10	U \$	0.07 \$	0.16	(56)%		
Non-operating benefits costs (pre-tax) (GAAP)	(0.06)	(80.0)		(0.13)	(0.16)			
Tax effect on non-operating benefit costs	0.01	0.02		0.03	0.03			
Less: non-operating benefit costs (net of tax)	(0.05)	(0.06)		(0.10)	(0.12)			
Gains (losses) and impairments for disposed or held for sale businesses (pre-tax)	(0.02)	0.04		0.02	0.03			
Tax effect on gains (losses) and impairments for disposed or held for sale businesses(a)	<u> </u>	(0.01)		0.01	(0.01)			
Less: gains (losses) and impairments for disposed or held for sale businesses (net of tax)	(0.02)	0.02		0.03	0.02			
Restructuring & other (pre-tax)	(0.04)	(0.07)		(80.0)	(0.13)			
Tax effect on restructuring & other(a)	0.01	(0.01)		0.02	0.01			
Less: restructuring & other (net of tax)	(0.03)	(80.0)		(0.06)	(0.12)			
Goodwill impairments (pre-tax)	(0.09)	_		(0.09)	_			
Tax effect on goodwill impairments(a)	(0.01)	_		(0.01)	_			
Less: goodwill impairments (net of tax)	(0.09)	_		(0.09)	_			
Unrealized gains (losses)	(0.01)	0.03		_	0.03			
Tax on unrealized gains (losses)	_	(0.01)			(0.01)			
Less: unrealized gains (losses)	_	0.02		_	0.02			
Less: GE Industrial U.S. tax reform enactment adjustment	_	_		(0.01)	(0.01)			
Adjusted GE Industrial EPS (Non-GAAP)	\$ 0.18 \$	0.20	(10)% \$	0.31 \$	0.37	(16)%		
GE Capital EPS from continuing operations attributable to GE common shareowners (GAAP)	(0.01)	(0.02)	50 %	0.01	(0.05)	F		
Less: GE Capital U.S. tax reform enactment adjustment	 			0.01	(0.01)			
Adjusted GE Capital EPS (Non-GAAP)	\$ (0.01) \$	(0.02)	50 % \$	(0.01) \$	(0.04)	75 %		
Adjusted GE Industrial EPS (Non-GAAP)	\$ 0.18 \$	0.20	(10)% \$	0.31 \$	0.37	(16)%		
Add: Adjusted GE Capital EPS (Non-GAAP)	(0.01)	(0.02)	50 %	(0.01)	(0.04)			
Adjusted EPS (Non-GAAP)	\$ 0.17 \$	0.18	(6)% \$	0.31 \$	0.33	(6)%		

(a) The tax effect presented includes both the rate for the relevant item as well as other direct and incremental tax charges. Earnings-per-share amounts are computed independently. As a result, the sum of per-share amounts may not equal the total.

The service cost for our pension and other benefit plans are included in adjusted earnings\*, which represents the ongoing cost of providing pension benefits to our employees. The components of non-operating benefit costs are mainly driven by capital allocation decisions and market performance. We believe that the retained costs in Adjusted earnings and EPS\* provides management and investors a useful measure to evaluate the performance of the total company, and increases period-to-period comparability. We also use Adjusted EPS\* as a performance metric at the company level for our annual executive incentive plan for 2019. We believe that presenting Adjusted Industrial earnings and EPS\* separately for our financial services businesses also provides management and investors with useful information about the relative size of our industrial and financial services businesses in relation to the total company.

GE INDUSTRIAL FREE CASH FLOWS (FCF) AND ADJUSTED GE INDUSTRIAL FCF (NON-GAAP)	Six months ended June 30				
(In millions)		2019	2018		
GE CFOA (GAAP)	\$	(842) \$	(850)		
Add: gross additions to property, plant and equipment		(1,684)	(1,595)		
Add: gross additions to internal-use software		(163)	(169)		
Less: GE Pension Plan funding		_	(921)		
Less: taxes related to business sales		(108)	(17)		
GE Industrial Free Cash Flows (Non-GAAP)	\$	(2,581) \$	(1,675)		
Less: Oil & Gas CFOA		410	433		
Less: Oil & Gas gross additions to property, plant and equipment		(568)	(399)		
Less: Oil & Gas gross additions to internal-use software		(26)	(17)		
Add: BHGE Class B shareholder dividend		188	253		
Adjusted GE Industrial Free Cash Flows (Non-GAAP)	\$	(2,209) \$	(1,440)		

We believe that this measure will better allow management and investors to evaluate the capacity of our industrial operations to generate free cash flows. In addition, we report Adjusted GE Industrial Free Cash Flows\* in order to provide a more fair representation of the cash that we are entitled to utilize in a given period. We also use Adjusted GE Industrial Free Cash Flows\* as a performance metric at the company-wide level for our annual executive incentive plan.

GE INDUSTRIAL NET DEBT (NON-GAAP) (In millions)	June 30, 2019	December 31, 2018
Total GE short- and long-term borrowings (GAAP)	\$ 66,822	\$ 68,543
Less: GE Capital short- and long-term debt assumed by GE	34,972	36,262
Less: BHGE total borrowings	6,292	6,330
Add: intercompany loans from GE Capital	13,749	13,749
Total adjusted GE borrowings	\$ 39,307	\$ 39,700
Total pension and retiree benefit plan liabilities (pre-tax)(a)	27,159	27,159
Less: taxes at 21%	5,703	5,703
Total pension and retiree benefit plan liabilities (net of tax)	\$ 21,456	\$ 21,456
GE operating lease liabilities(b)	4,302	5,550
Less: BHGE operating lease liabilities	831	1,682
Total operating lease liabilities excluding BHGE	\$ 3,470	\$ 3,868
GE preferred stock	5,653	5,573
Less: 50% of GE preferred stock	2,827	2,787
50% of preferred stock	\$ 2,827	\$ 2,787
Deduction for total GE cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	(20,055)	(20,355)
Less: BHGE cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	(3,138)	(3,723)
Deduction for total GE cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, excluding BHGE	\$ (16,917)	\$ (16,632)
Less: 25% of GE cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, excluding BHGE	(4,229)	(4,158)
Deduction for 75% of GE cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, excluding BHGE	\$ (12,688)	\$ (12,474)
Total GE Industrial net debt (Non-GAAP)	\$ 54,372	\$ 55,335

- (a) Represents the total underfunded status of Principal pension plans (\$18,491 million), Other pension plans (\$3,877 million), and Retiree health and life benefit plans (\$4,791 million) at December 31, 2018. The funded status of our benefit plans is updated annually in the fourth quarter.
- (b) Operating lease liabilities at December 31, 2018 were derived using the former rating agency methodology of multiplying annual rental expense by 3. With the January 1, 2019 adoption of ASU No. 2016-02, *Leases*, operating lease liabilities are now presented on the Statement of Financial Position.

In this document we use GE Industrial net debt\*, which is calculated based on rating agency methodologies. There is significant uncertainty around the timing and events that could give rise to items included in the determination of this metric, including the timing of pension funding, proceeds from dispositions, and the impact of interest rates on our pension assets and liabilities. We are including the calculation of GE industrial net debt\* to provide investors more clarity regarding how the credit rating agencies measure GE Industrial leverage.

#### CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the direction of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting and concluded that (i) our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2019, and (ii) no change in internal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2019, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, such internal control over financial reporting.

#### OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

**PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS.** GE did not repurchase any equity securities during the three months ended June 30, 2019, and no repurchase program has been authorized.

#### **RISK FACTORS**

The risk factor set forth below updates the risk factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019. These risk factors could materially affect our business, financial position and results of operations.

Interest rate sensitivities - We have significant pension and run-off insurance liabilities that are sensitive to market interest rates; lower interest rates could adversely affect our earnings and cash flows, as well as the pace of progress toward our leverage goals.

As described in the risk factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, our businesses and financial results are subject to the effects of macroeconomic conditions such as slowing or negative economic growth, recession and lower market interest rates. In particular, our pension and run-off insurance liabilities are sensitive to changes in market interest rates that can impact the discount rates that we will use in our insurance reserve GAAP calculations in the third guarter and in our pension and insurance statutory calculations in the fourth quarter. Holding all other variables constant, the persistence of low interest rates that we have observed in 2019, or continuing declines in interest rates, would increase the present value of our pension and insurance liabilities when we perform those upcoming annual calculations. We continue to expect that we will achieve our leverage goals, but an increase in our pension benefit obligations resulting from significant further declines in interest rates could pose a risk to achieving those goals as planned and, potentially, to our credit ratings, depending on several factors, including the pace and scope of our deleveraging actions and mitigating actions that we may take. Lower interest rates may also affect the amount of cash that we are required to contribute to pension plans under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA), although we continue to expect that our contributions to the GE Pension Plan in 2018 will satisfy our minimum ERISA funding requirements for 2019 and 2020. Although there is not a perfect correlation between market interest rates and the discount rate, declines in our discount rate assumptions for our insurance operations, as described above and in the Capital section within MD&A, would increase future policy benefit reserves on a GAAP basis, as well as under the statutory rules used for calculating the amount of capital to be contributed to our insurance operations. A number of variables and assumptions in addition to discount rates are relevant to the calculation of the present value of our pension and insurance liabilities, including compensation increases, healthcare trend rates and expected return on assets for pension liabilities, and morbidity, mortality and future long-term care premium increases for insurance. Refer also to the discount rate sensitivities included for our pension benefit obligations in "Critical Accounting Estimates" and for our run-off insurance operations in "Other Items" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, as well as to the interest rate sensitivities in "Capital Resources and Liquidity" for a description of interest rate risks related to our debt and to the risk factors regarding "Global macro-environment," "Leverage & borrowings," "Liquidity," "Economy, customers & counterparties," "GE Capital" and "Social costs."

#### LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The following information supplements and amends our discussion set forth under "Legal Proceedings" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019. We also incorporate the information reported under "Legal Proceedings" in Baker Hughes, a GE company's most recent Form 10-K report and updates in its Form 10-Q reports.

WMC. At June 30, 2019, there was one active lawsuit in which our discontinued U.S. mortgage business, WMC, is a party. The lawsuit is pending in the United States District Court for the District of Connecticut. TMI Trust Company (TMI), as successor to Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, is asserting claims on approximately \$800 million of mortgage loans, and alleges losses on these loans in excess of \$425 million. Trial in this case commenced in January 2018. The parties concluded their presentation of evidence and delivered closing arguments in June 2018. Based on a joint application by the parties and subsequent renewals, the District Court has stayed the proceedings in light of ongoing settlement negotiations. In April 2019, the securitization trustee notified the bondholders in SABR 2006-WM2, the securitization trust at issue in the lawsuit, of a proposed settlement of the lawsuit and requested that bondholders express any view on whether the trustee should accept or reject the proposed settlement. The amount of the claim at issue in the TMI case reflects the purchase price or unpaid principal balances of the mortgage loans at issue at the time of purchase and does not give effect to pay downs, accrued interest or fees, or potential recoveries based upon the underlying collateral. As previously reported, WMC commenced a case in April 2019 under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware. WMC intends to file a Chapter 11 plan seeking an efficient and orderly resolution of all claims, demands, rights, and/or liabilities to be asserted by or against WMC as the debtor, including the claim at issue in the TMI case. See Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

Alstom legacy matters. In connection with our acquisition of Alstom's Thermal, Renewables and Grid businesses in November 2015, we are subject to legacy legal proceedings and legal compliance risks that relate to claimed anti-competitive conduct or improper payments by Alstom in the pre-acquisition period. See Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for further information. As previously reported, these include legacy matters related to a September 2013 decision of the Israeli Antitrust Authority whereby Alstom, Siemens AG and ABB Ltd. were held liable for an alleged anti-competitive arrangement in the gas-insulated switchgears market in Israel. While there was no fine in connection with that decision, claimants brought civil actions in 2013 seeking damages of approximately \$950 million and \$600 million, respectively, related to the alleged conduct underlying the decision that are pending before the Central District Court in Israel. The parties have been working to finalize a settlement, which will be subject to court approval and is expected to be scheduled for a hearing in the second half of 2019.

**EC** merger notification objections. In July 2017, the European Commission (EC) issued a statement of objections with its preliminary conclusion that GE provided incorrect or misleading information about its research and development activities regarding high-power offshore wind turbines during the EC's review of GE's planned acquisition of LM Wind. We filed a reply in April 2018 setting forth our position on the EC's statement of objections, and on April 8, 2019, the EC provided notification that it would impose a fine of approximately \$59 million in connection with the matter. GE paid the fine in July 2019, and the matter is now closed.

**Shareholder lawsuits.** Since November 2017, several putative shareholder class actions under the federal securities laws have been filed against GE and certain affiliated individuals and consolidated into a single action currently pending in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York (the Hachem case). In October 2018, the lead plaintiff filed a fourth amended consolidated class action complaint naming as defendants GE and current and former GE executive officers. It alleges violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 related to insurance reserves and accounting for long-term service agreements and seeks damages on behalf of shareowners who acquired GE stock between February 27, 2013 and January 23, 2018. GE has filed a motion to dismiss, and briefing on that motion concluded in October 2018.

Since February 2018, multiple shareholder derivative lawsuits have also been filed against current and former GE executive officers and members of GE's Board of Directors and GE (as nominal defendant). In July 2019, two lawsuits that we have previously reported (the Gammel case and the Trueblood case) were dismissed by the New York state court without leave to replead. Two shareholder derivative lawsuits are currently pending: the Bennett case, which was filed in Massachusetts state court, and the Cuker case, which was filed in New York state court. These lawsuits have alleged violations of securities laws, breaches of fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, waste of corporate assets, abuse of control and gross mismanagement, although the specific matters underlying the allegations in the lawsuits have varied. The allegations in the Bennett case relate to substantially the same facts as those underlying the securities class action described above, and the allegations in the Cuker case relate to alleged corruption in China. The Bennett complaint also includes a claim for professional negligence and accounting malpractice against GE's auditor, KPMG. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages and improvements in GE's corporate governance and internal procedures. The Bennett case has been stayed pending resolution of the motion to dismiss in the Gammel case. In February 2019, GE filed a motion to dismiss the Cuker case.

In June 2018, a lawsuit (the Bezio case) was filed in New York state court derivatively on behalf of participants in GE's 401(k) plan (the GE Retirement Savings Plan (RSP)), and alternatively as a class action on behalf of shareowners who acquired GE stock between February 26, 2013 and January 24, 2018, alleging violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 based on alleged misstatements and omissions related to insurance reserves and performance of GE's business segments in a GE RSP registration statement and documents incorporated therein by reference. In November 2018, the plaintiffs filed an amended derivative complaint naming as defendants GE, former GE executive officers and Fidelity Management Trust Company, as trustee for the GE RSP. In January 2019, GE filed a motion to dismiss.

In July 2018, a putative class action (the Mahar case) was filed in New York state court naming as defendants GE, former GE executive officers, a former member of GE's Board of Directors and KPMG. It alleged violations of Sections 11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 based on alleged misstatements related to insurance reserves and performance of GE's business segments in GE Stock Direct Plan registration statements and documents incorporated therein by reference and seeks damages on behalf of shareowners who acquired GE stock between July 20, 2015 and July 19, 2018 through the GE Stock Direct Plan. In February 2019, this case was dismissed. In March 2019, plaintiffs filed an amended derivative complaint naming the same defendants. In April 2019, GE filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint.

In October 2018, a putative class action (the Houston case) was filed in New York state court naming as defendants GE, certain GE subsidiaries and current and former GE executive officers and employees. It alleges violations of Sections 11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 and seeks damages on behalf of purchasers of senior notes issued in 2016 and rescission of transactions involving those notes. This case has been stayed pending resolution of the motion to dismiss the Hachem case.

In December 2018, a putative class action (the Varga case) was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of New York naming GE and a former GE executive officer as defendants in connection with the oversight of the GE RSP. It alleges that the defendants breached fiduciary duties under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) by failing to advise GE RSP participants that GE Capital insurance subsidiaries were allegedly under-reserved and continued to retain a GE stock fund as an investment option in the GE RSP. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages on behalf of a class of GE RSP participants and beneficiaries from January 1, 2010 through January 19, 2018 or later. In April 2019, GE filed a motion to dismiss.

In February 2019, two putative class actions (the Birnbaum case and the Sheet Metal Workers Local 17 Trust Funds case) were filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York naming as defendants GE and current and former GE executive officers. In April 2019, the court issued an order consolidating these two actions. In June 2019, the lead plaintiff filed an amended consolidated complaint. It alleges violations of Section 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 based on alleged misstatements regarding GE's H-class turbines and goodwill related to GE's Power business. The lawsuit seeks damages on behalf of shareowners who acquired GE stock between December 4, 2017 and December 6, 2018.

In February 2019, a securities action (the Touchstone case) was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York naming as defendants GE and current and former GE executive officers. It alleges violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1707.43 of the Ohio Securities Act and common law fraud based on alleged misstatements regarding insurance reserves, GE Power's revenue recognition practices related to long term service agreements, GE's acquisition of Alstom, and the goodwill recognized in connection with that transaction. The lawsuit seeks damages on behalf of six institutional investors who purchased GE common stock between August 1, 2014 and October 30, 2018 and rescission of those purchases. This case has been stayed pending resolution of the motion to dismiss the Hachem case.

These cases are at an early stage; we believe we have defenses to the claims and are responding accordingly.

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

Stater	ment of Earnings (Loss)	38
Consc	olidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)	42
Consc	olidated Statement of Changes in Shareowners' Equity	43
Stater	ment of Financial Position	44
Stater	ment of Cash Flows	46
Notes	to Consolidated Financial Statements	48
1	Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies	48
2	Businesses Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations	49
3	Investment Securities	51
4	Current and Long-Term Receivables	52
5	Financing Receivables and Allowances	53
6	Inventories	54
7	Property, Plant and Equipment and Operating Leases	54
8	Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets	55
9	Revenues	56
10	Contract and Other Deferred Assets & Progress Collections and Deferred Income	57
11	Borrowings	58
12	Insurance Liabilities and Annuity Benefits	59
13	Postretirement Benefit Plans	60
14	Income Taxes	60
15	Shareowners' Equity	61
16	Earnings Per Share Information	62
17	Financial Instruments	63
18	Variable Interest Entities	66
19	Commitments, Guarantees, Product Warranties and Other Loss Contingencies	66
20	Cash Flows Information	68
21	Intercompany Transactions	69
22	Guarantor Financial Information	70

Certain columns and rows within the financial statements and accompanying notes may not add due to the use of rounded numbers.

STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (LOSS)	Three months ended June 30						
(UNAUDITED)		General Electric Com and consolidated affi	pany				
(In millions; per-share amounts in dollars)		2019	2018				
Sales of goods	\$	17,186 \$	17,405				
Sales of services	•	9,601	9,746				
GE Capital revenues from services		2,043	2,011				
Total revenues (Note 9)		28,831	29,162				
Cost of goods sold		14,338	14,467				
Cost of services sold		7,479	7,282				
Selling, general and administrative expenses		4,184	4,346				
Interest and other financial charges		991	1,291				
Insurance losses and annuity benefits		638	669				
Goodwill impairments		744	_				
Non-operating benefit costs		557	690				
Other costs and expenses		167	66				
Total costs and expenses		29,097	28,812				
Other income		(8)	886				
GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations		<u> </u>	_				
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes		(274)	1,236				
Benefit (provision) for income taxes		148	(504)				
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations		(126)	732				
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (Note 2)		231	(63)				
Net earnings (loss)		104	669				
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests	_	(23)	(132)				
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company		127	800				
Preferred stock dividends		(188)	(185)				
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners	\$	(61) \$	615				
Amounts attributable to GE common shareowners							
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations	\$	(126) \$	732				
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests,							
continuing operations		(23)	(132)				
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to the Company		(103)	864				
Preferred stock dividends		(188)	(185)				
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable		(004)	070				
to GE common shareowners		(291)	679				
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes  Less net earnings (loss) attributable to		231	(63)				
noncontrolling interests, discontinued operations			1				
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners	<b>\$</b>	(61) \$	1 615				
	<u> </u>	(+1) +					
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations (Note 16) Diluted earnings (loss) per share	¢	(0.03) \$	0.08				
Basic earnings (loss) per share	\$ \$	(0.03) \$	0.08				
	Ψ	(υ.υυ) φ	0.00				
Net earnings (loss) per share (Note 16)	•	(0.51) 5	=				
Diluted earnings (loss) per share	\$	(0.01) \$	0.07				
Basic earnings (loss) per share	\$	(0.01) \$	0.07				
Dividends declared per common share	\$	0.01 \$	0.12				

STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (LOSS) (CONTINUED)	Three months ended June 30					
(UNAUDITED)		GE(a)		Fina	ancial Services (GE	E Capital)
(In millions; per-share amounts in dollars)		2019	2018		2019	2018
Sales of goods	\$	17,202 \$	17,364	\$	18 \$	31
Sales of services		9,630	9,773		<u> </u>	_
GE Capital revenues from services		· —	· —		2,303	2,398
Total revenues		26,833	27,137		2,321	2,429
Cost of goods sold		14,358	14,433		14	24
Cost of services sold		6,976	6,769		512	546
Selling, general and administrative expenses		4,113	4,190		211	312
Interest and other financial charges		444	686		646	772
Insurance losses and annuity benefits		<del>-</del>	_		668	694
Goodwill impairments		744			_	_
Non-operating benefit costs		554	688		3	3
Other costs and expenses		6	(1)		178	79
Total costs and expenses		27,194	26,764		2,233	2,432
Other income		(1)	866			
GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations		(89)	(207)		_	_
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes		(452)	1,032		88	(3)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes		137	(487)		11	(17)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations		(315)	545		99	(20)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (Note 2)		231	(63)		238	(66)
Net earnings (loss)		(84)	482		336	(86)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests		(23)	(133)		_	` 2 <sup>'</sup>
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company		(61)	615		336	(88)
Preferred stock dividends			_		(188)	(185)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners	\$	(61) \$	615	\$	148 \$	(273)
Amounts attributable to GE common shareowners:						
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations	\$	(315) \$	545	\$	99 \$	(20)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests,	*	(5.5) +		•	77	()
continuing operations		(23)	(134)		_	2
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to the Company		(291)	679		99	(22)
Preferred stock dividends		_	_		(188)	(185)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable					, ,	· , , ,
to GE common shareowners		(291)	679		(89)	(207)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes		231	(63)		238	(66)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to		-	()			()
noncontrolling interests, discontinued operations		_	1		_	_
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners	\$	(61) \$	615	\$	148 \$	(273)
		\ / T				· · · /

<sup>(</sup>a) Represents the adding together of all affiliated companies except GE Capital, which is presented on a one-line basis. See Note 1.

STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (LOSS)		Six months ended June 30					
(UNAUDITED)		General Electric Com and consolidated affil	pany				
(In millions; per-share amounts in dollars)		2019	2018				
Sales of goods	\$	33,385 \$	34,147				
Sales of services	•	18,745	19,006				
GE Capital revenues from services		3,987	3,797				
Total revenues (Note 9)		56,117	56,950				
Cost of goods sold		27,888	28,223				
Cost of services sold		14,282	14,437				
Selling, general and administrative expenses		8,330	8,434				
Interest and other financial charges		2,123	2,573				
Insurance losses and insurance annuity benefits		1,249	1,299				
Goodwill impairment		744	_				
Non-operating benefit costs		1,123	1,376				
Other costs and expenses		248	186				
Total costs and expenses		55,986	56,527				
Other income		870	1,091				
GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations		<u> </u>					
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes		1,001	1,513				
Benefit (provision) for income taxes		(74)	(454)				
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations		926	1,060				
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (Note 2)		2,823	(1,504)				
Net earnings (loss)		3,749	(444)				
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests		34	(98)				
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company		3,716	(347)				
Preferred stock dividends		(228)	(222)				
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners	\$	3,488 \$	(568)				
Amounts attributable to GE common shareowners							
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations	\$	926 \$	1,060				
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests,			(400)				
continuing operations		36	(102)				
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to the Company		891	1,161				
Preferred stock dividends		(228)	(222)				
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to GE common shareowners		662	940				
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes		663 2,823	(1,504)				
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests,		2,023	(1,504)				
discontinued operations		(2)	4				
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners	\$	3,488 \$	(568)				
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations (Note 16)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	5,100 4	(000)				
Diluted earnings (loss) per share	<b>e</b>	0.07 \$	0.11				
Basic earnings (loss) per share	\$ \$	0.08 \$	0.11				
	Ψ	υ.υυ ψ	0.11				
Net earnings (loss) per share (Note 16)	•	0.40	(0.07)				
Diluted earnings (loss) per share	\$	0.40 \$	(0.07)				
Basic earnings (loss) per share	\$	0.40 \$	(0.07)				
Dividends declared per common share	\$	0.02 \$	0.24				

STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (LOSS)	Six months ended June 30					
(UNAUDITED)		GE(a)		Fin	ancial Services (G	E Capital)
(In millions; per-share amounts in dollars)		2019	2018		2019	2018
Sales of goods	\$	33,467 \$	34,097	\$	34 \$	63
Sales of services		18,776	19,062			_
GE Capital revenues from services		· —	<i>'</i> —		4,514	4,539
Total revenues		52,242	53,159		4,548	4,602
Cost of goods sold		27,983	28,181		27	50
Cost of services sold		13,327	13,434		999	1,072
Selling, general and administrative expenses		8,052	8,072		478	655
Interest and other financial charges		1,032	1,326		1,323	1,592
Insurance losses and insurance annuity benefits		1,002	1,520		1,302	1,339
Goodwill impairment		— 744	_		1,302	1,559
Non-operating benefit costs		1,115	1,369		<u> </u>	7
Other costs and expenses		6	(2)		277	212
·		52,259	52,379		4,413	4,926
Total costs and expenses			·		4,413	4,920
Other income		883	1,057		_	_
GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations		46	(422)		<del>-</del>	
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes		912	1,415		135	(324)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes		(213)	(576)		139	122
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations		699	840		273	(202)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (Note 2)		2,823	(1,504)		273	(1,618)
Net earnings (loss)		3,522	(664)		547	(1,821)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests		33	(96)		_	(2)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company		3,488	(568)		547	(1,819)
Preferred stock dividends		_	_		(228)	(222)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners	\$	3,488 \$	(568)	\$	319 \$	(2,041)
Amounts attributable to GE common shareowners:						
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations	\$	699 \$	840	\$	273 \$	(202)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests,						,
continuing operations		36	(100)		_	(2)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to the		000	0.40		070	
Company		663	940		273	(201)
Preferred stock dividends			_		(228)	(222)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable						
to GE common shareowners		663	940		46	(422)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes		2,823	(1,504)		273	(1,618)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests,						
discontinued operations		(2)	4			
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners	\$	3,488 \$	(568)	\$	319 \$	(2,041)

<sup>(</sup>a) Represents the adding together of all affiliated companies except GE Capital, which is presented on a one-line basis. See Note 1.

# GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)	TI	hree months ende	d June 30	Six months e	nded .	June 30
(In millions, net of tax)		2019	2018	2019		2018
Net earnings (loss)	\$	104 \$	669	\$ 3,749	\$	(444)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests		(23)	(132)	34		(98)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company	\$	127 \$	800	\$ 3,716	\$	(347)
Investment securities	\$	76 \$	24	\$ 99	\$	124
Currency translation adjustments		(141)	(1,669)	283		(838)
Cash flow hedges		(25)	(81)	12		(26)
Benefit plans		639	941	1,183		1,658
Other comprehensive income (loss)		547	(784)	1,577		918
Less: other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests		(85)	(213)	15		(53)
Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company	\$	633 \$	(571)	\$ 1,562	\$	971
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$	651 \$	(115)	\$ 5,326	\$	474
Less: comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests		(109)	(345)	49		(151)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company	\$	760 \$	229	\$ 5,277	\$	625

# GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)	Т	hree months	ende	Six months ended June 30			
(In millions)		2019 2018			2019	2018	
Preferred stock issued	\$	6	\$	6 \$	6	\$	6
Common stock issued	\$	702	\$	702 \$	702	\$	702
Beginning balance		(13,485)		(12,862)	(14,414)		(14,404)
Investment securities		75		25	98		123
Currency translation adjustments		(64)		(1,457)	260		(784)
Cash flow hedges		(23)		(79)	12		(26)
Benefit plans		645		940	1,192		1,659
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ending balance	\$	(12,852)	\$	(13,432) \$	(12,852)	\$	(13,432)
Beginning balance		34,345		37,339	35,504		37,384
Gains (losses) on treasury stock dispositions		(150)		(303)	(657)		(308)
Stock-based compensation		127		117	264		207
Other changes		2		199	(786)		69
Other capital ending balance	\$	34,324	\$	37,352 \$	34,324	\$	37,352
Beginning balance		96,921		115,477	93,109		117,245
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company		127		800	3,716		(347)
Dividends and other transactions with shareowners		(274)		(1,364)	(419)		(2,486)
Changes in accounting (Note 1)		_			368		501
Retained earnings ending balance	\$	96,773	\$	114,913 \$	96,773	\$	114,913
Beginning balance		(83,328)		(84,697)	(83,925)		(84,902)
Purchases		(7)		(58)	(45)		(143)
Dispositions		198		284	834		574
Common stock held in treasury ending balance	\$	(83,137)	\$	(84,471) \$	(83,137)	\$	(84,471)
GE shareowners' equity balance		35,816		55,069	35,816		55,069
Noncontrolling interests balance		20,312		16,685	20,312		16,685
Total equity balance at June 30(a) (Note 15)	\$	56,129	\$	71,754 \$	56,129	\$	71,754

<sup>(</sup>a) Total equity balance decreased by \$(15,625) million in the last twelve months from June 30, 2018 primarily attributable to a non-cash after-tax goodwill impairment charge of \$(22,371) million, partially offset by an increase in non-controlling interest of \$4,214 million due to a reduction in our economic interest in BHGE in 2018. See our 2018 Form 10-K for further information.

^	IT 0E	L POSITION
SIAI HMHN	1 1 ( ) <b>—</b>	

General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION	,		ated affiliates
(In millions, except share amounts)			December 31, 2018
		(Unaudited)	
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	\$	31,968	
Investment securities (Note 3)		39,383	33,835
Current receivables (Note 4)		20,152	19,484
Financing receivables – net (Note 5)		3,436	7,699
Inventories (Note 6)		19,971	18,389
Other GE Capital receivables		6,603	6,674
Property, plant and equipment – net (Note 7)		49,943	49,839
Operating lease assets (Note 7)		3,860	_
Receivable from GE Capital		_	_
Investment in GE Capital		_	_
Goodwill (Note 8)		52,272	58,730
Other intangible assets – net (Note 8)		16,653	17,897
Contract and other deferred assets (Note 10)		19,176	19,231
All other assets		23,401	19,943
Deferred income taxes (Note 14)		11,894	12,129
Assets of businesses held for sale (Note 2)		9,206	1,630
Assets of discontinued operations (Note 2)		4,191	9,257
Total assets	\$	312,109	
Short-term borrowings (Note 11)	\$	15,620	\$ 12,821
Short-term borrowings assumed by GE (Note 11)	Ψ	10,020	Ψ 12,021
Accounts payable, principally trade accounts		17,036	16,722
Progress collections and deferred income (Note 10)		20,901	20,577
Other GE current liabilities		16,720	15,865
Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities (Note 11)		1,423	1,875
Long-term borrowings (Note 11)		88,735	95,234
Long-term borrowings (Note 11)  Long-term borrowings assumed by GE (Note 11)		00,733	90,234
Operating lease liabilities (Note 7)		4,074	_
			25 562
Insurance liabilities and annuity benefits (Note 12)		38,125	35,562
Non-current compensation and benefits		32,653	33,775
All other liabilities		18,832	21,219
Liabilities of businesses held for sale (Note 2)		1,478	708
Liabilities of discontinued operations (Note 2)  Total liabilities		382	3,747
		255,980	258,104
Preferred stock (5,939,875 shares outstanding at both June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018)		6	6
Common stock (8,727,072,000 and 8,702,227,000 shares outstanding		•	·
at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively)		702	702
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) – net attributable to GE		(12,852)	(14,414)
Other capital		34,324	35,504
Retained earnings		96,773	93,109
Less common stock held in treasury		(83,137)	
Total GE shareowners' equity		35,816	30,981
Noncontrolling interests		20,312	20,500
Total equity (Note 15)		56,129	51,481
Total liabilities and equity	\$	312,109	
		, , , -	

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)	GE(a)			Financial Services (GE Capit		
(In millians, except chara emounts)		June 30, December 31,			June 30,	December 31,
(In millions, except share amounts)	/11	2019	2018		(Unavelitad)	2018
Cook and antivolente and restricted and		naudited)	ф 20.2E		(Unaudited)	Ф 44.400
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	\$	20,055			,	
Investment securities (Note 3)		2,055	514		37,403	33,393
Current receivables (Note 4)		16,864	15,103	)		40.000
Financing receivables - net (Note 5)		40.074	40.000	-	8,210	13,628
Inventories (Note 6)		19,971	18,389	)	40.550	45.004
Other GE Capital receivables		_	-	-	13,553	15,361
Property, plant and equipment – net (Note 7)		20,377	21,056	Ó	29,955	29,510
Operating lease assets (Note 7)		4,077	_	-	256	_
Receivable from GE Capital		21,223	22,513		_	_
Investment in GE Capital		13,476	11,412		_	_
Goodwill (Note 8)		51,394	57,826		878	904
Other intangible assets – net (Note 8)		16,434	17,661		219	236
Contract and other deferred assets (Note 10)		19,176	19,231		_	_
All other assets		11,016	10,164		12,842	9,869
Deferred income taxes (Note 14)		9,711	10,189	)	2,178	1,936
Assets of businesses held for sale (Note 2)		8,969	1,525	5	_	_
Assets of discontinued operations (Note 2)		112	4,573	3	4,078	4,610
Total assets	\$	234,911	\$ 230,510	) \$	121,485	\$ 123,939
Short-term borrowings (Note 11)	\$	5,556	\$ 5,192	2 \$	4,085	\$ 4,999
Short-term borrowings assumed by GE (Note 11)		6,962	4,207	7	2,393	2,684
Accounts payable, principally trade accounts		21,159	22,085	5	1,738	1,612
Progress collections and deferred income (Note 10)		21,138	20,833	3	_	
Other GE current liabilities		16,931	15,865		_	_
Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities (Note 11)		_	·	_	1,423	1,875
Long-term borrowings (Note 11)		26,294	27,089	)	34,494	36,154
Long-term borrowings assumed by GE (Note 11)		28,010	32,054		18,830	19,828
Operating lease liabilities (Note 7)		4,302	· <u> </u>	_	244	· <u> </u>
Insurance liabilities and annuity benefits (Note 12)		<i>'</i> —	_	_	38,639	35,994
Non-current compensation and benefits		32,056	32,910	)	588	856
All other liabilities		14,775	16,100		5,295	6,724
Liabilities of businesses held for sale (Note 2)		1,497	748			_
Liabilities of discontinued operations (Note 2)		108	1,947		274	1,800
Total liabilities		178,787	179,030		108,004	112,527
Preferred stock (5,939,875 shares outstanding at both June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018)		6	6	6	6	6
Common stock (8,727,072,000 and 8,702,227,000 shares outstanding at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively)		702	702	2	_	_
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) - net attributable to GE		(12,852)	(14,414	<b>!</b> )	(785)	(783)
Other capital		34,324	35,504	ļ	14,499	12,883
Retained earnings		96,773	93,109	)	(243)	(694)
Less common stock held in treasury		(83,137)	(83,925	5)	_	_
Total GE shareowners' equity		35,816	30,981		13,476	11,412
Noncontrolling interests		20,308	20,499		5	1
Total equity (Note 15)		56,124	51,480		13,481	11,412
Total liabilities and equity	\$	234,911	\$ 230,510	) \$	121,485	\$ 123,939

<sup>(</sup>a) Represents the adding together of all affiliated companies except GE Capital, which is presented on a one-line basis. See Note 1.

Dispositions of property, plant and equipment         2,033         1,771           Additions to internal-use software         (167)         (180)           Net decrease (increase) in financing receivables         377         837           Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations         2,827         29           Proceeds from principal business dispositions         1,058         2,361           Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased         —         —           Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital         —         —           All other investing activities         (968)         3,713           Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations         1,646         5,266           Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations         1,683         171           Cash from (used for) investing activities of 90 days or less)         (434)         (2,051)           Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)         (434)         (2,051)           Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)         1,462         542           Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)         (6,198)         (16,419)           Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital         —         —           Net dispositions (purchases) of G	STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Six months end			ne 30
In millions   S 3,749   C 4,745	(UNAUDITED)			
Net earnings (loss)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
(Earnings) loss from discontinued operations         (2,823)         1,504           Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss)         1         2,840           Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment (Note 7)         2,482         2,840           Amortization of intangible sessets (Note 8)         916         1,149           Goodwill impairments (Note 8)         744         —           (Earnings) loss from continuing operations retained by GE Capital         —         —           (Garings) loss from continuing operations retained by GE Capital         —         —           (Garings) loss from continuing operations retained by GE Capital         —         —           (Frincipal pension plans earnings (Note 13)         1,693         2,094           Principal pension plans earnifolyer contributions         (133)         (1,042)           Other postritiement benefit plans (rety)         (548         (689)           Provision (benefit) for income taxes         74         454           Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes         (74         454           Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes         (893)         393           Decrease (increase) in inventories         (2,568)         (1,515)           Increase (decrease) in GE current receivables         (933) <t< td=""><td></td><td>\$</td><td>3 749 \$</td><td>(444)</td></t<>		\$	3 749 \$	(444)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to cash provided from operating activities         2,640           Depreciation and amontization of property, plant and equipment (Note 7)         2,482         2,640           Amortization of intangible assets (Note 8)         744         —           Goodwill impairments (Note 8)         744         —           (Garning) losses on purchases and sales of business interests         (54)         (300)           Principal pension plans cost (Note 13)         1,693         2,094           Principal pension plans cost (Note 13)         (548)         (669)           Principal pension plans cost (Note 13)         (548)         (669)           Principal pension plans employer contributions         (133)         (1,042)           Other postretirement benefit plans (net)         (548)         (669)           Provision (benefit) for income taxes         (74         454           Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes         (62)         (646)           Decrease (increase) in increated and other deferred assets         (502)         (645)           Decrease (increase) in accounts payable         (92)         229           Increase (decrease) in accounts payable         (92)         229           Increase (decrease) in incerounts payable         (92)         1,79 <t< td=""><td>- · · · · ·</td><td>Ψ</td><td>, ,</td><td>, ,</td></t<>	- · · · · ·	Ψ	, ,	, ,
To cash provided from operating activities   Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment (Note 7)   2,482   2,640   Amortization of intangible assets (Note 8)   916   1,149   Goodwill impairments (Note 8)   744   — ((Carnings) losse from continuing operations retained by GE Capital   —   — (Garnings) losse from continuing operations retained by GE Capital   —   — (Garnings) losses on purchases and sales of business interests   (54)   (300)   Principal pension plans cost (Note 13)   (1,642)			(2,020)	1,504
Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment (Note 7)         2,482         2,640           Amortization of intangible assets (Note 8)         916         1,149           Goodwill impairments (Note 8)         744         —           (Earnings) loss from continuing operations retained by GE Capital         —         —           (Garins) losses on purchases and sales of business interests         (54)         (300)           Principal pension plans cost (Note 13)         1,693         2,094           Principal pension plans cost (Note 13)         (16,92)         2,094           Other postretirement benefit plans (net)         (548)         (669)           Provision (benefit) for income taxes         74         454           Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes         (1,246)         (936)           Decrease (increase) in Ge current receivables         (933)         362           Decrease (increase) in Ge current receivables         (933)         362           Decrease (increase) in Ge current receivables         (933)         362           Increase (decrease) in incorounts payable         (90         279           Increase (decrease) in incorounts payable         (90         279           Increase (decrease) in GE progress collections         415         (1,509)				
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 8)   744   —     Cadmings) loss from continuing operations retained by GE Capital   —   —     Cadmings) loss from continuing operations retained by GE Capital   —     —     Cadmings) loss from continuing operations retained by GE Capital   —     —     —     Cidanis   losses on purchases and sales of business interests   (54) (300)   7     Principal pension plans employer contributions   (133) (1,042)   (1648)   (669)   Provision (benefit) for income taxes   74   454   (669)   Provision (benefit) for income taxes   (1,246) (336)   (302)   (645)   (225			2 482	2 640
Goodwill impairments (Note 8)				,
(Earnings) loss from continuing operations retained by GE Capital         —           (Gains) losses on purchases and sales of business interests         (54)         (300)           Principal pension plans cost (Note 13)         1,693         2,094           Principal pension plans employer contributions         (133)         1,042           Other postretirement benefit plans (net)         (648)         (669)           Provision (benefit) for income taxes         74         454           Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes         (124)         (393)           Decrease (increase) in contract and other deferred assets         (502)         (645)           Decrease (increase) in inventories         (2,258)         (1,515)           Increase (decrease) in CE current receivables         (393)         362           Plant of the post	· , ,			
(Gains) losses on purchases and sales of business interests         (54)         (300)           Principal pension plans cost (Note 13)         1,693         2,094           Principal pension plans cost (Note 13)         (1,042)         (1,042)         (1,042)           Other postretirement benefit plans (net)         (548)         (669)           Provision (benefit) for income taxes         74         454           Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes         (1,246)         (363)           Decrease (increase) in contract and other deferred assets         (502)         (645)           Decrease (increase) in GE current receivables         (333)         362           Decrease (increase) in EE current receivables         (363)         362           Decrease (increase) in GE current receivables         (2,258)         (1,515)           Increase (decrease) in accounts payable         (2,268)         (1,761)         (2,251)           Increase (decrease) in Caccust payable         (302)         (379)         (1,769)         (2,251)           Cash from (used for) operating activities         (317)         (382)         (347)         (2,251)           Cash from (used for) operating activities - continuing operations         (1,749)         (293)         (2,747)         (327)           Additions to proper			- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	_
Principal pension plans employer contributions         (133)         (1,042)           Other postretirement benefit plans (net)         (648)         (669)           Provision (benefit) for income taxes         74         454           Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes         (1246)         (336)           Decrease (increase) in contract and other deferred assets         (502)         (645)           Decrease (increase) in Certain receivables         (333)         362           Decrease (increase) in countral receivables         (333)         362           Increase (decrease) in CE current receivables         (303)         362           Increase (decrease) in CE progress collections         445         (1,059)           All other operating activities – continuing operations         (1,740)         (2,251)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         (1,749)         (2,252)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         (1,749)         (2,253)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         (1,749)         (2,254)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         (1,64)         (3,544)           Additions to internal-use software         (167)         (180)           Ne			(54)	(300)
Principal pension plans employer contributions	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		` '	
Chief postretirement benefit plans (net)   (548)   (669)     Provision (benefit) for income taxes   7.4   4.54     Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes   (1.246)   (936)     Decrease (increases) in contract and other deferred assets   (502)   (645)     Decrease (increases) in Cell current receivables   (933)   362     Decrease (increase) in inventories   (2.258)   (1.515)     Increase (decrease) in GE current receivables   (922)   (2.258)     Increase (decrease) in accounts payable   (2.258)   (1.515)     Increase (decrease) in accounts payable   (1.058)   (1.058)     Increase (decrease) in accounts payable   (1.058)   (1.058)     Increase (decrease) in accounts payable   (1.058)   (1.05				
Provision (benefit) for income taxes				
Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes         (502)         (645)           Decrease (increase) in contract and other deferred assets         (502)         (645)           Decrease (increase) in inventories         (2,258)         (1,515)           Increase (decrease) in inventories         (2,258)         (1,515)           Increase (decrease) in GE progress collections         445         (1,059)           All other operating activities         (740)         (2,251)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – continuing operations         1,770         (382)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – continued operations         (1,749)         (293)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – continued operations         (1,749)         (293)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – continued operations         (1,749)         (293)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         (1,749)         (293)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – continuing operations         (1,749)         (293)           Additions to internal-use software         (167)         (180)           Net decrease (increase) in in financing receivables         377         837           Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations         2,827         29			, ,	, ,
Decrease (increase) in Contract and other deferred assets				
Decrease (increase) in GE current receivables         (2,258)         (1,516)           Decrease (increase) in inventories         (2,258)         (1,516)           Increase (decrease) in accounts payable         902         279           Increase (decrease) in GE progress collections         445         (1,059)           All other operating activities         1,770         (382)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – continuing operations         1,770         (382)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         (1,749)         (293)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         (1,749)         (293)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         (1,749)         (293)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         2,033         1,771           Additions to internal-use software         (167)         (180)           Net decrease (increase) in in financing receivables         377         837           Proceeds from principal business dispositions         1,080         2,827         29           Proceeds from principal business dispositions         1,080         2,827         29           Proceeds from principal business dispositions         1,080         4,526 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>				
Decrease (increase) in inventories         (2,258)         (1,515)           Increase (decrease) in accounts payable         902         279           Increase (decrease) in GE progress collections         445         (1,059)           All other operating activities         (740)         (2,251)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – continuing operations         (1,740)         (382)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         (1,740)         (293)           Cash from (used for) operating activities         20         (675)           Additions to property, plant and equipment         (2,033)         1,771           Additions to internal-use software         (167)         (180)           Net decrease (increase) in financing receivables         377         837           Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations         2,827         29           Proceeds from principal business dispositions         1,058         2,361           Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased         —         —           Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital         —         —           All other investing activities         (368)         3,713           Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations         1,686         5,266				
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable   902   279     Increase (decrease) in GE progress collections   445   (1,059)     All other operating activities   (740)   (2,251)     Cash from (used for) operating activities – continuing operations   1,770   (382)     Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations   (1,749)   (293)     Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations   (1,749)   (293)     Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations   (3,514)   (3,264)     Cash from (used for) operating activities   (3,514)   (3,264)     Dispositions of property, plant and equipment   (3,514)   (3,264)     Dispositions of property, plant and equipment   (167)   (180)     Net decrease (increase) in financing receivables   377   (837)     Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations   (2,827   29)     Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations   (2,827   29)     Proceeds from principal business dispositions   (1,058   2,361)     Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased   -			, ,	
Increase (decrease) in GE progress collections	·			
All other operating activities	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Cash from (used for) operating activities – continuing operations         1,770         (382)           Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         (1,749)         (293)           Cash from (used for) operating activities         20         (675)           Additions to property, plant and equipment         (3,514)         (3,264)           Dispositions of property, plant and equipment         2,033         1,771           Additions to internal-use software         (167)         (180)           Net decrease (increase) in financing receivables         377         837           Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations         2,827         29           Proceeds from principal business dispositions         1,058         2,361           Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased         —         —           Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital         —         —           All other investing activities         Geogle Spatial         —         —           Cash from (used for) investing activities – odiscontinued operations         1,646         5,266           Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations         1,646         5,266           Cash from (used for) investing activities – odiscontinued operations         (4,34)         (2,051)           Newly	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations         (1,749)         (293)           Cash from (used for) operating activities         20         (675)           Additions to property, plant and equipment         (3,514)         (3,264)           Dispositions of property, plant and equipment         (2,033)         1,771           Additions to internal-use software         (167)         (180)           Net decrease (increase) in financing receivables         377         837           Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations         2,827         2.9           Proceeds from principal business dispositions         1,058         2,361           Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased         —         —           Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital         —         —           All other investing activities         discontinued operations         1,646         5,266           Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations         1,646         5,266           Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations         1,646         5,266           Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations         1,462         542           Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities of 90 days or less)         (6,198)         (16,419)      <				
Cash from (used for) operating activities         20         (675)           Additions to property, plant and equipment         (3,514)         (3,264)           Dispositions of property, plant and equipment         2,033         1,771           Additions to internal-use software         (167)         (180)           Net decrease (increase) in financing receivables         377         837           Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations         2,827         29           Proceeds from principal business dispositions         1,058         2,361           Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased         —         —           Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital         —         —           All other investing activities         (968)         3,713           Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations         1,646         5,266           Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations         1,683         171           Cash from (used for) investing activities of 90 days or less)         (4,34)         (2,051)           Newly issued debt (mutrities longer than 90 days)         (6,198)         (16,419)           Newly issued debt (mutrities longer than 90 days)         (6,198)         (16,419)           Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital         —				
Dispositions of property, plant and equipment         2,033         1,771           Additions to internal-use software         (167)         (180)           Net decrease (increase) in financing receivables         377         837           Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations         2,827         29           Proceeds from principal business dispositions         1,058         2,361           Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased         —         —           Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital         —         —           All other investing activities         (968)         3,713           Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations         1,646         5,266           Cash from (used for) investing activities         3,329         5,437           Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)         (4,34)         (2,051)           Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)         1,462         542           Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)         (6,198)         (16,419)           Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital         —         —           Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury         35         (6)           Dividends paid to shareowners         (324)				
Additions to internal-use software         (167)         (180)           Net decrease (increase) in financing receivables         377         837           Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations         2,827         29           Proceeds from principal business dispositions         1,058         2,361           Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased         —         —           Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital         —         —           All other investing activities         (968)         3,713           Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations         1,646         5,266           Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations         1,683         171           Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations         1,683         171           Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations         4,344         (2,051)           Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)         (434)         (2,051)           Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)         (434)         (2,051)           Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)         (6,194)         (2,051)           Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)         (6,194)         (2,051) </td <td>Additions to property, plant and equipment</td> <td></td> <td>(3,514)</td> <td>(3,264)</td>	Additions to property, plant and equipment		(3,514)	(3,264)
Net decrease (increase) in financing receivables         377         837           Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations         2,827         29           Proceeds from principal business dispositions         1,058         2,361           Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased         —         —           Capital contribution from CE to GE Capital         —         —           All other investing activities         (968)         3,713           Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations         1,646         5,266           Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations         1,683         171           Cash from (used for) investing activities of 90 days or less)         (434)         (2,051)           Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)         (444)         (2,051)           Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)         (6,198)         (16,419)           Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital         —         —           Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury         35         (6)           Dividends paid to shareowners         (324)         (2,236)           All other financing activities – continuing operations         (6,294)         (20,911)           Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued op	Dispositions of property, plant and equipment		2,033	1,771
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations2,82729Proceeds from principal business dispositions1,0582,361Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased——Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital——All other investing activities(968)3,713Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations1,6465,266Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations1,683171Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations3,3295,437Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)(434)(2,051)Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)(6,198)(16,419)Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital——Ceptal contribution from GE to GE Capital——Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury35(6)Dividends paid to shareowners(324)(2,236)All other financing activities — continuing operations(6,294)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities — discontinued operations(6,294)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities — discontinued operations(6,294)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash(2,986)(16,436)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3035,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288	Additions to internal-use software		(167)	(180)
Proceeds from principal business dispositions1,0582,361Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased——Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital——All other investing activities(968)3,713Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations1,6465,266Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations1,683171Cash from (used for) investing activities of 90 days or less)(434)(2,051)Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)(434)(2,051)Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)(6,198)(16,419)Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital——Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury35(6)Dividends paid to shareowners(324)(2,236)All other financing activities – continuing operations(6,294)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(6,336)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(6,336)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash(2,986)(16,436)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744	Net decrease (increase) in financing receivables		377	837
Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased — ——————————————————————————————————	Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations		2,827	29
Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital——All other investing activities(968)3,713Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations1,6465,266Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations1,683171Cash from (used for) investing activities3,3295,437Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)(434)(2,051)Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)1,462542Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)(6,198)(16,419)Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital——Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury35(6)Dividends paid to shareowners(324)(2,236)All other financing activities(835)(741)Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations(6,294)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(6,336)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash1(285)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744	Proceeds from principal business dispositions		1,058	2,361
All other investing activities (968) 3,713 Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations 1,646 5,266 Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations 1,683 171 Cash from (used for) investing activities — discontinued operations 1,683 171 Cash from (used for) investing activities — 3,329 5,437  Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less) (434) (2,051) Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days) 1,462 542 Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days) (6,198) (16,419) Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital — — Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury 35 (6) Dividends paid to shareowners (324) (2,236) All other financing activities — continuing operations (835) (741) Cash from (used for) financing activities — continuing operations (6,294) (20,911) Cash from (used for) financing activities — discontinued operations (42) (3) Cash from (used for) financing activities — discontinued operations (6,336) (20,913)  Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (2,986) (16,436) Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 35,548 44,724 Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 30 32,562 28,288 Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30 594 744	Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased		_	_
Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations1,6465,266Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations1,683171Cash from (used for) investing activities3,3295,437Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)(434)(2,051)Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)1,462542Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)(6,198)(16,419)Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital——Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury35(6)Dividends paid to shareowners(324)(2,236)All other financing activities(835)(741)Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations(6,294)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(42)(3)Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(6,336)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash1(285)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744	Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital		_	_
Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations1,683171Cash from (used for) investing activities3,3295,437Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)(434)(2,051)Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)1,462542Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)(6,198)(16,419)Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital——Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury35(6)Dividends paid to shareowners(324)(2,236)All other financing activities(835)(741)Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations(6,294)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(42)(3)Cash from (used for) financing activities(6,336)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash1(285)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744	All other investing activities		(968)	
Cash from (used for) investing activities3,3295,437Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)(434)(2,051)Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)1,462542Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)(6,198)(16,419)Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital——Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury35(6)Dividends paid to shareowners(324)(2,236)All other financing activities(835)(741)Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations(6,294)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(42)(3)Cash from (used for) financing activities(6,336)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash1(285)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash(2,986)(16,436)Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744	Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations		1,646	5,266
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)  Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)  Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)  Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital  Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury  Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury  35 (6)  Dividends paid to shareowners  (324) (2,236)  All other financing activities  (835) (741)  Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations  Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations  (42) (3)  Cash from (used for) financing activities  Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 30  Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30  594  744	Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations		1,683	171
Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)  Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)  Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital  Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury  Dividends paid to shareowners  All other financing activities  Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations  Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations  Cash from (used for) financing activities  Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 30  Ess cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30  522  542  66,198)  (16,419)  (26,198)  (16,419)  (27,236)  (324)  (27,236)  (324)  (27,236)  (324)  (27,236)  (324)  (27,936)  (28,936)  (29,941)  (20,911)  (285)  (2986)  (16,436)  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 30  S2,562  S8,288  Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30	Cash from (used for) investing activities		3,329	5,437
Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)(6,198)(16,419)Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital——Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury35(6)Dividends paid to shareowners(324)(2,236)All other financing activities(835)(741)Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations(6,294)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(42)(3)Cash from (used for) financing activities(6,336)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash1(285)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744	Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)		(434)	(2,051)
Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)(6,198)(16,419)Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital——Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury35(6)Dividends paid to shareowners(324)(2,236)All other financing activities(835)(741)Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations(6,294)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(42)(3)Cash from (used for) financing activities(6,336)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash1(285)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744	Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)		1,462	542
Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury35(6)Dividends paid to shareowners(324)(2,236)All other financing activities(835)(741)Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations(6,294)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(42)(3)Cash from (used for) financing activities(6,336)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash1(285)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash(2,986)(16,436)Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744			(6,198)	(16,419)
Dividends paid to shareowners  All other financing activities  Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations  Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations  Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations  (6,294)  (20,911)  Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations  (6,336)  (20,913)  Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 30  Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30  594  744	Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital		_	_
All other financing activities (835) (741)  Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations (6,294) (20,911)  Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations (42) (3)  Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations (6,336) (20,913)  Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 1 (285)  Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (2,986) (16,436)  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 35,548 44,724  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30 594 744	Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury		35	(6)
Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations(6,294)(20,911)Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(42)(3)Cash from (used for) financing activities(6,336)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash1(285)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash(2,986)(16,436)Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744	Dividends paid to shareowners		(324)	(2,236)
Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations(42)(3)Cash from (used for) financing activities(6,336)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash1(285)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash(2,986)(16,436)Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744	All other financing activities		(835)	(741)
Cash from (used for) financing activities(6,336)(20,913)Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash1(285)Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash(2,986)(16,436)Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744	Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations		(6,294)	(20,911)
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 30  Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30  594  (285)  (16,436)  (2,986)  (16,436)  28,288  28,288	Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations		(42)	(3)
restricted cash 1 (285)  Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (2,986) (16,436)  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 35,548 44,724  Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 30 32,562 28,288  Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30 594 744	Cash from (used for) financing activities		(6,336)	(20,913)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash(2,986)(16,436)Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744			1	(285)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year35,54844,724Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 3032,56228,288Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30594744			(2,986)	(16,436)
Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30 594 744			35,548	44,724
Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30 594 744			32,562	28,288
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of continuing operations at June 30 \$ 31,968 \$ 27,545	Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30		594	744
	Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of continuing operations at June 30	\$	31,968 \$	27,545

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)	Six months ended June 30					
(UNAUDITED)	GE(a) Financial Servic					
(In millions)		2019	2018	_	Capital) 2019	2018
Net earnings (loss)	\$	3,522 \$	(664)	¢	547 \$	
	Ф		, ,	Ф		(1,821)
(Earnings) loss from discontinued operations		(2,823)	1,504		(273)	1,618
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss)						
to cash provided from operating activities		4 470	4 5 4 0		4 000	4 000
Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment (Note 7)		1,478	1,540		1,002	1,086
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 8)		886	1,119		31	30
Goodwill impairments (Note 8)		744			_	_
(Earnings) loss from continuing operations retained by GE Capital(b)		(46)	422		_	_
(Gains) losses on purchases and sales of business interests		(54)	(300)		_	_
Principal pension plans cost (Note 13)		1,693	2,094		_	_
Principal pension plans employer contributions		(133)	(1,042)		_	_
Other postretirement benefit plans (net)		(547)	(658)		(1)	(12)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes		213	576		(139)	(122)
Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes		(1,148)	(854)		(97)	(83)
Decrease (increase) in contract and other deferred assets		(502)	(645)			_
Decrease (increase) in GE current receivables		(1,484)	(64)		_	_
Decrease (increase) in inventories		(2,130)	(1,512)		_	_
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable		414	207		(1)	(85)
Increase (decrease) in GE progress collections		440	(889)		_	_
All other operating activities (Note 20)		(1,364)	(1,684)	_	211	(767)
Cash from (used for) operating activities – continuing operations		(842)	(850)		1,279	(154)
Cash from (used for) operating activities – discontinued operations		(375)	76		(1,702)	(293)
Cash from (used for) operating activities		(1,217)	(773)		(423)	(447)
Additions to property, plant and equipment		(1,684)	(1,595)		(1,984)	(1,732)
Dispositions of property, plant and equipment		392	332		1,645	1,439
Additions to internal-use software		(163)	(169)		(4)	(11)
Net decrease (increase) in financing receivables		_			2,067	5,451
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations		2,827	_		_	29
Proceeds from principal business dispositions		1,017	2,361		417	_
Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased		(417)	_		_	_
Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital		(1,500)	_		_	_
All other investing activities (Note 20)		1,557	(882)		(1,280)	529
Cash from (used for) investing activities – continuing operations		2,029	47		861	5,705
Cash from (used for) investing activities – discontinued operations		246	(56)		1,764	151
Cash from (used for) investing activities		2,275	(9)		2,625	5,856
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)		(1,101)	(1,173)		(656)	(1,593)
Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)		409	1,058		1,053	394
Repayments and other debt reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)		(358)	(1,085)		(5,840)	(15,394)
Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital		_			1,500	_
Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury		35	(6)			_
Dividends paid to shareowners		(175)	(2,089)		(225)	(147)
All other financing activities (Note 20)		(287)	(732)		(561)	(9)
Cash from (used for) financing activities – continuing operations		(1,477)	(4,026)		(4,728)	(16,749)
Cash from (used for) financing activities – discontinued operations		(41)	(3)		(1)	(40.740)
Cash from (used for) financing activities  Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and		(1,518)	(4,028)		(4,729)	(16,749)
restricted cash		(8)	(206)		9	(79)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash		(468)	(5,017)		(2,518)	(11,419)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year		20,528	18,822		15,020	25,902
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 30		20,060	13,805		12,502	14,483
Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30		5	129		590	615
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of continuing operations at June 30	\$	20,055 \$	13,676	\$	11,913 \$	13,868

<sup>(</sup>a) Represents the adding together of all affiliated companies except GE Capital, which is presented on a one-line basis. See Note 1. (b) Represents GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to the Company.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying consolidated financial statements represent the consolidation of General Electric Company (the Company) and all companies that we directly or indirectly control, either through majority ownership or otherwise. As used in these financial statements, "GE" represents the adding together of all affiliated companies except GE Capital (GE Capital or Financial Services), whose continuing operations are presented on a one-line basis; GE Capital represents the adding together of all affiliates of GE Capital with the effects of transactions among such affiliates eliminated; and "Consolidated" represents the adding together of GE and GE Capital with the effects of transactions between the two eliminated.

The consolidated financial statements and notes thereto are unaudited. These statements include all adjustments that we considered necessary to present a fair statement of our results of operations, financial position and cash flows. The results reported in these consolidated financial statements should not be regarded as necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for the entire year. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in our consolidated financial statements of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.

We have reclassified certain prior-period amounts to conform to the current-period presentation. Certain columns and rows may not add due to the use of rounded numbers. Percentages presented are calculated from the underlying numbers in millions. Unless otherwise indicated, information in these notes to the consolidated financial statements relates to continuing operations.

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements of our aforementioned Annual Report. We include herein certain updates to those policies.

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash. Debt securities and money market instruments with original maturities of three months or less are included in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash unless designated as available-for-sale and classified as investment securities. The balance includes restricted cash of \$716 million and \$492 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, primarily comprising collateral for receivables sold and funds restricted in connection with certain ongoing litigation matters.

**LEASE ACCOUNTING.** We determine if an arrangement is a lease or a service contract at inception. Where an arrangement is a lease we determine if it is an operating lease or a finance lease. Subsequently, if the arrangement is modified we reevaluate our classification.

Lessee. At lease commencement, we record a lease liability and corresponding right-of-use (ROU) asset. Lease liabilities represent the present value of our future lease payments over the expected lease term which includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain those options will be exercised. We have elected to include lease and non-lease components in determining our lease liability for all leased assets except our vehicle leases. Non-lease components are generally services that the lessor performs for the Company associated with the leased asset. For those leases with payments based on an index, the lease liability is determined using the index at lease commencement. Lease payments based on increases in the index subsequent to lease commencement are recognized as variable lease expense as they occur. The present value of our lease liability is determined using our incremental collateralized borrowing rate at lease inception. ROU assets represent our right to control the use of the leased asset during the lease and are recognized in an amount equal to the lease liability. Over the lease term we use the effective interest rate method to account for the lease liability as lease payments are made and the ROU asset is amortized to earnings in a manner that results in straight-line expense recognition. A ROU asset and lease liability is not recognized for leases with an initial term of 12 months or less and we recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

**Lessor.** Equipment leased to others under operating leases are included in "Property, plant and equipment" and leases classified as finance leases are included in "Financing receivables" on our consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Refer to Notes 5 and 7 for additional information.

**ACCOUNTING CHANGES.** On January 1, 2019, we adopted ASU No. 2016-02, *Leases*. Upon adoption, we recorded a \$317 million increase to retained earnings, primarily attributable to the release of deferred gains on sale-lease back transactions. Our right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for operating leases excluding discontinued operations at adoption were \$4,116 million and \$4,303 million, respectively. After the adoption date, cash collections of principal on financing leases, will be classified as Cash from operating activities in our consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Previously, such flows were classified as Cash from investing activities.

On January 1, 2019, we adopted ASU No. 2017-12, *Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities*. The ASU requires certain changes to the presentation of hedge accounting in the financial statements and some new or modified disclosures. The ASU also simplifies the application of hedge accounting and expands the strategies that qualify for hedge accounting. Upon adoption, we recorded an increase to retained earnings and a decrease to borrowings of \$52 million related to changes to the measurement of hedged interest rate risks.

### NOTE 2. BUSINESSES HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF BUSINESSES HELD FOR SALE. On June 30, 2019, we signed an agreement to sell our high-speed Reciprocating Compression business within our Oil & Gas segment and recorded a pre-tax loss of \$160 million in the caption "Other income" in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss). We expect to close the transaction in the second half of 2019.

On February 25, 2019, we announced an agreement to sell our BioPharma business within our Healthcare segment to Danaher Corporation for total consideration of approximately \$21,400 million. As of the second quarter of 2019, we had assets of \$8,429 million (including goodwill of \$5,523) and liabilities of \$1,182 million for this business classified as held for sale. We expect to complete the sale of the business in the fourth quarter of 2019.

On November 13, 2017, the Company announced its intention to exit approximately \$20 billion of assets over the next one to two years. Since this announcement, GE has classified various businesses across our Power, Aviation, and Healthcare segments, and Corporate as held for sale. In the first half of 2019, we closed certain of these transactions within Corporate and our Power and Aviation segments for total net proceeds of \$1,049 million, recognized a pre-tax gain of \$217 million in the caption "Other income" in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss) and liquidated \$548 million of our previously recorded valuation allowance. These transactions are subject to customary working capital and other post-close adjustments. As of June 30, 2019, we have closed the sale of substantially all of these assets in accordance with the plan.

While we previously announced an orderly separation of our ownership of BHGE over time, this business has not met the accounting criteria for held for sale classification as of June 30, 2019. That classification will depend on the nature and timing of the disposal transactions.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF BUSINESSES HELD FOR SALE (In millions)	June 30, 2019	December 31, 2018
Current receivables	\$ 512 \$	184
Inventories	784	529
Property, plant, and equipment – net and Operating leases	895	423
Goodwill and Other intangible assets - net	6,344	884
Valuation allowance	(647)	(1,013)
Deferred tax asset	880	_
Other assets	438	623
Assets of businesses held for sale	\$ 9,206 \$	1,630
Accounts payable & Progress collections and deferred income	\$ 850 \$	428
Non-current compensation and benefits	367	152
Other liabilities	261	128
Liabilities of businesses held for sale	\$ 1,478 \$	708

**DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS**. Discontinued operations primarily relate to our Transportation segment and certain financial services businesses.

On February 25, 2019, we completed the spin-off and subsequent merger of our Transportation business with Wabtec, a U.S. rail equipment manufacturer. In the transaction, GE shareholders received shares of Wabtec common stock representing an approximate 24.3% ownership interest in Wabtec common stock. GE received \$2,827 million in cash (net of certain deal related costs) as well as shares of Wabtec common stock and Wabtec non-voting convertible preferred stock that, together, represent approximately 24.9% ownership interest in Wabtec. In addition, GE is entitled to additional cash consideration up to \$470 million for tax benefits that Wabtec realizes from the transaction. We reclassified our Transportation segment to discontinued operations in the first quarter of 2019.

As part of the transaction, we recorded a gain of \$3,471 million (\$2,508 million after-tax) in discontinued operations and a net after-tax decrease of \$852 million in additional paid in capital in connection with the spin-off of approximately 49.4% of Transportation to our shareholders. The fair value of our interest in Wabtec's common and preferred shares was \$3,513 million based on the opening share price of \$73.45 at the date of the transaction and was recorded in the caption "Investment securities" in our consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Discontinued operations for our financial services businesses primarily relate to the GE Capital Exit Plan (our plan announced in 2015 to reduce the size of our financial services businesses) and were previously reported in the Capital segment. These discontinued operations primarily comprise residual assets and liabilities related to our exited U.S. mortgage business (WMC), our mortgage portfolio in Poland, and trailing liabilities associated with the sale of our GE Capital businesses.

In January 2019, we announced an agreement in principle with the United States to settle the investigation by the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) regarding potential violations of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA) by WMC and GE Capital, and in April 2019, the parties entered into a definitive settlement agreement. Under the agreement, which concludes this investigation, GE, without admitting liability or wrongdoing, paid the United States a civil penalty of \$1,500 million.

In June 2019, GE Capital recorded in the caption "Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes" in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss), \$332 million of tax benefits and \$46 million of net interest benefits due to a decrease in our balance of unrecognized tax benefits. See Note 14 for further information.

Results of operations, financial position and cash flows for these businesses are reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

RESULTS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (In millions)	Three months ended June 30			Six m	d June 30	
		2019	2018		2019	2018
Sales of goods and services	\$	— \$	942	\$	549 \$	1,814
GE Capital revenues and other income (loss)		(48)	4		(9)	(1,468)
Cost of goods and services sold		_	(675)		(478)	(1,290)
Other costs and expenses		(15)	(332)		(99)	(556)
Earnings (loss) of discontinued operations before income taxes	\$	(64) \$	(60)	\$	(37) \$	(1,499)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes		295	(3)		308	(7)
Earnings (loss) of discontinued operations, net of taxes	\$	231 \$	(63)	\$	270 \$	(1,507)
Gain (loss) on disposal before income taxes	\$	— \$	_	\$	3,517 \$	4
Benefit (provision) for income taxes		_	_		(964)	(1)
Gain (loss) on disposal, net of taxes	\$	<b>—</b> \$	_	\$	2,553 \$	3
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes	\$	231 \$	(63)	\$	2,823 \$	(1,504)
Gains (loss) on disposals, net of taxes - Transportation and other Industrial		_	_		2,508	_
Gains (loss) on disposals, net of taxes - Capital		_	_		45	3
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes - Transportation and other Industrial		(7)	3		2,550	115
		238	(66)		273	
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes - Capital		230	(00)		213	(1,618)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (In millions)	)		June 3	30, 2019	Decem	ber 31, 2018
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash		\$		594	\$	701
Investment securities				206		195
Current receivables				84		389
Inventories				_		832
Financing receivables held for sale				2,599		2,745
Property, plant and equipment - net and Operating leases				147		910
Goodwill and intangible assets - net				_		1,146
Deferred income taxes				346		1,175
All other assets				215		1,163
Assets of discontinued operations		\$		4,191	\$	9,257
Accounts payable and Progress collections and deferred income		\$		31	\$	1,248
Operating lease liabilities				227		_
Other GE current liabilities				98		590
All other liabilities				27		1,909
Liabilities of discontinued operations		\$		382	\$	3,747

Assets and liabilities of discontinued operations included \$4,573 million of assets and \$1,871 million of liabilities, respectively, related to our Transportation business as of December 31, 2018, which we classified as discontinued operations in the first guarter of 2019.

Included within all other liabilities of discontinued operations at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are intercompany tax receivables in the amount of \$804 million and \$1,141 million, respectively, primarily related to the financial services businesses that were part of the GE Capital Exit Plan, that are offset within all other liabilities of consolidated GE.

#### **NOTE 3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES**

All of our debt securities are classified as available-for-sale and substantially all are investment-grade debt securities supporting obligations to annuitants and policyholders in our run-off insurance operations. Changes in fair value of our debt securities are recorded to other comprehensive income. All of our equity securities have readily determinable fair values and changes in fair value are recorded to earnings.

			June 3	0, 2	2019		December 31, 2018						
(In millions)	,	Amortized cost	Gross unrealized gains		Gross unrealized losses	Estimated fair value		Amortized cost	ι	Gross Inrealized gains	U	Gross Inrealized Iosses	Estimated fair value
Debt													
U.S. corporate	\$	22,663	\$ 3,866	\$	(26) \$	26,504	\$	21,306	\$	2,257	\$	(357) \$	23,206
Non-U.S. corporate		2,186	187		·—	2,373		1,906		53		(76)	1,883
State and municipal		3,199	572		(24)	3,748		3,320		367		(54)	3,633
Mortgage and asset-backed		3,048	128		(4)	3,172		3,325		51		(54)	3,322
Government and agencies		1,696	130			1,825		1,603		63		(20)	1,645
_Equity		1,761				1,761		146		_			146
Total	\$	34,554	\$ 4,884	\$	(55) \$	39,383	\$	31,605	\$	2,792	\$	(561) \$	33,835

At June 30, 2019 estimated fair values have increased since December 31, 2018 primarily due to decreases in market yields and our equity interest in Wabtec that was received as consideration from the merger of our Transportation business with Wabtec. On May 6, 2019, we completed an underwritten secondary offering in which we sold 25.3 million shares of Wabtec common stock resulting in proceeds of \$1,799 million. After the sale, our ownership percentage is approximately 11.8%. This interest is subject to certain trading restrictions and must be sold before the third anniversary of the transaction closing date. See Note 2 for further information.

Although we generally do not have the intent to sell any specific debt securities at the end of the period, in the ordinary course of managing our debt securities portfolio, we may sell securities prior to their maturities for a variety of reasons, including diversification, credit quality, yield and liquidity requirements and the funding of claims and obligations to policyholders. Proceeds from investment securities sales and early redemptions by issuers totaled \$2,925 million and \$385 million in the three months ended and \$4,346 million and \$706 million for the in the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Gross realized gains on investment securities were \$33 million and \$26 million and gross realized losses and impairments were \$(67) million and \$(3) million in the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Gross realized gains on investment securities were \$76 million and \$39 million and gross realized losses and impairments were \$(107) million and \$(3) million in the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Net unrealized gains (losses) recorded to earnings for equity securities were \$(60) million and \$293 million for the three months ended and \$(41) million and \$263 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Gross unrealized losses of \$(13) million and \$(42) million are associated with debt securities with a fair value of \$846 million and \$929 million that have been in a loss position for less than 12 months and 12 months or more, respectively, at June 30, 2019. Gross unrealized losses of \$(310) million and \$(251) million are associated with debt securities with a fair value of \$7,231 million and \$3,856 million that have been in a loss position for less than 12 months and 12 months or more, respectively, at December 31, 2018. Unrealized losses are not indicative of the amount of credit loss that would be recognized and we presently do not intend to sell these debt securities until anticipated recovery of our amortized cost.

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF INVESTMENT IN AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE DEBT SECURITIES (EXCLUDING MORTGAGE AND ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES) (In millions)	Amortized cost	Estimated fair value	
Due			
Within one year	\$	410 \$	415
After one year through five years		3,000	3,153
After five years through ten years		6,565	7,429
After ten years		19,769	23,453

We expect actual maturities to differ from contractual maturities because borrowers have the right to call or prepay certain obligations.

Substantially all of our investment securities are classified within Level 2 as their valuation is determined based on significant observable inputs. Investments with a fair value of \$4,415 million and \$4,301 million were classified within Level 3 as significant inputs to the valuation model are unobservable at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, there were no significant transfers into or out of Level 3.

In addition to the investment securities described above, we hold \$1,239 million and \$1,085 million of equity securities without readily determinable fair value at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively that are classified within "All other assets" in our consolidated Statement of Financial Position. We recognize these assets at cost and have recorded insignificant fair value increases, net of impairment, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively and cumulatively, based on observable transactions.

#### **NOTE 4. CURRENT AND LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES**

CURRENT RECEIVABLES	Consolidated					GE			
(In millions)	June 30, 2019	Dece	ember 31, 2018		June 30, 2019	Dece	ember 31, 2018		
Customer receivables	\$ 15,998	\$	15,716	\$	12,371	\$	11,330		
Sundry receivables	5,265		4,765		5,600		4,763		
Allowance for losses	(1,111)	)	(997)		(1,106)		(989)		
Total current receivables	\$ 20,152	\$	19,484	\$	16,864	\$	15,103		

Current sundry receivables include supplier advances, revenue sharing programs receivables, other non-income based tax receivables, certain intercompany balances that eliminate upon consolidation and deferred purchase price. The deferred purchase price represents our retained risk with respect to current customer receivables sold to third parties through one of the Receivable Facilities. The balance of the deferred purchase price held by GE Capital at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, was \$385 million and \$468 million, respectively.

Sales of GE current customer receivables. During any given period, GE sells customer receivables to manage short-term liquidity and credit exposure. These sales to GE Capital or third parties are made on arm's length terms and any discount related to time value of money is recognized by GE when the customer receivables are sold. During the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, GE sold approximately 48% and 56% (62% and 70% excluding Oil & Gas), respectively, of its customer receivables to GE Capital or third parties. Activity related to customer receivables sold by GE is as follows:

		20	2018					
Six months ended June 30 (In millions)	GE Capital (a) Thir			ird Parties	GE	Capital (a)	Th	ird Parties
Balance at January 1	\$	4,386	\$	7,885	\$	9,877	\$	5,718
GE sales to GE Capital		19,247		_		24,430		_
GE sales to third parties		_		2,079				2,255
GE Capital sales to third parties		(13,836)		13,836		(14,201)		14,201
Collections and other		(6,378)		(16,968)		(14,011)		(16, 184)
Reclassification from long-term customer receivables		209		_		415		<u> </u>
Balance at June 30	\$	3,628	\$	6,832	\$	6,510	\$	5,989

(a) As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, \$1,076 million and \$2,283 million, respectively, of the current receivables purchased and retained by GE Capital, had been sold by GE to GE Capital with recourse (i.e., GE retains all or some risk of default). The effect on GE CFOA of claims by GE Capital on receivables sold with recourse has been insignificant for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

When GE sells customer receivables to GE Capital or third parties it accelerates the receipt of cash that would otherwise have been collected from customers. In any given period, the amount of cash received from sales of customer receivables compared to the cash GE would have otherwise collected had those customer receivables not been sold represents the cash generated or used in the period relating to this activity. Sales to GE Capital impact GE CFOA, while sales to third parties impact both GE and consolidated CFOA. The impact of selling fewer customer receivables to GE Capital, including those subsequently sold by GE Capital to third parties, decreased GE's CFOA by \$1,434 million and \$3,027 million in the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

**LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES.** In certain circumstances, GE provides customers, primarily within our Power, Renewable Energy and Aviation businesses, with extended payment terms for the purchase of new equipment, purchases of upgrades and spare parts for our long-term service agreements. These long-term customer receivables are initially recorded at present value and have an average remaining duration of approximately 3 years and are included in "All other assets" in the consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

		Conso	ed	G	E		
(In millions)	<u>'</u>	June 30, 2019	Dec	ember 31, 2018	June 30, 2019	Dec	ember 31, 2018
Long-term customer receivables	\$	1,222	\$	1,444	\$ 623	\$	561
Long-term sundry receivables		1,822		1,410	2,197		1,750
Allowance for losses		(193)		(202)	(193)		(202)
Total long-term receivables	\$	2,851	\$	2,652	\$ 2,628	\$	2,109

Long-term sundry receivables include supplier advances, revenue sharing programs receivables, other non-income based tax receivables and certain intercompany balances that eliminate upon consolidation.

Sales of GE long-term customer receivables. GE may sell long-term customer receivables to manage liquidity and credit exposure. Through the second quarter of 2018, these sales were primarily made to GE Capital, while subsequently, GE has sold an insignificant amount to third parties to transfer economic risk during both the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. Activity related to long-term customer receivables purchased by GE Capital is as follows:

		2019		2018	
Six months ended June 30 (In millions)	(	GE Capital (a)	GE Capital (a)		
Balance at January 1	\$	883	\$	1,947	
GE sales to GE Capital		_		112	
Sales, collections, accretion and other		(75)		(170)	
Reclassification to current customer receivables		(209)		(415)	
Balance at June 30	\$	599	\$	1,475	

(a) As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, \$430 million and \$885 million, respectively, of long-term customer receivables purchased and retained by GE Capital, had been sold by GE to GE Capital with recourse (i.e., GE retains all or some risk of default). The effect on GE CFOA of claims by GE Capital on receivables sold with recourse has been insignificant for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

Similar to sales of current customer receivables, sales of long-term customer receivables can result in cash generation or use in our Statements of Cash Flows. The impact from the sale of long-term customer receivables to GE Capital, including those subsequently sold by GE Capital to third parties, decreased GE's CFOA by \$309 million and \$520 million in the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

**UNCONSOLIDATED RECEIVABLES FACILITIES.** GE Capital has two revolving Receivables Facilities, with a total program size of \$5,100 million, under which customer receivables purchased from GE are sold to third parties. In one of the facilities, upon the sale of receivables, we receive proceeds of cash and deferred purchase price and the Company's remaining risk with respect to the sold receivables is limited to the balance of the deferred purchase price. In the other facility, upon the sale of receivables, we receive proceeds of cash only and therefore the Company has no remaining risk with respect to the sold receivables. Activity related to these facilities is included in "GE Capital sales to third parties" line in the table above and is as follows:

Six months ended June 30 (In millions)	2019	2018
Customer receivables sold to receivables facilities	\$ 10,786	\$ 11,355
Total cash purchase price for customer receivables	10,495	8,584
Cash collections re-invested to purchase customer receivables	8,830	7,390
Non-cash increases to deferred purchase price	\$ 137	\$ 2,716
Cash payments received on deferred purchase price	220	2,691

**CONSOLIDATED SECURITIZATION ENTITIES.** GE Capital consolidates three variable interest entities (VIEs) that purchased customer receivables and long-term customer receivables from GE. At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 these VIEs held current customer receivables of \$1,863 million and \$2,141 million and long-term customer receivables of \$512 million and \$678 million, respectively that were funded through the issuance of non-recourse debt to third parties. At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the outstanding debt under their respective debt facilities was \$1,423 million and \$1,875 million, respectively.

### **NOTE 5. FINANCING RECEIVABLES AND ALLOWANCES**

Consolidated			GE Capital				
(In millions)		June 30, 2019	Dec	ember 31, 2018	Ju	ne 30, 2019	December 31, 2018
Loans, net of deferred income	\$	1,344	\$	5,118	\$	5,908	\$ 10,834
Investment in financing leases, net of deferred income		2,139		2,639		2,316	2,822
		3,483		7,757		8,224	13,656
Allowance for losses		(47)	)	(58)		(14)	(28)
Financing receivables – net	\$	3,436	\$	7,699	\$	8,210	\$ 13,628

Consolidated finance lease income was \$48 million and \$61 million in the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and \$97 million and \$134 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

In the second quarter of 2019, we classified \$3,615 million of GE Capital Aviation Services (GECAS) financing receivables as held for sale within "All other assets" in our consolidated Statement of Financial Position, as we no longer intend to hold these receivables for the foreseeable future. There were no write-offs on financing receivables to reduce their carrying value to the lower of cost or fair value, less cost to sell.

We manage our GE Capital financing receivables portfolio using delinquency and nonaccrual data as key performance indicators. At June 30, 2019, 3.0%, 2.2% and 3.6% of financing receivables were over 30 days past due, over 90 days past due and on nonaccrual, respectively, with the vast majority of nonaccrual financing receivables secured by collateral. At December 31, 2018, 2.4%, 1.8% and 0.9% of financing receivables were over 30 days past due, over 90 days past due and on nonaccrual, respectively. The increase in these key performance indicators at June 30, 2019 is primarily a result of transferring financing receivables to held for sale.

GE Capital financing receivables that comprise receivables purchased from GE are reclassified to either "Current receivables" or "All other assets" in the consolidated Statement of Financial Position. To the extent these receivables are purchased with full or limited recourse, they are excluded from the delinquency and nonaccrual data above. See Note 4 for further information.

The portfolio also includes \$575 million and \$688 million of financing receivables that are guaranteed by GE, of which \$105 million and \$96 million of these loans are on nonaccrual at the consolidated level at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Additional allowance for loan losses are recorded at GE and on the consolidated level for these guaranteed loans.

### **NOTE 6. INVENTORIES**

(In millions)	June 30, 2019	ecember 31, 2018
Raw materials and work in process	\$ 10,854	\$ 10,102
Finished goods	8,928	8,086
Unbilled shipments	189	201
Total inventories	\$ 19,971	\$ 18,389

# NOTE 7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND OPERATING LEASES

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (In millions)	June 30, 2019	December 31, 2018
Original cost	\$ 85,962 \$	85,476
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	(36,019)	(35,637)
Property, plant and equipment – net	\$ 49,943 \$	49,839

Consolidated depreciation and amortization on property, plant and equipment was \$2,482 million and \$2,640 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Operating lease income on our equipment leased to others was \$1,181 million and \$1,210 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and comprises fixed lease income of \$748 million and \$829 million and variable lease income of \$432 million and \$381 million, respectively. Operating lease income on our equipment leased to others was \$2,320 million and \$2,392 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and comprises of fixed lease income of \$1,524 million and \$1,651 million and variable lease income of \$796 million and \$740 million, respectively.

**Operating Lease Assets and Liabilities.** Our ROU assets and lease liabilities for operating leases were \$3,860 million and \$4,074 million, respectively, as of June 30, 2019. Substantially all of our operating leases have remaining lease terms of 12 years or less, some of which may include options to extend.

OPERATING LEASE EXPENSE	Thr	ee months	ended -	June 30	S	lune 30		
(In millions)		2019		2018		2019		2018
Long-term (fixed)	\$	256	\$	285	\$	529	\$	592
Long-term (variable)		35		57		90		120
Short-term		186		177		432		338
Total operating lease expense	\$	476	\$	519	\$	1,052	\$	1,050
MATURITY OF LEASE LIABILITIES (In millions)								Total
2019 (excluding six months ended June 30, 2019)						\$		540
2020								949
2021								763
2022								631
2023								500
Thereafter								1,534
Total undiscounted lease payments								4,917
Less: imputed interest								(843)
Total lease liability as of June 30, 2019						\$		4,074
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION RELATED TO OPERATING LEAS	SES (In m	illions)					June	e 30, 2019
Operating cash flows used for operating leases						\$		579
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities						\$		409
Weighted-average remaining lease term							7	.2 years
Weighted-average discount rate								5.0%

#### NOTE 8. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GOODWILL (In millions)	Jan	nuary 1, 2019	С	spositions and lassification to held for sale	Impairments	Currency exchange and other	Balance at June 30, 2019
Power	\$	139	\$	— \$	— \$	6 \$	145
Renewable Energy		4,730		_	(744)	72	4,058
Aviation		9,839		_	_	24	9,863
Healthcare		17,226		(5,523)	_	32	11,735
Oil & Gas		24,455		(37)	_	301	24,719
Capital		904		_	_	(26)	878
Corporate		1,438		_	_	(564)	874
Total	\$	58,730	\$	(5,560) \$	(744) \$	(153) \$	52,272

Goodwill balances decreased primarily as a result of transferring our BioPharma business within our Healthcare segment to held for sale and the goodwill impairment at our Grid Solutions equipment and services reporting unit within our Renewable Energy segment.

In assessing the possibility that a reporting unit's fair value has been reduced below its carrying amount due to the occurrence of events or circumstances between annual impairment testing dates, we consider all available evidence, including (i) the results of our impairment testing from the most recent testing date (in particular, the magnitude of the excess of fair value over carrying value observed), (ii) downward revisions to internal forecasts or decreases in market multiples (and the magnitude thereof), if any, and (iii) declines in market capitalization below book value (and the magnitude and duration of those declines), if any.

In the second quarter of 2019, we reorganized our Grid Solutions reporting unit in our Power segment by separating our Grid Solutions software business from the Grid Solutions reporting unit. Our Grid Solutions software business was then moved into Corporate and combined with our Digital business. In addition, the remaining Grid Solutions reporting unit (now referred to as Grid Solutions equipment and services) was moved into our Renewable Energy segment as a separate reporting unit. As a result, we allocated goodwill between Grid Solutions software and the Grid Solutions equipment and services reporting unit based on the relative fair values of each business. This resulted in \$1,618 million of goodwill transferring from our Power segment to our Renewable Energy segment and our Digital business within Corporate in the amounts of \$744 million and \$874 million, respectively.

As a consequence of separating the two businesses, the Grid Solutions equipment and services reporting unit's fair value was below its carrying value. Therefore, we conducted step two of the goodwill impairment test for this reporting unit using a current outlook.

In performing the second step, we identified unrecognized intangible assets primarily related to internally developed technology and trade name. The combination of these unrecognized intangibles, adjustments to the carrying value of other assets and liabilities, and reduced reporting unit fair value calculated in step one, resulted in an implied fair value of goodwill below the carrying value of goodwill for the Grid Solutions equipment and services reporting unit. Therefore, we recorded a non-cash impairment loss of \$744 million in the caption "Goodwill impairments" in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss). After the impairment charge, there is no remaining goodwill associated with our Grid Solutions equipment and services reporting unit.

In addition, in the second quarter of 2019 we performed a qualitative review of our reporting units in our Oil & Gas segment, our Additive reporting unit in our Aviation segment, and our Hydro reporting unit in our Renewable Energy segment. We did not identify any reporting units that required an interim impairment test. While the goodwill in our reporting units within our Oil & Gas segment is not currently impaired, the oil and gas markets continue to be volatile. While the long-term outlook for the industry remains strong, any future declines in macroeconomic or business conditions affecting these reporting units or sustained declines in BHGE's share price in future periods could result in a goodwill impairment in one or more of our Oil & Gas reporting units. In addition, we will continue to measure our ability to meet our cash flow forecasts and to monitor the operating results of our Additive reporting unit, which could impact the fair value of this reporting unit in the future. In the fourth quarter of 2018, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge in our Hydro reporting unit and the recoverability of its remaining goodwill is reliant on the business achieving its turnaround plan which includes execution improvements on legacy projects and cost reductions in the near term. There can be no assurances that some or all of the \$740 million goodwill balance within this reporting unit will not be impaired in future periods.

Further, in the second quarter of 2019, a portion of goodwill recorded at Corporate associated with our Digital acquisitions that was previously allocated to our Oil & Gas, Renewable Energy, Aviation and Healthcare segments in purchase accounting and for goodwill testing purposes is reflected in these segments in the table above.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS - NET (In millions)	June 30, 2019	December 31, 2018
Intangible assets subject to amortization	\$ 14,412	15,675
Indefinite-lived intangible assets	2,242	2,222
Total	\$ 16,653	17,897

Indefinite-lived intangible assets comprise trademarks and trade names in our Oil & Gas segment. Intangible assets decreased in the first quarter of 2019, primarily as a result of amortization, and the transfer of BioPharma within our Healthcare segment to held for sale of \$524 million. Consolidated amortization expense was \$454 million and \$547 million in the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, and \$916 million and \$1,149 million in the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

# **NOTE 9. REVENUES**

The equipment and services revenues classification in the table below is consistent with our segment MD&A presentation.

Three months	ended June 30	
		201

(In millions)			2019				2018					
	Eq	Equipment		Services		Total	Equipment		Services		Total	
Power	\$	1,463	\$	3,218	\$	4,681	\$	2,416	\$	3,845 \$	6,261	
Renewable Energy		2,867		760		3,627		2,240		643	2,883	
Aviation		3,033		4,844		7,877		2,909		4,610	7,519	
Healthcare		2,838		2,095		4,934		2,812		2,166	4,978	
Oil & Gas		2,361		3,592		5,953		2,189		3,366	5,554	
Total Industrial Segment Revenues	\$	12,561	\$	14,510	\$	27,071	\$	12,564	\$	14,631 \$	27,195	

EQUIPMENT	Q.	SEDVICE	=Q E	) = \	/ENII	IEC
EGUIPMENT	œ	SERVICE	_ O R	\ <b>=</b> \		JEO

Six month	าร endec	d June 🤅	30
-----------	----------	----------	----

(In millions)		2019							2018						
		Equipment		Services		Total		quipment	Services		Total				
Power	\$	3,039	\$	6,259	\$	9,298	\$	4,889	\$	7,319 \$	12,209				
Renewable Energy		4,848		1,317		6,165		4,564		1,158	5,722				
Aviation		6,146		9,685		15,831		5,448		9,183	14,631				
Healthcare		5,492		4,125		9,616		5,419		4,261	9,680				
Oil & Gas		4,630		6,940		11,569		4,417		6,522	10,939				
Total Industrial Segment Revenues	\$	24,155	\$	28,325	\$	52,479	\$	24,737	\$	28,444 \$	53,181				

SUB-SEGMENT REVENUES	TI	hree months	ended	June 30	Six months ended June				
(In millions)		2019		2018		2019		2018	
Gas Power	\$	3,248	\$	3,500	\$	6,510	\$	7,041	
Power Portfolio		1,434		2,761		2,788		5,168	
Power	\$	4,681	\$	6,261	\$	9,298	\$	12,209	
Onshore Wind	\$	2,449	\$	1,336	\$	3,891	\$	2,596	
Grid Solutions equipment and services		938		1,230		1,872		2,423	
Hydro and Offshore Wind		239		317		402		703	
Renewable Energy	\$	3,627	\$	2,883	\$	6,165	\$	5,722	
Commercial Engines & Services	\$	5,848	\$	5,534	\$	11,797	\$	10,806	
Military		976		1,073		2,013		2,044	
Systems & Other		1,052		911		2,021		1,780	
Aviation	\$	7,877	\$	7,519	\$	15,831	\$	14,631	
Healthcare Systems	\$	3,589	\$	3,735	\$	7,020	\$	7,311	
Life Sciences		1,345		1,244		2,595		2,369	
Healthcare	\$	4,934	\$	4,978	\$	9,616	\$	9,680	
Turbomachinery & Process Solutions (TPS)	\$	1,365	\$	1,391	\$	2,669	\$	2,839	
Oilfield Services (OFS)		3,263		2,884		6,249		5,561	
Oilfield Equipment (OFE)		693		617		1,428		1,281	
Digital Solutions		632		662		1,223		1,258	
Oil & Gas	\$	5,953	\$	5,554	\$	11,569	\$	10,939	
Total Industrial Segment Revenues	\$	27,071	\$	27,195	\$	52,479	\$	53,181	
Capital(a)		2,321		2,429		4,548		4,602	
Corporate items and eliminations		(561)		(462)		(910)		(833)	
Consolidated Revenues	\$	28,831	\$	29,162	\$	56,117	\$	56,950	

<sup>(</sup>a) Substantially all of our revenues at GE Capital are outside of the scope of ASC 606.

**REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION.** As of June 30, 2019, the aggregate amount of the contracted revenues allocated to our unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) performance obligations was \$251,443 million. We expect to recognize revenue as we satisfy our remaining performance obligations as follows: 1) equipment-related remaining performance obligation of \$50,331 million of which 58%, 76% and 86% is expected to be satisfied within 1, 2 and 5 years, respectively, and the remaining thereafter; and 2) services-related remaining performance obligation of \$201,112 million of which 14%, 47%, 72% and 89% is expected to be recognized within 1, 5, 10 and 15 years, respectively, and the remaining thereafter. Contract modifications could affect both the timing to complete as well as the amount to be received as we fulfill the related remaining performance obligations.

#### NOTE 10. CONTRACT AND OTHER DEFERRED ASSETS & PROGRESS COLLECTIONS AND DEFERRED INCOME

Contract and other deferred assets decreased \$55 million in the first half of 2019. Our long-term service agreements increased primarily due to revenues recognized of \$5,676 million, offset by billings of \$5,553 million and a net unfavorable change in estimated profitability of \$80 million, primarily at Aviation. Our short-term and other service agreements increased due to the timing of revenue recognition ahead of billings primarily at Aviation.

June 30, 2019 (In millions)	Power	Aviation	Oil 8	& Gas	ا	Renewable Energy	He	althcare and Other	Total
Revenues in excess of billings	\$ 5,661 \$	4,980	\$	669	\$	_	\$	_	\$ 11,310
Billings in excess of revenues	(1,576)	(3,175)		(245)		_		_	(4,997)
Long-term service agreements	4,084	1,805		424		_		_	6,314
Short-term and other service agreements	135	338		177		35		297	983
Equipment contract revenues	2,740	79		891		1,242		323	5,275
Total contract assets	6,959	2,222		1,493		1,278		620	12,571
Deferred inventory costs	909	374		129		1,463		338	3,213
Nonrecurring engineering costs	41	2,072		43		72		44	2,273
Customer advances and other	_	1,119		_		_		_	1,119
Contract and other deferred assets	\$ 7,909 \$	5,787	\$	1,665	\$	2,813	\$	1,002	\$ 19,176
December 31, 2018 (In millions)									
Revenues in excess of billings	\$ 5,368 \$	5,412	\$	703	\$	_	\$	_	\$ 11,482
Billings in excess of revenues	(1,693)	(3,297)		(187)		_		_	(5,176)
Long-term service agreements	3,675	2,115		516		_		_	6,306
Short-term and other service agreements	99	272		182		45		251	850
Equipment contract revenues	2,829	80		902		1,129		384	5,324
Total contract assets	6,603	2,468		1,600		1,174		635	12,480
Deferred inventory costs	1,003	673		179		1,267		365	3,488
Nonrecurring engineering costs	43	1,916		22		85		51	2,117
Customer advances and other	_	1,146		_		_		_	1,146
Contract and other deferred assets	\$ 7,650 \$	6,204	\$	1,800	\$	2,525	\$	1,052	\$ 19,231

**Progress collections** represent cash received from customers under ordinary commercial payment terms in advance of delivery. Progress collections on equipment contracts primarily comprises milestone payments received from customer prior to the manufacture and delivery of customized equipment orders. Other progress collections primarily comprise down payments from customers to reserve production slots for standardized inventory orders such as advance payments from customers when they place orders for wind turbines and blades within our Renewable Energy segment and payments from airframers and airlines for install and spare engines, respectively, within our Aviation segment.

Progress collections and deferred income increased \$305 million in the first half of 2019 primarily due to milestone payments received primarily at Aviation and Oil & Gas. These increases were partially offset by the timing of revenue recognition in excess of new collections received, primarily at Power and Renewable Energy.

Revenues recognized for contracts included in liability position at the beginning of the year were \$8,370 million and \$9,332 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

June 30, 2019 (In millions)	Power	Aviation	Oil & Gas	ا	Renewable Energy	Healthcare and Other	Tot	tal
Progress collections on equipment contracts	\$ 5,619	\$ 93	\$ 1,336	\$	1,136	\$ — \$		8,184
Other progress collections	552	4,501	529		3,374	487		9,443
Total progress collections	\$ 6,171	\$ 4,594	\$ 1,865	\$	4,510	\$ 487 \$	1	17,627
Deferred income	61	1,432	126		266	1,627		3,510
GE Progress collections and deferred income	\$ 6,231	\$ 6,026	\$ 1,991	\$	4,776	\$ 2,113 \$	2	21,138
December 31, 2018 (In millions)								
Progress collections on equipment contracts	\$ 5,536	\$ 114	\$ 878	\$	1,415	\$ — \$		7,943
Other progress collections	691	4,034	552		3,468	500		9,245
Total progress collections	\$ 6,227	\$ 4,148	\$ 1,430	\$	4,883	\$ 500 \$	1	17,188
Deferred income	112	1,338	164		260	1,770		3,645
GE Progress collections and deferred income	\$ 6,339	\$ 5,486	\$ 1,594	\$	5,143	\$ 2,271 \$	2	20,833

# **NOTE 11. BORROWINGS**

(In millions)	June 30, 2019	December 31, 2018
Short-term borrowings		
Commercial paper	\$ 3,002	\$ 3,005
Current portion of long-term borrowings	804	103
Current portion of long-term borrowings assumed by GE	6,962	4,207
Other	1,749	2,084
Total GE short-term borrowings	\$ 12,518	\$ 9,400
Current portion of long-term borrowings	\$ 3,743	\$ 3,984
Intercompany payable to GE	2,393	2,684
Other	343	1,015
Total GE Capital short-term borrowings	\$ 6,479	\$ 7,684
Eliminations	(3,376)	(4,262)
Total short-term borrowings	\$ 15,620	\$ 12,821
Long-term borrowings		
Senior notes	\$ 25,792	\$ 26,564
Senior notes assumed by GE	25,171	29,218
Subordinated notes assumed by GE	2,839	2,836
Other	502	524
Total GE long-term borrowings	\$ 54,304	\$ 59,143
Senior notes	\$ 33,468	\$ 35,105
Subordinated notes	176	165
Intercompany payable to GE	18,830	19,828
Other	849	885
Total GE Capital long-term borrowings	\$ 53,324	\$ 55,982
Eliminations	(18,893)	(19,892)
Total long-term borrowings	\$ 88,735	\$ 95,234
Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities	1,423	1,875
Total borrowings	\$ 105,778	\$ 109,930

At June 30, 2019, the outstanding GE Capital borrowings that had been assumed by GE as part of the GE Capital Exit Plan was \$34,972 million (\$6,962 million short term and \$28,010 long term), for which GE has an offsetting Receivable from GE Capital of \$21,223 million. The difference of \$13,749 million (\$4,569 million in short-term borrowings and \$9,180 million in long-term borrowings) represents the amount of borrowings GE Capital had funded with available cash to GE via intercompany loans in lieu of GE issuing borrowings externally.

At June 30, 2019, total GE borrowings of \$45,599 million was comprised of GE-issued borrowings of \$31,850 million (including \$6,292 million of BHGE borrowings) and intercompany loans from GE Capital to GE of \$13,749 million as described above.

GE has provided a full and unconditional guarantee on the payment of the principal and interest on all tradable senior and subordinated outstanding long-term debt securities and all commercial paper issued or guaranteed by GE Capital. At June 30, 2019, the Guarantee applies to \$35,347 million of GE Capital debt.

Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities are primarily short term in nature. See Notes 4 and 18 for further information.

See Note 17 for further information about borrowings and associated interest rate swaps.

#### NOTE 12. INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND ANNUITY BENEFITS

Insurance liabilities and annuity benefits comprise mainly obligations to annuitants and insureds in our run-off insurance activities.

June 30, 2019 (In millions)	Long-term care insurance contracts	í	Structured settlement annuities & life insurance	Other contracts	ad	Other ljustments(a)	Total
Future policy benefit reserves	\$ 16,118	\$	9,371	\$ 166	\$	4,792	\$ 30,447
Claim reserves	4,094		238	1,172		_	5,504
Investment contracts	_		1,195	1,103		_	2,298
Unearned premiums and other	31		199	160		_	390
	20,243		11,003	2,601		4,792	38,639
Eliminations	_		_	(514)		_	(514)
Total	\$ 20,243	\$	11,003	\$ 2,087	\$	4,792	\$ 38,125
December 31, 2018 (In millions)							
Future policy benefit reserves	\$ 16,029	\$	9,495	\$ 169	\$	2,247	\$ 27,940
Claim reserves	3,917		230	1,178		_	5,324
Investment contracts	_		1,239	1,149		_	2,388
Unearned premiums and other	34		205	103		_	342
	19,980		11,169	2,599		2,247	35,994
Eliminations	_		_	(432)	)	_	(432)
Total	\$ 19,980	\$	11,169	\$ 2,167	\$	2,247	\$ 35,562

<sup>(</sup>a) To the extent that unrealized gains on specific investment securities supporting our insurance contracts would result in a premium deficiency should those gains be realized, an increase in future policy benefit reserves is recorded, with an after-tax reduction of net unrealized gains recognized through "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss).

Claim reserves included incurred claims of \$981 million and \$1,004 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, of which insignificant amounts related to the recognition of adjustments to prior year claim reserves arising from our periodic reserve evaluation. Paid claims were \$824 million and \$904 million in the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Reinsurance recoverables are recorded when we cede insurance risk to third parties but are not relieved from our primary obligation to policyholders and cedents. These amounts, net of allowances, are included in the caption "Other GE Capital receivables" in our consolidated Statement of Financial Position, and amounted to \$2,347 million and \$2,271 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

#### **NOTE 13. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS**

We sponsor a number of pension and retiree health and life insurance benefit plans. Principal pension plans are the GE Pension Plan and the GE Supplementary Pension Plan. Other pension plans include the U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans with pension assets or obligations greater than \$50 million. Principal retiree benefit plans provide health and life insurance benefits to certain eligible participants and these participants share in the cost of the healthcare benefits. Smaller pension plans and other retiree benefit plans are not material individually or in the aggregate.

EFFECT ON OPERATIONS OF PENSION PLANS			Principal	pension	plans						
	Three month	ns ende	d June 30		Six months ended June						
(In millions)	2019		2018		2019		2018				
Service cost for benefits earned	\$ 160	\$	203	\$	318	\$	435				
Prior service cost amortization	34		36		67		72				
Expected return on plan assets	(862)		(820)		(1,725)		(1,640)				
Interest cost on benefit obligations	723		667		1,449		1,333				
Net actuarial loss amortization	770		943		1,533		1,894				
Curtailment loss	_		_		51		_				
Pension plans cost	\$ 825	\$	1.029	\$	1.693		2.094				

Curtailment loss in the six months ended June 30, 2019, results from the spin-off and subsequent merger of our Transportation segment with Wabtec which is included in "Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations" in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss).

			Other p	ension pla	ıns		
	 Three month	ns ende	d June 30	5	ix months e	nded Jui	ne 30
(In millions)	 2019		2018		2019		2018
Service cost for benefits earned	\$ 70	\$	99	\$	136	\$	194
Prior service cost (credit) amortization	1		(2)		1		(2)
Expected return on plan assets	(320)		(359)		(629)		(717)
Interest cost on benefit obligations	156		156		313		312
Net actuarial loss amortization	84		83		167		165
Settlement/curtailment loss (gain)	7		(6)		16		(6)
Pension plans cost (income)	\$ (2)	\$	(29)	\$	4	\$	(54)

Principal retiree benefit plans income was \$30 million and \$20 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, and \$91 million and \$41 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which includes a curtailment gain of \$33 million in 2019 resulting from the Transportation transaction. The components of net periodic benefit costs other than the service cost component are included in the caption "Non-operating benefit costs" in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss).

We also have a defined contribution plan for eligible U.S. employees that provides discretionary contributions. Defined contribution plan costs were \$90 million and \$99 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and \$191 million and \$216 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

### **NOTE 14. INCOME TAXES**

Our consolidated effective income tax rate was 7.4% and 30.0% during the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The rate for 2019 is lower than the U.S. statutory rate primarily due to favorable audit resolutions and U.S. business credits, partially offset by the cost of global activities, including the recently enacted base erosion and global intangible low tax income provisions and from a largely non-deductible goodwill impairment charge associated with our Grid Solutions equipment and services business within our Renewable Energy segment. The rate for 2018 was higher than the U.S. statutory rate primarily due to a change in deferred taxes resulting from the decision to execute an internal restructuring to separate the Healthcare business and the cost of the newly enacted base erosion and global intangible low tax income provisions in excess of the benefit from other global activities and dispositions taxed at a rate above the statutory rate. This was partially offset by an adjustment to decrease the 2018 six-month tax rate to be in line with the lower expected full-year rate and U.S. business credits.

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) is currently auditing our consolidated U.S. income tax returns for 2014-2015. In June 2019, the IRS completed the audit of our consolidated U.S. income tax returns for 2012-2013, which resulted in a decrease in our balance of "unrecognized tax benefits" (i.e., the aggregate tax effect of differences between tax return positions and the benefits recognized in our financial statements). The Company recognized a resulting non-cash continuing operations tax benefit of \$378 million plus an additional net interest benefit of \$107 million. Of these amounts, GE recorded \$355 million of tax benefits and \$98 million of net interest benefits and GE Capital recorded \$23 million of tax benefits and \$9 million of net interest benefits. GE Capital recorded an additional non-cash benefit in discontinued operations of \$332 million of tax benefits and \$46 million of net interest benefits. See Note 2 for further information.

#### **NOTE 15. SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY**

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)	Th	ree months	ende	ed June 30	Six months e	nded	June 30
(In millions)		2019		2018	2019		2018
Beginning balance	\$	(16)	\$	(4)	\$ (39)	\$	(102)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (OCI) before reclassifications – net of deferred taxes of \$(23), \$(17), \$15 and \$48(a)		94		32	121		140
Reclassifications from OCI – net of deferred taxes of \$(5), \$0, \$(6) and \$(2)		(18)		(7)	(22)		(16)
Other comprehensive income (loss)		76		25	99		124
Less OCI attributable to noncontrolling interests		_		_	1		1
Investment securities ending balance	\$	60	\$	21	\$ 60	\$	21
Beginning balance	\$	(5,810)	\$	(3,988)	\$ (6,134)	\$	(4,661)
OCI before reclassifications – net of deferred taxes of \$13, \$190, \$39 and \$(241)		(308)		(2,049)	(1)		(1,217)
Reclassifications from OCI – net of deferred taxes of \$0, \$0, \$(4) and \$0(b)		167		380	284		378
Other comprehensive income (loss)		(141)		(1,669)	283		(839)
Less OCI attributable to noncontrolling interests		(77)		(211)	22		(54)
Currency translation adjustments ending balance	\$	(5,874)	\$	(5,446)	\$ (5,874)	\$	(5,446)
Beginning balance	\$	49	\$	114	\$ 13	\$	62
OCI before reclassifications – net of deferred taxes of \$(8), \$(39), \$3 and \$(7)		(50)		(131)	(16)		(26)
Reclassifications from OCI – net of deferred taxes of \$4, \$22, \$1 and \$7		25		50	28		_
Other comprehensive income (loss)		(25)		(81)	12		(26)
Less OCI attributable to noncontrolling interests		(1)		(2)	1		_
Cash flow hedges ending balance	\$	26	\$	36	\$ 26	\$	36
Beginning balance	\$	(7,708)	\$	(8,984)	\$ (8,254)	\$	(9,702)
OCI before reclassifications – net of deferred taxes of \$13, \$56, \$(35) and \$55		7		182	(111)		126
Reclassifications from OCI – net of deferred taxes of \$164, \$218, \$347 and \$436		632		758	1,294		1,533
Other comprehensive income (loss)		639		940	1,183		1,659
Less OCI attributable to noncontrolling interests		(6)		1	(8)		_
Benefit plans ending balance	\$	(7,063)	\$	(8,043)	\$ (7,063)	\$	(8,043)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at June 30	\$	(12,852)	\$	(13,432)	\$ (12,852)	\$	(13,432)

- (a) Included adjustments of \$(1,054) million and \$534 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively and \$(2,011) million and \$1,472 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to insurance liabilities and annuity benefits in our run-off insurance operations to reflect the effects that would have been recognized had the related unrealized investment security gains been realized. See Note 12 for further information.
- (b) Currency translation gains and losses included \$116 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 in earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes.

In 2016, we issued \$5,694 million of GE Series D preferred stock, which are callable on January 21, 2021. In addition to Series D, \$250 million of existing GE Series A, B and C preferred stock are also outstanding. The total carrying value of GE preferred stock at June 30, 2019 was \$5,653 million and will increase to \$5,944 million by the respective call dates through periodic accretion. Dividends on GE preferred stock are payable semi-annually, in June and December and accretion is recorded on a quarterly basis. Dividends on GE preferred stock totaled \$188 million, including cash dividends of \$147 million and \$185 million, including cash dividends of \$147 million, in the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively and \$228 million, including cash dividends of \$147 million, for the six months ending June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In conjunction with 2016 exchange of GE Capital preferred stock into GE preferred stock, GE Capital issued preferred stock to GE for which the amount and terms mirrored the GE external preferred stock. In 2018, GE Capital and GE exchanged the existing Series D preferred stock issued to GE for new Series D preferred stock, which is mandatorily convertible into GE Capital Common stock on January 21, 2021. After this conversion, GE Capital will no longer pay preferred dividends to GE. The exchange of GE Capital Series D preferred stock has no impact on the GE Series D preferred stock, which remains callable for \$5,694 million on January 21, 2021 or thereafter on dividend payment dates. Additionally, there were no changes to the existing Series A, B or C preferred stock issued to GE. See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 for further information.

Noncontrolling interests in equity of consolidated affiliates amounted to \$20,312 million and \$20,500 million, including \$19,095 million and \$19,239 million attributable to the BHGE Class A shareholders at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests were \$(28) million and \$(15) million, for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively and \$2 million and \$52 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Dividends attributable to noncontrolling interests were \$(109) million and \$(81) million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively and \$(215) million and \$(164) million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

As previously announced, we plan an orderly separation of our ownership interest in BHGE over time. Any reduction in our ownership interest below 50% will result in us losing control of BHGE. At that point, we would deconsolidate our Oil & Gas segment, recognize any remaining interest at fair value and recognize any difference between carrying value and fair value of our interest in earnings. Depending on the form and timing of our separation, and if BHGE's stock price remains below our current carrying value, we may recognize a significant loss in earnings. Based on BHGE's share price at July 26, 2019 of \$24.84 per share, the loss upon deconsolidation from a sale of our interest would be approximately \$7,400 million.

Redeemable noncontrolling interests presented within "All other liabilities" in our consolidated Statement of Financial Position include common shares issued by our affiliates that are redeemable at the option of the holder of those interests and amounted to \$408 million and \$382 million as of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Net earnings (loss) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests was \$5 million and \$(116) million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively and \$32 million and \$(149) million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. On October 2, 2018 we settled the redeemable noncontrolling interest balance associated with three joint ventures with Alstom, for a payment amount of \$3,105 million in accordance with contractual payment terms.

### **NOTE 16. EARNINGS PER SHARE INFORMATION**

	Th	ree months ende	ed June 30	
	2019		2018	
(In millions; per-share amounts in dollars)	Diluted	Basic	Diluted	Basic
Earnings from continuing operations for per-share calculation	\$ (103) \$	(103) \$	862 \$	863
Preferred stock dividends	(188)	(188)	(185)	(185)
Earnings from continuing operations attributable to common shareowners for per-share calculation	(292)	(292)	677	678
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations for per-share calculation	230	230	(69)	(68)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners for per-share calculation	\$ (61) \$	(61) \$	614 \$	615
Shares of GE common stock outstanding	8,724	8,724	8,688	8,688
Employee compensation-related shares (including stock options)	_	_	11	_
Total average equivalent shares	8,724	8,724	8,699	8,688
Earnings per share from continuing operations	\$ (0.03) \$	(0.03) \$	0.08 \$	0.08
Earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations	0.03	0.03	(0.01)	(0.01)
Net earnings (loss) per share	 (0.01)	(0.01)	0.07	0.07

		,	Six months e	nded 、	June 30	
	 20	19			2018	
(In millions; per-share amounts in dollars)	Diluted		Basic		Diluted	Basic
Earnings from continuing operations for per-share calculation	\$ 873	\$	888	\$	1,156 \$	1,157
Preferred stock dividends	(228)		(228)		(222)	(222)
Earnings from continuing operations attributable to common shareowners for per-share calculation(a)	\$ 645	\$	661	\$	934 \$	935
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations for per-share calculation(a)	2,800		2,816		(1,515)	(1,514)
Net earnings attributable to GE common shareowners for per-share calculation(a)	\$ 3,461	\$	3,476	\$	(574) \$	(573)
Shares of GE common stock outstanding	8,716		8,716		8,686	8,686
Employee compensation-related shares (including stock options)	13		_		9	_
Total average equivalent shares	8,730		8,716		8,694	8,686
Earnings from continuing operations	\$ 0.07	\$	0.08	\$	0.11 \$	0.11
Loss from discontinued operations	0.32		0.32		(0.17)	(0.17)
Net earnings	0.40		0.40		(0.07)	(0.07)

<sup>(</sup>a) Included in 2019 is a dilutive adjustment for the change in income for forward purchase contracts that may be settled in stock.

Our unvested restricted stock unit awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are considered participating securities, and, therefore, are included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to the two-class method. For the three months ended June 30, 2019, as a result of excess dividends in respect to the current period earnings, losses were not allocated to the participating securities, and for the six months ended June 30, 2019, application of this treatment had an insignificant effect. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, as a result of excess dividends in respect to the current period earnings, losses were not allocated to the participating securities.

For the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, approximately 485 million and 411 million of outstanding stock awards were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effect was antidilutive. For the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, approximately 468 million and 407 million of outstanding stock awards were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effect was antidilutive.

Earnings per share amounts are computed independently for earnings from continuing operations, earnings from discontinued operations and net earnings. As a result, the sum of per-share amounts from continuing operations and discontinued operations may not equal the total per-share amounts for net earnings.

### **NOTE 17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS**

The following table provides information about assets and liabilities not carried at fair value and excludes finance leases, equity securities without readily determinable fair value and non-financial assets and liabilities. Substantially all of these assets are considered to be Level 3 and the vast majority of our liabilities' fair value are considered Level 2.

	 June 30, 201	ember 31, 2	:018		
(In millions)	Carrying amount (net)	Estimated fair value		rying ount (net)	Estimated fair value
Assets					
Loans and other receivables	\$ 8,292 \$	8,358	\$ 8	,812 \$	8,830
Liabilities					
Borrowings (Note 11)	105,778	110,233	109	,930	106,221
Investment contracts (Note 12)	2,298	2,656	2	,388	2,630

Unlike the carrying amount, estimated fair value of borrowings included \$1,140 million and \$1,361 million of accrued interest at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, and excluded the impact of derivatives designated as hedges of borrowings. Had they been included, the fair value of borrowings at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 would be reduced by \$1,685 million and \$1,300 million, respectively.

**DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING.** Our policy requires that derivatives are used solely for managing risks and not for speculative purposes. Total gross notional was \$100,903 million (\$60,331 million in GE Capital and \$40,573 million in GE) and \$123,535 million (\$79,082 million in GE Capital and \$44,453 million in GE) at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. GE Capital notional relates primarily to managing interest rate and currency risk between financial assets and liabilities, and GE notional relates primarily to managing currency risk.

FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVES			Jui	ne 30, 2019			[	)ecer	mber 31, 201	8	
(In millions)	Gro	oss Notional		All other assets	All other liabilities	Gro	ss Notional		All other assets		All other liabilities
Interest rate contracts	\$	21,518	\$	1,654	\$ 3	\$	22,904	\$	1,335	\$	23
Currency exchange contracts		6,313		97	104		7,970		175		121
Derivatives accounted for as hedges	\$	27,831	\$	1,751	\$ 106	\$	30,873	\$	1,511	\$	145
Interest rate contracts	\$	4,934	\$	46	\$ 12	\$	6,198	\$	28	\$	2
Currency exchange contracts		65,872		555	1,093		83,841		727		1,546
Other contracts		2,267		57	78		2,622		13		209
Derivatives not accounted for as hedges	\$	73,072	\$	658	\$ 1,183	\$	92,662	\$	769	\$	1,757
Gross derivatives	\$	100,903	\$	2,409	\$ 1,290	\$	123,535	\$	2,279	\$	1,902
Netting and credit adjustments			\$	(683)	\$ (684)			\$	(959)	\$	(967)
Cash collateral adjustments				(1,230)	(278)				(1,042)		(267)
Net derivatives recognized in statement of financial position			\$	495	\$ 327			\$	279	\$	669
Net accrued interest		•	\$	185	\$ 3		•	\$	205	\$	1
Securities held as collateral				(460)	_				(235)		_
Net amount			\$	220	\$ 330			\$	248	\$	670

Fair value of derivatives in our consolidated Statement of Financial Position excluded accrued interest. Cash collateral adjustments excluded excess collateral received and posted of \$5 million and \$21 million at June 30, 2019, respectively, and \$3 million and \$439 million at December 31, 2018, respectively. Securities held as collateral excluded excess collateral received of \$22 million and zero at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

**FAIR VALUE HEDGES.** We use derivatives to hedge the effects of interest rate and currency exchange rate changes on our borrowings. At June 30, 2019, the cumulative amount of hedging adjustments of \$4,221 million (including \$2,568 million on discontinued hedging relationships) was included in the carrying amount of the hedged liability of \$58,344 million. The cumulative amount of hedging adjustments was primarily recorded in long-term borrowings.

CASH FLOW HEDGES. Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges are recorded in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (AOCI) and recorded in earnings in the period in which the hedged transaction occurs. The gain (loss) recognized in AOCI was \$(49) million and \$(162) million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and \$(2) million and \$(20) million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The gain (loss) reclassified from AOCI to earnings was \$(29) million and \$(72) million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and \$(29) million and \$(7) million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. These amounts were primarily related to currency exchange and interest rate contracts.

The total amount in AOCI related to cash flow hedges of forecasted transactions was a \$49 million gain at June 30, 2019. We expect to reclassify \$74 million of loss to earnings in the next 12 months contemporaneously with the earnings effects of the related forecasted transactions. For the three months and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, we recognized insignificant gains and losses related to hedged forecasted transactions and firm commitments that did not occur by the end of the originally specified period. At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the maximum term of derivative instruments that hedge forecasted transactions was 13 years and 14 years, respectively.

**NET INVESTMENT HEDGES.** For these hedges, the portion of the fair value changes of the derivatives or debt instruments that relates to changes in spot currency exchange rates is recorded in a separate component of AOCI. The portion of the fair value changes of the derivatives related to differences between spot and forward rates is recorded in earnings each period. The amounts recorded in AOCI affect earnings if the hedged investment is sold, substantially liquidated, or control is lost.

The total gain (loss) recognized in AOCI on hedging instruments for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was \$86 million and \$810 million, respectively, comprising \$2 million and \$92 million on currency exchange contracts and \$85 million and \$718 million on foreign currency debt, respectively. The total gain (loss) recognized in AOCI on hedging instruments for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was \$18 million and \$205 million, respectively, comprising \$(25) million and \$83 million on currency exchange contracts and \$44 million and \$123 million on foreign currency debt. The total gain (loss) excluded from assessment and recognized in earnings was \$8 million and \$6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The total gain (loss) excluded from assessment and recognized in earnings was \$16 million and \$8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

The carrying value of foreign currency debt designated as net investment hedges was \$12,421 million and \$9,815 million at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The total reclassified from AOCI into earnings was insignificant for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Three months ended June 30, 2018

**EFFECTS OF DERIVATIVES ON EARNINGS.** All derivatives are marked to fair value on our balance sheet, whether they are designated in a hedging relationship for accounting purposes or are used as economic hedges. For derivatives not designated as hedging instruments, substantially all of the gain or loss recognized in earnings is offset by either the current period change in value of underlying exposures which is recorded in earnings in the current period or a future period when the recording of the exposures occur. The table below presents the effect of our derivative financial instruments in the consolidated Statement of Earnings:

Three months ended June 30, 2019

			i nree mo	IIIII	s chaca st	AIIIC	30, 2013	,				111166	montr	13 (	maca ot	4110	00, 2010	,	
(In millions)	Rev	enues	Cost o sales	-	Interest Expense	5	SG&A	_	Other come	Rev	enues		st of ales		nterest xpense	;	SG&A		Other Icome
Total amounts presented in the consolidated Statement of Earnings	\$ 28	3,831	\$21,81	7 (	\$ 991	\$	4,184	\$	(8)	\$ 2	9,162	\$2 <sup>-</sup>	1,749	\$	1,291	\$	4,346	\$	886
Total effect of cash flow hedges	\$	(15)	\$	(5) \$	\$ (9)	\$	_	\$	_	\$	(72)	\$	9	\$	(10)	\$		\$	_
Hedged items				9	\$ (659)	)								\$	195				
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments					646										(225)	)			
Total effect of fair value hedges				,	\$ (14)	)								\$	(30)	)			
Interest rate contracts	\$	(16)		_			_	\$	_	\$	(20)		_	\$	_	\$	_	\$	_
Currency exchange contracts		(370)	(5	2)	(76)	)	1		(33)	(	1,159)		(249)		69		130		(52)
Other Total effect of derivatives not	_	_	-		27		_		(11)		4		_		25		_		11
designated as hedges	\$	(385)	\$ (5	2) \$	\$ (49)	\$	1	\$	(43)	\$ (	1,175)	\$	(249)	\$	94	\$	130	\$	(40)
(In millions)	Rev	enues	Six mor Cost o sales	f	ended Jur Interest Expense		0, 2019 SG&A	-	Other come	Rev	enues	Co	months st of ales	lr	nded Jur nterest xpense		60, 2018 SG&A		Other icome
(In millions)  Total amounts presented in the consolidated Statement of Earnings			Cost o sales	f	Interest	Ş	SG&A	ln				Co si	st of ales	Ir Ex	nterest	;	SG&A		
Total amounts presented in the consolidated Statement			Cost o sales	f	Interest Expense \$ 2,123	\$	SG&A	In \$	come			\$ 42	st of ales	Ir Ex	nterest kpense	\$	SG&A	Ir	come
Total amounts presented in the consolidated Statement of Earnings  Total effect of cash flow	\$ 56	6,117	Cost o sales	f '0 \$ 4)\$	Interest Expense \$ 2,123	\$	8,330	In \$	come	\$ 5	6,950	\$ 42	st of ales 2,659	Ir Ex	terest expense 2,573	\$	SG&A	Ir	come
Total amounts presented in the consolidated Statement of Earnings  Total effect of cash flow hedges  Hedged items Derivatives designated as hedging instruments	\$ 56	6,117	Cost o sales	f '0 \$ 4)\$	Interest Expense  \$ 2,123 \$ (19)	\$	8,330	In \$	come	\$ 5	6,950	\$ 42	st of ales 2,659	r  Ex	2,573	\$	SG&A	Ir	come
Total amounts presented in the consolidated Statement of Earnings  Total effect of cash flow hedges  Hedged items Derivatives designated as	\$ 56	6,117	Cost o sales	f (0 : 4) : :	Interest Expense \$ 2,123 \$ (19) \$ (1,186)	\$	8,330	In \$	come	\$ 5	6,950	\$ 42	st of ales 2,659	r  Ex	2,573 (20)	\$	SG&A	Ir	come
Total amounts presented in the consolidated Statement of Earnings  Total effect of cash flow hedges  Hedged items Derivatives designated as hedging instruments  Total effect of fair value	\$ 56	6,117	Cost o sales \$ 42,17	f (0 : 4) : :	\$ 2,123 \$ (19) \$ (1,186) 1,161 \$ (25)	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	8,330	In \$	870 —	\$ 5	6,950	\$ 42 \$	st of ales 2,659	\$ \$ \$ \$	2,573 (20) 866 (922)	\$	SG&A	Ir	come
Total amounts presented in the consolidated Statement of Earnings  Total effect of cash flow hedges  Hedged items Derivatives designated as hedging instruments  Total effect of fair value hedges  Interest rate contracts Currency exchange contracts	\$ 56 \$	5,117 5	\$ 42,17 \$ (1	f '0 (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4)	\$ 2,123 \$ (19) \$ (1,186) 1,161 \$ (25) \$ — (139)	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	8,330 (1)	\$ \$	870 — — ————————————————————————————————	\$ 5	(34) (506)	\$42	st of ales 2,659 16	\$ \$ \$ \$	2,573 (20) 866 (922)	\$	SG&A	\$ \$	1,091 — — — — — (1)
Total amounts presented in the consolidated Statement of Earnings  Total effect of cash flow hedges  Hedged items Derivatives designated as hedging instruments  Total effect of fair value hedges  Interest rate contracts Currency exchange contracts Other	\$ 56 \$	5,117	\$ 42,17 \$ (1	70 \$	\$ 2,123 \$ (19) \$ (1,186) 1,161 \$ (25)	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	8,330 (1)	\$ \$	870 —	\$ 5	(4) (34)	\$42	2,659	\$ \$ \$ \$	2,573 (20) 866 (922)	\$	SG&A	\$ \$	1,091
Total amounts presented in the consolidated Statement of Earnings  Total effect of cash flow hedges  Hedged items Derivatives designated as hedging instruments  Total effect of fair value hedges  Interest rate contracts Currency exchange contracts	\$ 56 \$	(36) 83	\$ 42,17 \$ (1	(4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4)	\$ 2,123 \$ (19) \$ (1,186) 1,161 \$ (25) \$ — (139) 123	\$ \$ \$ \$	8,330 (1)	\$ \$	870 — — ————————————————————————————————	\$ 5	(34) (506)	\$42	2,659	\$ \$ \$ \$	2,573 (20) 866 (922)	\$ \$	8,434 —	\$ \$	1,091 — — — — — (1)

#### **COUNTERPARTY CREDIT RISK**

Fair values of our derivatives can change significantly from period to period based on, among other factors, market movements and changes in our positions. We manage counterparty credit risk (the risk that counterparties will default and not make payments to us according to the terms of our agreements) on an individual counterparty basis. Where we have agreed to netting of derivative exposures with a counterparty, we net our exposures with that counterparty and apply the value of collateral posted to us to determine the exposure. We actively monitor these net exposures against defined limits and take appropriate actions in response, including requiring additional collateral. Our exposures to counterparties (including accrued interest), net of collateral we held, was \$123 million and \$148 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Counterparties' exposures to our derivative liability (including accrued interest), net of collateral posted by us, was \$307 million and \$644 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

### **NOTE 18. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES**

In addition to the three VIEs detailed in Note 4, we have other consolidated VIEs with assets of \$2,130 million and \$2,551 million, and liabilities of \$1,489 million and \$1,636 million at June 30 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. These entities were created to help our customers facilitate or finance the purchase of GE goods and services. These entities have no features that could expose us to losses that would significantly exceed the difference between the consolidated assets and liabilities. Substantially all the assets of our consolidated VIEs at June 30, 2019 can only be used to settle the liabilities of those VIEs.

Our investments in unconsolidated VIEs were \$2,357 million and \$2,346 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. These investments are primarily owned by GE Capital businesses, \$1,334 million and \$1,670 million of which were owned by EFS and \$502 million and zero of which were owned by Insurance at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Obligations to make additional investments in these entities are not significant.

### NOTE 19. COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES, PRODUCT WARRANTIES AND OTHER LOSS CONTINGENCIES

**COMMITMENTS.** The GECAS business within the Capital segment has placed multiple-year orders for various Boeing, Airbus and other aircraft manufacturers with list prices approximating \$32,550 million (including 377 new aircraft with delivery dates of 15% in 2019, 20% in 2020 and 65% in 2021 through 2024) and secondary orders with airlines for used aircraft approximating \$2,159 million (including 57 used aircraft with delivery dates of 47% in 2019, 37% in 2020 and 16% in 2021 through 2022) at June 30, 2019. When we purchase aircraft, it is at a contractual price, which is usually less than the aircraft manufacturer's list price and excludes any predelivery payments made in advance. As of June 30, 2019, we have made \$3,153 million of pre-delivery payments to aircraft manufacturers.

GE Capital had total investment commitments of \$3,037 million at June 30, 2019, that primarily comprise investment commitments related to our run-off insurance operations and project financing investments in thermal and wind energy projects.

As of June 30, 2019, in our Aviation segment, we have committed to provide financing assistance of \$2,365 million for future customer acquisitions of aircraft equipped with our engines.

**GUARANTEES.** Our guarantees are provided in the ordinary course of business. We underwrite these guarantees considering economic, liquidity and credit risk of the counterparty. We believe that the likelihood is remote that any such arrangements could have a significant adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity. We record liabilities for guarantees at estimated fair value, generally the amount of the premium received, or if we do not receive a premium, the amount based on appraisal, observed market values or discounted cash flows. Any associated expected recoveries from third parties are recorded as other receivables, and are not netted against the liabilities. At June 30, 2019, we were committed under the following guarantee arrangements beyond those provided on behalf of VIEs. See Note 18 for further information.

**Credit Support.** At June 30, 2019, we have provided \$1,627 million of credit support on behalf of certain customers or associated companies, predominantly joint ventures and partnerships, using arrangements such as standby letters of credit and performance guarantees. These arrangements enable these customers and associated companies to execute transactions or obtain desired financing arrangements with third parties. Should our customer or associated company fail to perform under the terms of the transaction or financing arrangement, we would be required to perform on their behalf. Under most such arrangements, our guarantee is secured, usually by the asset being purchased or financed, or possibly by certain other assets of the customer or associated company for the term of the related financing arrangements or transactions. The liability for such credit support was \$53 million at June 30, 2019.

**Indemnification Agreements – Continuing Operations.** At June 30, 2019, we have \$1,610 million of other indemnification commitments, including representations and warranties in sales of businesses or assets, for which we recorded a liability of \$139 million.

Indemnification Agreements – Discontinued Operations. At June 30, 2019, we provided specific indemnities to buyers of GE Capital's businesses and assets that, in the aggregate, represent a maximum potential claim of \$1,136 million with related reserves of \$149 million. In addition, in connection with the 2015 public offering and sale of Synchrony Financial, GE Capital indemnified Synchrony Financial and its directors, officers, and employees against the liabilities of GECC's businesses other than historical liabilities of the businesses that are part of Synchrony Financial's ongoing operations.

**PRODUCT WARRANTIES**. We provide for estimated product warranty expenses when we sell the related products. Because warranty estimates are forecasts that are based on the best available information, mostly historical claims experience, claims costs may differ from amounts provided. An analysis of changes in the liability for product warranties follows.

Six months ended Ju	une 30
2019	2018
\$ 2,428 \$	2,268
328	349
(332)	(417)
38	144
\$ 2,462 \$	2,344
\$	2019 \$ 2,428 \$ 328 (332) 38

**LEGAL MATTERS.** In the normal course of our business, we are involved from time to time in various arbitrations, class actions, commercial litigation, investigations and other legal, regulatory or governmental actions, including the significant matters described below. In many proceedings, it is inherently difficult to determine whether any loss is probable or even reasonably possible or to estimate the size or range of the possible loss, and accruals for legal matters are not recorded until a loss for a particular matter is considered probable and reasonably estimable. Given the nature of legal matters and the complexities involved, it is often difficult to predict and determine a meaningful estimate of loss or range of loss until we know, among other factors, the particular claims involved, the likelihood of success of our defenses to those claims, the damages or other relief sought, how discovery or other procedural considerations will affect the outcome, the settlement posture of other parties and other factors that may have a material effect on the outcome. Moreover, it is not uncommon for legal matters to be resolved over many years, during which time relevant developments and new information must be continuously evaluated.

**WMC.** During the fourth quarter of 2007, we completed the sale of WMC, our U.S. mortgage business. WMC substantially discontinued all new loan originations by the second quarter of 2007, and was never a loan servicer. In connection with the sale, WMC retained certain representation and warranty obligations related to loans sold to third parties prior to the disposal of the business and contractual obligations to repurchase previously sold loans that had an early payment default. All claims received by WMC for early payment default have either been resolved or are no longer being pursued. The remaining active claims have been brought by securitization trustees or administrators seeking recovery from WMC for alleged breaches of representations and warranties on mortgage loans that serve as collateral for residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS). These claims will be resolved as part of the Chapter 11 bankruptcy case described below.

In January 2019, we announced an agreement in principle with the United States to settle the investigation by the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) regarding potential violations of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA) by WMC and GE Capital, and in April 2019, the parties entered into a definitive settlement agreement. Under the agreement, which concludes this investigation, GE, without admitting liability or wrongdoing, paid the United States a civil penalty of \$1,500 million.

In April 2019, WMC commenced a case under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware. WMC intends to file a Chapter 11 plan seeking an efficient and orderly resolution of all claims, demands, rights, and/or liabilities to be asserted by or against WMC as the debtor. GE Capital is providing up to \$25 million of debtor-in-possession financing to fund administrative expenses associated with the Chapter 11 proceeding.

Beginning in the second quarter of 2019, as a result of WMC commencing the Chapter 11 case, we will no longer consolidate WMC's financial results or position on the books and records of GE Capital. We recognized \$67 million of pre-tax charges during the second quarter of 2019, reflecting an updated settlement estimate in the context of bankruptcy for litigation that was pending when the Chapter 11 case commenced, as well as additional claims that have been brought in bankruptcy. In total, we have recognized \$211 million of liabilities as of June 30, 2019, associated with amounts we anticipate paying in connection with an efficient and orderly resolution of claims in the Chapter 11 case.

Alstom legacy matters. On November 2, 2015, we acquired the Thermal, Renewables and Grid businesses from Alstom. Prior to the acquisition, the seller was the subject of two significant cases involving anti-competitive activities and improper payments: (1) in January 2007, Alstom was fined €65 million by the European Commission for participating in a gas insulated switchgear cartel that operated from 1988 to 2004 (that fine was later reduced to €59 million), and (2) in December 2014, Alstom pled guilty in the United States to multiple violations of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and paid a criminal penalty of \$772 million. As part of GE's accounting for the acquisition, we established a reserve amounting to \$858 million for legal and compliance matters related to the legacy business practices that were the subject of these and related cases in various jurisdictions. At June 30, 2019, this reserve balance was \$872 million. The increase is primarily driven by foreign currency movements.

Regardless of jurisdiction, the allegations relate to claimed anti-competitive conduct or improper payments in the pre-acquisition period as the source of legal violations and/or damages. Given the significant litigation and compliance activity related to these matters and our ongoing efforts to resolve them, it is difficult to assess whether the disbursements will ultimately be consistent with the reserve established. The estimation of this reserve involved significant judgment and may not reflect the full range of uncertainties and unpredictable outcomes inherent in litigation and investigations of this nature, and at this time we are unable to develop a meaningful estimate of the range of reasonably possible additional losses beyond the amount of this reserve. Damages sought may include disgorgement of profits on the underlying business transactions, fines and/or penalties, interest, or other forms of resolution. Factors that can affect the ultimate amount of losses associated with these and related matters include the way cooperation is assessed and valued, prosecutorial discretion in the determination of damages, formulas for determining fines and penalties, the duration and amount of legal and investigative resources applied, political and social influences within each jurisdiction, and tax consequences of any settlements or previous deductions, among other considerations. Actual losses arising from claims in these and related matters could exceed the amount provided.

**ENVIRONMENTAL, HEALTH AND SAFETY MATTERS.** Our operations, like operations of other companies engaged in similar businesses, involve the use, disposal and cleanup of substances regulated under environmental protection laws. We are involved in numerous remediation actions to clean up hazardous wastes as required by federal and state laws, as well as litigation involving asbestos and other environmental, health and safety-related claims. Liabilities for remediation costs exclude possible insurance recoveries and, when dates and amounts of such costs are not known, are not discounted. When there appears to be a range of possible costs with equal likelihood, liabilities are based on the low end of such range. It is reasonably possible that our exposure will exceed amounts accrued. However, due to uncertainties about the status of laws, regulations, technology and information related to individual matters, such amounts are not reasonably estimable. For further information, see our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.

### **NOTE 20. CASH FLOWS INFORMATION**

Changes in operating assets and liabilities are net of acquisitions and dispositions of principal businesses.

Amounts reported in the "Proceeds from sales of discontinued operations" and "Proceeds from principal business dispositions" lines in our consolidated Statement of Cash Flows are net of cash transferred and included certain deal-related costs. Amounts reported in the "Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased" line are net of cash acquired and included certain deal-related costs and debt assumed and immediately repaid in acquisitions.

GE	S	ix months ended	June 30
(In millions)		2019	2018
Increase (decrease) in employee benefit liabilities	\$	(861) \$	(506)
Other gains on investing activities		(45)	(449)
Restructuring and other charges(a)		721	1,198
Restructuring and other cash expenditures		(775)	(807)
Increase (decrease) in equipment project accruals		(218)	(831)
Other(b)		(186)	(289)
All other operating activities	\$	(1,364) \$	(1,684)
Derivative settlements (net)	\$	30 \$	(489)
Investments in intangible assets (net)		(13)	(533)
Other investments (net)(c)		1,866	10
Other(d)		(326)	130
All other investing activities	\$	1,557 \$	(882)
Acquisition of noncontrolling interests	\$	(28) \$	(627)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests		(232)	(159)
Other		(27)	54
All other financing activities	\$	(287) \$	(732)

- (a) Excludes non-cash adjustments reflected as "Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment" or "Amortization of intangible assets" in our consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
- (b) Included other adjustments to net income, such as write-downs of assets and the impacts of acquisition accounting and changes in other assets and other liabilities classified as operating activities, such as the timing of payments of customer allowances.
- (c) Primarily included proceeds from the secondary offering of Wabtec common stock shares of \$1,799 million in the second quarter of 2019.
- (d) Other primarily included net activity related to settlements between our continuing operations and businesses in discontinued operations (primarily our Transportation segment) in 2019.

#### **NOTE 21. INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS**

Transactions between related companies are made on arm's length terms and are reported in the GE and GE Capital columns of our financial statements, which we believe provide useful supplemental information to our consolidated financial statements. These transactions are eliminated in consolidation and may include, but are not limited to, the following: GE Capital working capital services to GE, including current receivables and supply chain finance programs; GE Capital finance transactions, including related GE guarantees to GE Capital; GE Capital financing of GE long-term receivables; and aircraft engines, power equipment and renewable energy equipment manufactured by GE that are installed on GE Capital investments, including leased equipment.

In addition to the above transactions that primarily enable growth for the GE businesses, there are routine related party transactions, which include, but are not limited to, the following: expenses related to parent-subsidiary pension plans; buildings and equipment leased between GE and GE Capital, including sale-leaseback transactions; information technology (IT) and other services sold to GE Capital by GE; settlements of tax liabilities; and various investments, loans and allocations of GE corporate overhead costs.

Presented below is a walk of intercompany eliminations from the combined GE and GE Capital totals to the consolidated cash flows.

	Six months ended June 30							
(In millions)		2019	2018					
Combined	\$	437 \$	(1,003)					
GE current receivables sold to GE Capital		557	491					
GE long-term receivables sold to GE Capital		269	738					
Supply chain finance programs		489	145					
Other reclassifications and eliminations		18	(752)					
Total cash from (used for) operating activities - continuing operations	\$	1,770 \$	(382)					
Combined	\$	2,890 \$	5,752					
GE current receivables sold to GE Capital		(1,294)	(1,469)					
GE long-term receivables sold to GE Capital		(269)	(738)					
GE Capital long-term loans to GE		_	920					
Supply chain finance programs		(489)	(145)					
Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital		1,500	_					
Other reclassifications and eliminations		(692)	946					
Total cash from (used for) investing activities - continuing operations	\$	1,646 \$	5,266					
Combined	\$	(6,206) \$	(20,775)					
GE current receivables sold to GE Capital		737	978					
GE Capital long-term loans to GE		_	(920)					
Capital contribution from GE to GE Capital		(1,500)	_					
Other reclassifications and eliminations		674	(193)					
Total cash from (used for) financing activities - continuing operations	\$	(6,294) \$	(20,911)					

GE current receivables sold to GE Capital excludes \$220 million and \$2,691 million related to cash payments received on the Receivable facility deferred purchase price in the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 respectively, which are reflected as "Cash from investing activities" in the GE Capital and the GE columns of our consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Sales of current and long-term receivables from GE to GE Capital are classified as "Cash from operating activities" in the GE column of our Statement of Cash Flows. See Note 4 for further information.

### **NOTE 22. GUARANTOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION**

GE Capital International Funding Company Unlimited Company (the Issuer) previously issued senior unsecured registered notes that are fully and unconditionally, jointly and severally guaranteed by both the Company and GE Capital International Holdings Limited (each a Guarantor, and together, the Guarantors). The Company is required to provide certain financial information regarding the Issuer and the Guarantors of the registered securities, specifically Condensed Consolidating Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income, Condensed Consolidating Statements of Financial Position and Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows for:

- **General Electric Company (the Parent Company Guarantor)** prepared with investments in subsidiaries accounted for under the equity method of accounting and excluding any inter-segment eliminations;
- GE Capital International Funding Company Unlimited Company (the Subsidiary Issuer) finance subsidiary that issued the
  guaranteed notes for debt;
- GE Capital International Holdings Limited (GECIHL) (the Subsidiary Guarantor) prepared with investments in non-guarantor subsidiaries accounted for under the equity method of accounting;
- Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries prepared on an aggregated basis excluding any elimination or consolidation adjustments and includes predominantly all non-cash adjustments for cash flows:
- Consolidating Adjustments adjusting entries necessary to consolidate the Parent Company Guarantor with the Subsidiary
  Issuer, the Subsidiary Guarantor and Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries and in the comparative periods, this category includes the impact
  of new accounting policies adopted as described in Note 1; and
- Consolidated prepared on a consolidated basis.

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 (UNAUDITED)

(In millions)	Parent Company Guarantor	Subsidiary Issuer	Subsidiary Guarantor	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Consolidating Adjustments	Consolidated
Sales of goods and services \$	8,245 \$	— \$	_ ;	\$ 25,141	\$ (6,598)	\$ 26,788
GE Capital revenues from services	_	245	11	2,052	(265)	2,043
Total revenues	8,245	245	11	27,193	(6,863)	28,831
Interest and other financial charges	541	241	332	110	(234)	991
Other costs and expenses	4,663	_	38	5,931	17,473	28,106
Total costs and expenses	5,205	241	371	6,042	17,239	29,097
Other income (loss)	3,529	_	_	(8,832)	5,295	(8)
Equity in earnings (loss) of affiliates	(6,727)		469	16,162	(9,904)	<u> </u>
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes	(159)	4	110	28,481	(28,711)	(274)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes	48	(1)	_	366	(266)	148
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations	(110)	4	110	28,847	(28,977)	(126)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes	238		2	_	(9)	231
Net earnings (loss)	127	4	112	28,847	(28,986)	104
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests	_	_	_	4	(28)	(23)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company	127	4	112	28,843	(28,959)	127
Other comprehensive income (loss)	633		(22)		22	633
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company \$	760 \$	4 \$	89 \$	\$ 28,843	\$ (28,936)	\$ 760

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 (UNAUDITED)

(in millions)	Parent Company Guarantor		Subsidiary Issuer	Subsidiary Guarantor	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Consolidating Adjustments	Consolidated
Sales of goods and services \$	7,947	\$	— \$	_	\$ 41,000	\$ (21,796)	\$ 27,151
GE Capital revenues from services	· —		233	326	2,593	(1,141)	2,011
Total revenues	7,947		233	326	43,593	(22,937)	29,162
Interest and other financial charges	74		230	617	872	(502)	1,291
Other costs and expenses	13,486		_		38,881	(24,845)	27,520
Total costs and expenses	13,560		230	617	39,753	(25,347)	28,812
Other income (loss)	1,621		_	_	2,970	(3,705)	886
Equity in earnings (loss) of affiliates	4,442		_	(127)	12,249	(16,563)	
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes	450		3	(418)	19,059	(17,858)	1,236
Benefit (provision) for income taxes	471		_	_	(1,162)	188	(504)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations	921		3	(418)	17,897	(17,670)	732
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes	(121)	)	_	(63)	_	121	(63)
Net earnings (loss)	800		3	(482)	17,897	(17,550)	669
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests	_		_	_	(116)	(16)	(132)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company	800		3	(482)	18,013	(17,534)	800
Other comprehensive income (loss)	(571)	)		(94)	(2,509)	2,603	(571)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company	229	\$	3 \$	(575)	\$ 15,503	\$ (14,931)	\$ 229

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 (UNAUDITED)

(in millions)	Parent Company Guarantor	Subsidiary Issuer	Subsidiary Guarantor	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Consolidating Adjustments	Consolidated
Sales of goods and services \$	12,825	\$ _ \$	\$ —	\$ 63,597	\$ (24,292)	\$ 52,130
GE Capital revenues from services	_	479	86	4,631	(1,209)	3,987
Total revenues	12,825	479	86	68,228	(25,501)	56,117
Interest and other financial charges	632	472	712	750	(442)	2,123
Other costs and expenses	13,445	_	39	44,748	(4,369)	53,863
Total costs and expenses	14,077	472	750	45,499	(4,811)	55,986
Other income (loss)	(3,211)	_	_	8,131	(4,049)	870
Equity in earnings (loss) of affiliates	8,198		845	27,175	(36,218)	
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes	3,735	7	181	58,036	(60,957)	1,001
Benefit (provision) for income taxes	(287)	(1)	_	(292)	506	(74)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations	3,448	6	181	57,744	(60,452)	926
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes	268	_	2	_	2,553	2,823
Net earnings (loss)	3,716	6	182	57,744	(57,899)	3,749
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests	_		_	4	30	34
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company	3,716	6	182	57,740	(57,929)	3,716
Other comprehensive income (loss)	1,562	<u> </u>	(1,104)	(443)	1,547	1,562
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company \$	5,277	\$ 6 \$	\$ (922)	\$ 57,297	\$ (56,382)	\$ 5,277

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 (UNAUDITED)

(in millions)	Parent Company Guarantor	Subsidiary Issuer	Subsidiary Guarantor	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Consolidating Adjustments	Consolidated
Sales of goods and services \$	15,651 \$	— \$	_ 9	78,980	\$ (41,478) \$	\$ 53,153
GE Capital revenues from services	_	441	551	4,151	(1,346)	3,797
Total revenues	15,651	441	551	83,131	(42,824)	56,950
Interest and other financial charges	(8)	436	1,164	1,702	(720)	2,573
Other costs and expenses	23,085	_	_	77,458	(46,588)	53,954
Total costs and expenses	23,077	436	1,163	79,160	(47,308)	56,527
Other income (loss)	1,896	<u> </u>	_	1,097	(1,902)	1,091
Equity in earnings (loss) of affiliates	7,034	_	493	12,090	(19,617)	
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes	1,503	5	(119)	17,159	(17,035)	1,513
Benefit (provision) for income taxes	(177)	(1)	_	(562)	286	(454)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations	1,326	4	(119)	16,596	(16,748)	1,060
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes	(1,673)	_	(81)	1	249	(1,504)
Net earnings (loss)	(347)	4	(200)	16,597	(16,500)	(444)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests	_	<del>-</del>	_	(121)	24	(98)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company	(347)	4	(200)	16,719	(16,523)	(347)
Other comprehensive income (loss)	971		(55)	(1,631)	1,686	971
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company	625 \$	4 \$	(254) \$	15,087	\$ (14,837)	625

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION JUNE 30, 2019 (UNAUDITED)

(In millions)	Parent Company Guarantor	Subsidiary Issuer	Subsidiary Guarantor	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Consolidating Adjustments	Consolidated
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	\$ 8,639	\$ _	\$ _	\$ 23,913	\$ (585)	31,968
Receivables - net	46,050	17,601	20	60,972	(94,452)	30,191
Investment in subsidiaries	183,102	_	45,441	710,678	(939,222)	_
All other assets	37,287	110	_	322,236	(109,684)	249,950
Total assets	\$ 275,079	\$ 17,711	\$ 45,462	\$ 1,117,800	\$ (1,143,943)	312,109
Short-term borrowings	\$ 143,998	\$ _	\$ 6,619	\$ 8,186	\$ (143,183)	15,620
Long-term and non-recourse borrowings	47,641	16,559	25,402	44,901	(11,226)	90,158
All other liabilities	65,106	101	216	141,194	(56,415)	150,202
Total liabilities	256,745	16,660	32,237	194,281	(243,943)	255,980
Total liabilities and equity	\$ 275,079	\$ 17,711	\$ 45,462	\$ 1,117,800	\$ (1,143,943)	\$ 312,109

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DECEMBER 31, 2018

(In millions)	Parent Company Guarantor	Subsidiary Issuer	Subsidiary Guarantor	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Consolidating Adjustments	Cons	solidated
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	\$ 9,561	\$ _	\$ _	\$ 25,975	\$ (689) \$	5	34,847
Receivables - net	28,426	17,467	2,792	69,268	(84,095)		33,857
Investment in subsidiaries	215,434	_	45,832	733,535	(994,801)		_
All other assets	29,612	12	_	359,066	(147,810)	2	240,880
Total assets	\$ 283,033	\$ 17,479	\$ 48,623	\$ 1,187,844	\$ (1,227,394) \$	3	309,585
Short-term borrowings	\$ 150,426	\$ _	\$ 9,854	\$ 9,649	\$ (157,108) \$	5	12,821
Long-term and non-recourse borrowings	59,800	16,115	24,341	41,066	(44,213)		97,109
All other liabilities	41,826	336	245	153,166	(47,399)	•	148,174
Total liabilities	252,052	16,452	34,439	203,881	(248,720)	2	258,104
Total liabilities and equity	\$ 283,033	\$ 17,479	\$ 48,623	\$ 1,187,844	\$ (1,227,394) \$	3	309,585

#### CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 (UNAUDITED)

(In millions)	Parent Company Guarantor	Subsidiary Issuer	Subsidiary Guarantor	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Consolidating Adjustments	Consolidated
Cash from (used for) operating activities(a)	\$ (3,564) \$	341 \$	(1,272) \$	5 (558)	\$ 5,073	\$ 20
Cash from (used for) investing activities	\$ 20,887 \$	(341) \$	820 \$	105,020	\$ (123,057)	\$ 3,329
Cash from (used for) financing activities	\$ (18,245) \$	— \$	452 \$	(106,630)	\$ 118,087	\$ (6,336)
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	_	_	_	1	_	1
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	(922)	_	_	(2,168)	104	(2,986)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year	9,561	_	_	26,676	(689)	35,548
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 30	8,639	_	_	24,508	(585)	32,562
Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30	_	_		594	_	594
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of continuing operations at June 30	\$ 8,639 \$	— \$		23,913	\$ (585)	\$ 31,968

<sup>(</sup>a) Parent Company Guarantor cash flows included cash from (used for) operating activities of discontinued operations of \$(2,048) million.

## CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 (UNAUDITED)

(In millions)	Parent Company Guarantor	Subsidiary Issuer	Subsidiary Guarantor	Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries	Consolidating Adjustments	Consolidated
Cash from (used for) operating activities(a)	\$ 10,952 \$	(123) \$	(117) \$	9,711	\$ (21,098)	\$ (675)
Cash from (used for) investing activities	\$ 12,523 \$	193 \$	(882) \$	(21,946)	\$ 15,549	\$ 5,437
Cash from (used for) financing activities	\$ (25,094) \$	(70) \$	999 \$	(2,406)	\$ 5,658	\$ (20,913)
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	_	_	_	(285)	_	(285)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	(1,620)	_	_	(14,926)	110	(16,436)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year	3,472	_	3	41,993	(743)	44,724
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at June 30	1,852	_	3	27,067	(634)	28,288
Less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of discontinued operations at June 30				744	_	744
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of continuing operations at June 30	\$ 1,852 \$	_ \$	3 \$	26,323	\$ (634)	\$ 27,545

<sup>(</sup>a) Parent Company Guarantor cash flows included cash from (used for) operating activities of discontinued operations of \$(2,441) million.

#### FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Our public communications and SEC filings may contain statements related to future, not past, events. These forward-looking statements often address our expected future business and financial performance and financial condition, and often contain words such as "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "plan," "believe," "seek," "see," "will," "would," "estimate," "forecast," "target," "preliminary," or "range." Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain, such as statements about our expected financial performance, including cash flows, revenues, organic growth, margins, earnings and earnings per share; macroeconomic and market conditions; planned and potential business or asset dispositions; our de-leveraging plans, including leverage ratios and targets, the timing and nature of actions to reduce indebtedness and our credit ratings and outlooks; GE's and GE Capital's funding and liquidity; our businesses' cost structures and plans to reduce costs; restructuring, goodwill impairment or other financial charges; or tax rates.

For us, particular uncertainties that could cause our actual results to be materially different than those expressed in our forward-looking statements include:

- our success in executing and completing, including obtaining regulatory approvals and satisfying other closing conditions for, announced GE Industrial and GE Capital business or asset dispositions or other transactions, including the planned sale of our BioPharma business within our Healthcare segment and plans to exit our equity ownership positions in BHGE and Wabtec, the timing of closing for those transactions and the expected proceeds and benefits to GE:
- our de-leveraging and capital allocation plans, including with respect to actions to reduce our indebtedness, the timing and amount of GE dividends, organic investments, and other priorities:
- further downgrades of our current short- and long-term credit ratings or ratings outlooks, or changes in rating application or methodology, and the related impact on our liquidity, funding profile, costs and competitive position;
- GE's liquidity and the amount and timing of our GE Industrial cash flows and earnings, which may be impacted by customer, competitive, contractual and other dynamics and conditions;
- GE Capital's capital and liquidity needs, including in connection with GE Capital's run-off insurance operations, the amount and timing of required capital contributions and strategic actions that we may pursue; the impact of conditions in the financial and credit markets on GE Capital's ability to sell financial assets; the availability and cost of funding; and GE Capital's exposure to particular counterparties and markets;
- the results of our annual GAAP premium deficiency testing for GE Capital's run-off insurance operations, which we expect to be completed in the third guarter of 2019;
- changes in macroeconomic and market conditions, particularly interest rates, as well as the value of stocks and other financial
  assets (including our equity ownership positions in BHGE and Wabtec), oil and other commodity prices and exchange rates;
- market developments or customer actions that may affect levels of demand and the financial performance of the major industries
  and customers we serve, such as secular and cyclical pressures in our Power business, pricing and other pressures in the
  renewable energy market, conditions in China and other key markets, early aircraft retirements, and other shifts in the competitive
  landscape for our products and services;
- operational execution by our businesses, including our ability to improve the operations and execution of our Power business, execution by our Renewable Energy business, and the continued strength of our Aviation business;
- changes in law, regulation or policy that may affect our businesses, such as trade policy and tariffs, regulation related to climate change and the effects of U.S. tax reform and other tax law changes;
- our decisions about investments in new products, services and platforms, and our ability to launch new products in a cost-effective manner;
- our ability to increase margins through implementation of operational changes, restructuring and other cost reduction measures:
- the impact of regulation and regulatory, investigative and legal proceedings and legal compliance risks, including the impact of Alstom, SEC and other investigative and legal proceedings;
- the impact of actual or potential failures or our products or our customers' products, such as the fleet grounding of the Boeing 737 MAX, and related reputational effects:
- the impact of potential information technology, cybersecurity or data security breaches;
- the other factors that are described in "Forward-Looking Statements" in BHGE's most recent earnings release or SEC filings; and
- the other factors that are described in "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, as updated in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.

These or other uncertainties may cause our actual future results to be materially different than those expressed in our forward-looking statements. We do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements. This document includes certain forward-looking projected financial information that is based on current estimates and forecasts. Actual results could differ materially.

#### **GLOSSARY**

#### **FINANCIAL TERMS**

- Continuing earnings refers to the caption "earnings from continuing operations attributable to GE common shareowners"
- Continuing earnings per share (EPS) refers to the diluted per-share amount of "earnings from continuing operations attributable to GE common shareowners."
- GE Cash Flows from Operating Activities (GE CFOA) unless otherwise indicated, GE CFOA is from continuing operations.
- Net earnings (loss) refers to the caption "net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners"
- Net earnings (loss) per share (EPS) refers to the diluted per-share amount of "net earnings attributable to GE common shareowners."
- Segment profit refers to the profit of the industrial segments and the net earnings of the financial services segment, both of which include other income. See the Segment Operations section within the MD&A for a description of the basis for segment profits.

## **OPERATIONAL TERMS**

- Organic excludes the effects of acquisitions, dispositions and foreign currency.
- **Product services agreements** contractual commitments, with multiple-year terms, to provide specified services for products in our Power, Renewable Energy, Aviation and Oil & Gas installed base for example, monitoring, maintenance, service and spare parts for a gas turbine/generator set installed in a customer's power plant. See "Revenues from the Sale of Services" section within Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 for further information.
- Services for purposes of the financial statement presentation of sales and costs of sales in our consolidated Statement of Earnings (Loss), "sales of goods" per SEC regulations includes all sales of tangible products, and "sales of services" includes all other sales, including other services activities. In our MD&A section of this report, we refer to sales under product services agreements and sales of both goods (such as spare parts and equipment upgrades) and related services (such as monitoring, maintenance and repairs) as "sales of services," which is an important part of our operations.

### **EXHIBITS**

Exhibit 101

Exhibit 3(i)	The Restated Certificate of Incorporation of General Electric Company as of January 16, 2014, as amended by the
( )	Certificate of Amendment, dated December 2, 2015, as further amended by the Certificate of Amendment, dated
	January 19, 2016, as further amended by the Certificate of Change, dated September 1, 2016, and as further
	amended by the Certificate of Amendment, dated May 13, 2019.

Exhibit 3(ii) The By-Laws of General Electric Company, as amended and restated on May 13, 2019.

Exhibit 11 Computation of Per Share Earnings.\*

Exhibit 31(a) Certification Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended.

Exhibit 31(b) Certification Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended.

Exhibit 32 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

The following materials from General Electric Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language); (i) Statement of Earnings (Loss) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, (ii) Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, (iii) Statement of Changes in Shareowners' Equity for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, (iv) Statement of Financial Position at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, (v) Statement of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Data required by Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 260,
 Earnings Per Share, is provided in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Report.

## FORM 10-Q CROSS REFERENCE INDEX

Item Num	ber	Page(s)	
Part I – FI	NANCIAL INFORMATION		
Item 1.	Financial Statements	37-73	
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	4-33	
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	Not applicable(a)	
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	34	
Part II - O	THER INFORMATION		
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	35-36	
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	34	
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	34	
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	Not applicable	
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	27	
Item 5.	Other Information	Not applicable	
Item 6.	Exhibits	75	
Signature	s	77	

<sup>(</sup>a) There have been no significant changes to our market risk since December 31, 2018. For a discussion of our exposure to market risk, refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

July 31, 2019	/s/ Thomas S. Timko
Date	Thomas S. Timko
	Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Controller
	Principal Accounting Officer

## Restated Certificate of Incorporation of General Electric Company<sup>1</sup>

#### Section 1. Name

The name of the corporation is General Electric Company.

### **Section 2. Purposes**

The purposes of the corporation are as follows:

- A. To manufacture, process, construct, develop, assemble, and produce in any way, to sell, lease, supply, and distribute in any way, to purchase, lease, mine, extract, and acquire in any way, to own, operate, experiment with, deal in, service, finance, and use in any way, equipment, apparatus, appliances, devices, structures, materials, processes, information, tangible and intangible property, services and systems of every kind, nature and description:
  - 1. for any electrical, or energy-conversion, application or purpose, including but not limited to the production, transmission, distribution, storage, regulation, control and use in any manner of electricity, or in any way connected with or deriving from any electrical, or energy-conversion, application or purpose, and,
  - 2. for any other application or purpose, whatsoever, including but not limited to industrial, utility, consumer, defense, governmental, scientific, educational, cultural, financial, recreational, agricultural, transportation, construction, mining, and communication applications or purposes.
- B. To conduct studies and research and development, and to engage in any other activity relating to the development, application, and dissemination of information concerning science, technology, and other fields of endeavor.
- C. To acquire by purchase, subscription or otherwise all or part of any interest in the property, assets, business, or good will of any corporation, association, firm, or individual, and to dispose of, or otherwise deal with, such property, assets, business or good will.
- D. To engage in any activity which may promote the interests of the corporation, or enhance the value of its property, to the fullest extent permitted by law, and in furtherance of the foregoing purposes to exercise all powers now or hereafter granted or permitted by law, including the powers specified in the New York Business Corporation Law.

### **Section 3. Authorized Shares**

A. General Authorization

The aggregate number of shares which the corporation is authorized to issue is 13,250,000,000 shares, consisting of:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Text of Certificate of Incorporation as set forth in the Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Department of State of New York on January 16, 2014, as amended by the Certificate of Amendment dated December 2, 2015, the Certificate of Amendment dated January 19, 2016, the Certificate of Change dated September 1, 2016 and the Certificate of Amendment dated May 13, 2019. General Electric Company was created by a Special Act of the New York Legislature, Chapter 323, Laws of 1892, effective April 15, 1892.

- 1. 13,200,000,000 shares of common stock having a par value of \$0.06 per share; and
- 2. 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock having a par value of \$1 per share.

#### B. Preferred Stock

- 1. The Board of Directors is authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by law and the provisions of this subsection B, to provide for the issuance of the preferred shares in series, and by filing a certificate pursuant to the Business Corporation Law, to establish the number of shares to be included in each such series, and to fix the designation, relative rights, preferences and limitations of the shares of each such series. The authority of the Board with respect to each series shall include, but not be limited to, determination of the following:
  - (a) The number of shares constituting that series and the distinctive designation of that series;
  - (b) The dividend rate on the shares of that series, whether dividends shall be cumulative and, if so, from which date or dates;
  - (c) Whether that series shall have voting rights, in addition to the voting rights provided by law and, if so, the terms of such voting rights;
  - (d) Whether that series shall have conversion privileges and, if so, the terms and conditions of such conversion, including provision for adjustment of the conversion rate in such events as the Board of Directors shall determine;
  - (e) Whether or not the shares of that series shall be redeemable, and, if so, the terms and conditions of such redemption, including the date or dates upon or after which they shall be redeemable, and the amount per share payable in case of redemption, which amount may vary under different conditions and at different redemption dates;
  - (f) The rights of the shares of that series in the event of voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the corporation;
  - (g) Any other relative rights, preferences and limitations of that series.
- 2. Dividends on outstanding preferred shares shall be declared and paid, or set apart for payment, before any dividends shall be declared and paid, or set apart for payment, on the common shares with respect to the same dividend period.
- 3. Series A, Series B and Series C of Preferred Stock
  - (a) Designation. Three series of preferred stock designated the "Fixed-to-Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series A" (hereinafter called "Series A"), "Fixed-to-Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series B" (hereinafter called "Series B") and "Fixed-to-Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series C" (hereinafter called "Series C," and together with the Series A and the Series B, the "Preferred Stock") are established and the authorized number of shares that shall constitute each such series of Preferred Stock is as follows:
    - (i) 2,777,625 shares of Series A, \$1.00 par value per share and having a liquidation preference of \$1,000 per share;
    - (ii) 2,072,525 shares of Series B, \$1.00 par value per share and having a liquidation preference of \$1,000 per share; and

(iii) 1,094,100 shares of Series C, \$1.00 par value per share and having a liquidation preference of \$1,000 per share.

Such number of shares of each series of Preferred Stock may be increased or decreased by resolution of the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof); provided, however, that no decrease shall reduce the number of shares of any series of Preferred Stock to less than the number of shares of such series of Preferred Stock then issued and outstanding plus the number of shares of such series of Preferred Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding rights, options or warrants or upon conversion of outstanding securities issued by the corporation. The "original issue date" of the shares of each series of the Preferred Stock shall be December 3, 2015. Shares of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock that are redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired by the corporation shall be cancelled and shall revert to authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock undesignated as to series.

- (b) Ranking. The shares of the Preferred Stock shall rank:
  - (i) senior, with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, to the common stock and to any other class or series of capital stock of the corporation now or hereafter authorized, issued or outstanding that, by its terms, expressly provides that it ranks junior to each series of the Preferred Stock with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the corporation, as the case may be (collectively, such common and such other capital stock, "Junior Securities"); and
  - (ii) on a parity, with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, with any other class or series of capital stock of the corporation now or hereafter authorized, issued or outstanding that, by its terms, does not expressly provide that it ranks junior to each series of the Preferred Stock with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the corporation, as the case may be (collectively, such other capital stock, "Parity Securities").

Each series of Preferred Stock shall rank on a parity, with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, with each of the other series of Preferred Stock.

The corporation may authorize and issue additional shares of Junior Securities and Parity Securities without the consent of the holders of the Preferred Stock. The corporation may not issue any class or series of capital stock of the corporation that, by its terms, expressly provides that it ranks senior to the Preferred Stock with respect to the payment of dividends or distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the corporation, as the case may be.

- (c) Dividends. (i) Holders of the Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof), out of assets legally available for the payment of dividends, non-cumulative cash dividends based on the liquidation preference of each series of the Preferred Stock at a rate equal to:
  - (1) with respect to Series A:
    - (i) 4.00% per annum for each semi-annual dividend period from and including the original issue date to, but excluding, June 15, 2022 (the "Series A Fixed Rate Period"),

(ii) three-month LIBOR plus a spread of 2.28% per annum, for each quarterly dividend period from and including June 15, 2022 to, but not including, the redemption date of the Series A, if any (the "Series A Floating Rate Period");

#### (2) with respect to Series B:

- (i) 4.10% per annum for each semi-annual dividend period from and including the original issue date to, but excluding, December 15, 2022 (the "Series B Fixed Rate Period");
- (ii) three-month LIBOR plus a spread of 2.32% per annum, for each quarterly dividend period from and including December 15, 2022 to, but not including, the redemption date of the Series B, if any (the "Series B Floating Rate Period");

#### (3) with respect to Series C:

- (i) 4.20% per annum for each semi-annual dividend period from and including the original issue date to, but excluding, June 15, 2023 (the "Series C Fixed Rate Period," and together with the Series A Fixed Rate Period and the Series B Fixed Rate Period, the "Fixed Rate Periods"); and
- (ii) three-month LIBOR plus a spread of 2.37% per annum, for each quarterly dividend period from and including June 15, 2023 to, but not including, the redemption date of the Series C, if any (the "Series C Floating Rate Period," and together with the Series A Floating Rate Period and the Series B Floating Rate Period, the "Floating Rate Periods").

In the event the corporation issues additional shares of any series of Preferred Stock after the original issue date for such series, any dividends on such additional shares shall accrue from the issue date of such additional shares.

References to the "accrual" (or similar terms) of dividends on each series of the Preferred Stock refer only to the determination of the amount of such dividend and do not imply that any right to a dividend arises prior to the date on which a dividend is declared.

(ii) When, as and if declared by the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof), dividends will be payable on each series of the Preferred Stock on the following dates (each such date, a "dividend payment date"):

## (1) with respect to Series A:

- (i) during the Series A Fixed Rate Period, dividends will be payable semi-annually, in arrears, on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on December 15, 2015 and ending on June 15, 2022;
- (ii) during the Series A Floating Rate Period, dividends will be payable quarterly, in arrears, on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on September 15, 2022;
- (2) with respect to Series B:

- (i) during the Series B Fixed Rate Period, dividends will be payable semi-annually, in arrears, on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on December 15, 2015 and ending on December 15, 2022;
- (ii) during the Series B Floating Rate Period, dividends will be payable quarterly, in arrears, on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on March 15, 2023;

#### (3) with respect to Series C:

- (i) during the Series C Fixed Rate Period, dividends will be payable semi-annually, in arrears, on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on December 15, 2015 and ending on June 15, 2023; and
- (ii) during the Series C Floating Rate Period, dividends will be payable quarterly, in arrears, on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on September 15, 2023.

In the event that any dividend payment date during a Fixed Rate Period on which dividends would otherwise be payable is not a Business Day, the dividend payment date will be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day, without any adjustment to the dividend amount. In the event that any dividend payment date during a Floating Rate Period on which dividends would otherwise be payable is not a Business Day, the dividend payment date will be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day and dividends will accrue to, but exclude, the date dividends are paid. However, if the postponement would cause the dividend payment date to fall in the next calendar month during a Floating Rate Period, the dividend payment date will instead be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day. A "Business Day" means any weekday that is not a legal holiday in New York, New York and that is not a day on which banking institutions in New York, New York are authorized or required by law or regulation to be closed.

- (iii) Dividends will be payable to holders of record of the Preferred Stock as they appear on the corporation's stock register on the applicable record date, which shall be the 15th calendar day before the applicable dividend payment date, or such other record date, no earlier than 30 calendar days before the applicable dividend payment date, as shall be fixed by the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof).
- (iv) A "dividend period" is the period from and including a dividend payment date to, but excluding, the next dividend payment date (without giving effect during a Fixed Rate Period to any adjustment of the dividend payment date because any such date is not a Business Day), except that the initial dividend period during a Fixed Rate Period will commence on and include the original issue date of the relevant series of the Preferred Stock. Dividends payable on the Preferred Stock for a Fixed Rate Period will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Dividends payable on the Preferred Stock for a Floating Rate Period will be computed based on the actual number of days in a dividend period and a 360-day year. Dollar amounts resulting from that calculation will be rounded to the nearest cent, with one-half cent being rounded upward. Dividends on the Preferred Stock will cease to accrue on the redemption date, if any, unless the corporation defaults in the redemption (which would include a default in the payment of the redemption price) of the shares of the Preferred Stock called for redemption.
- (v) The dividend rate for each dividend period in a Floating Rate Period will be determined by the calculation agent using three-month LIBOR as in effect on the second London banking day prior to the beginning of the dividend period, which date is the "dividend determination"

date" for the dividend period. The calculation agent then will add the spread of (a) 2.28% (in respect of the Series A), (b) 2.32% (in respect of the Series B) and (c) 2.37% (in respect of the Series C), in each case, per annum, to the three-month LIBOR as determined on the dividend determination date. Absent manifest error, the calculation agent's determination of the dividend rate for a dividend period for any series of Preferred Stock will be binding and conclusive on the holders of any such series of Preferred Stock, the transfer agent and the corporation. The calculation agent will notify the corporation of each determination of the dividend rate and will make the dividend rate available to any stockholder upon request.

A "London banking day" is any day on which dealings in deposits in U.S. dollars are transacted in the London interbank market.

The "calculation agent" means, at any time, the person or entity appointed by the corporation and serving as such agent at such time. The corporation may terminate any such appointment and may appoint a successor agent at any time and from time to time, *provided* that the corporation shall use its best efforts to ensure that there is, at all relevant times when any series of Preferred Stock is outstanding, a person or entity appointed and serving as such agent. The calculation agent may be a person or entity affiliated with the corporation.

The term "three-month LIBOR" means the London interbank offered rate for deposits in U.S. dollars having an index maturity of three months in amounts of at least \$1,000,000, as that rate appears on Reuters screen page "LIBOR01" (or its equivalent on Bloomberg) at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on the relevant dividend determination date. If no offered rate appears on Reuters screen page "LIBOR01" on the relevant dividend determination date at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, the corporation will select four major banks in the London interbank market and will request each of their principal London offices to provide a quotation of the rate at which three-month deposits in U.S. dollars in amounts of at least \$1,000,000 are offered by it to prime banks in the London interbank market, on that date and at that time, that is representative of single transactions at that time. The corporation shall notify the calculation agent of the quotations. If at least two quotations are provided, threemonth LIBOR will be the arithmetic average (rounded upward, if necessary, to the nearest .00001 of 1%) of the quotations provided. Otherwise, the corporation will select three major banks in New York City and will request each of them to provide a quotation of the rate offered by it at approximately 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the dividend determination date for loans in U.S. dollars to leading European banks having an index maturity of three months for the applicable dividend period in an amount of at least \$1,000,000 that is representative of single transactions at that time. If three quotations are provided to the calculation agent by the corporation, three-month LIBOR will be the arithmetic average (rounded upward, if necessary, to the nearest .00001 of 1%) of the quotations provided. Otherwise, three-month LIBOR for the next dividend period will be equal to three-month LIBOR in effect for the then-current dividend period.

(vi) Dividends on each series of the Preferred Stock will not be cumulative and will not be mandatory. If the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof) does not declare a dividend on any series of Preferred Stock in respect of a dividend period, then no dividend shall be deemed to have accrued for such dividend period, be payable on the applicable dividend payment date or be cumulative, and the corporation will have no obligation to pay any dividend for that dividend period, whether or not the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof) declares a dividend for any future dividend period on such series of Preferred Stock, any other series of Preferred Stock or on any other series of the corporation's preferred stock or common stock.

- (vii) While any series of the Preferred Stock remains outstanding, unless, in each case, the full dividends for the preceding dividend period on all outstanding shares of such series of Preferred Stock have been declared and paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof has been set aside:
  - (1) no dividend shall be declared or paid or set aside for payment and no distribution shall be declared or made or set aside for payment on any Junior Securities (other than (i) a dividend payable solely in Junior Securities or (ii) any dividend in connection with the implementation of a stockholders' rights plan, or the redemption, repurchase or exchange of any rights under any such plan);
  - (2) no shares of Junior Securities shall be purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by the corporation, directly or indirectly (nor shall any monies be paid to or made available for a sinking fund for the redemption of any such securities by the corporation) (other than (i) as a result of a reclassification of Junior Securities for or into other Junior Securities, (ii) the exchange or conversion of one share of Junior Securities for or into another share of Junior Securities, (iii) through the use of the proceeds of a substantially contemporaneous sale of other shares of Junior Securities, (iv) purchases, redemptions or other acquisitions of shares of Junior Securities in connection with any employment contract, benefit plan or other similar arrangement with or for the benefit of employees, officers, directors or consultants, (v) purchases of shares of Junior Securities pursuant to a contractually binding requirement to buy Junior Securities existing prior to the preceding dividend period, including under a contractually binding stock repurchase plan, or (vi) the purchase of fractional interests in shares of Junior Securities pursuant to the conversion or exchange provisions of such stock or the security being converted or exchanged); and
  - (3) no shares of Parity Securities shall be purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by the corporation, directly or indirectly (other than (i) pursuant to offers to purchase all, or a *pro rata* portion, of the Preferred Stock and such Parity Securities; (ii) by conversion into or exchange for Junior Securities; (iii) as a result of a reclassification of Parity Securities for or into other Parity Securities; (iv) through the use of the proceeds of a substantially contemporaneous sale of other shares of Parity Securities; (v) purchases, redemptions or other acquisitions of shares of the Parity Securities in connection with any employment contract, benefit plan or other similar arrangement with or for the benefit of employees, officers, directors or consultants; or (vi) the purchase of fractional interests in shares of Parity Securities pursuant to the conversion or exchange provisions of such stock or the security being converted or exchanged).

For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this paragraph (vii) shall limit the corporation from taking any of the actions set forth in this paragraph (vii) after the original issue date of the Preferred Stock and prior to the first dividend payment date.

(viii) When dividends are not paid in full upon the shares of any series of Preferred Stock and any Parity Securities, all dividends declared upon shares of any series of Preferred Stock and any Parity Securities will be declared on a proportional basis so that the ratio of dividends to be declared on any such series of Preferred Stock for the then-current dividend period to dividends to be declared on any Parity Securities is the same as the ratio of accrued but undeclared dividends on such series of Preferred Stock for the then-current dividend period to accrued but undeclared dividends, including any accumulations in the case of Parity Securities that accrue cumulative dividends, on any Parity Securities.

- (ix) Subject to the foregoing, and not otherwise, dividends (payable in cash, stock or otherwise), as may be determined by the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof), may be declared and paid on the corporation's Junior Securities and the corporation's Parity Securities from time to time out of any assets legally available for such payment, and the holders of the Preferred Stock shall not be entitled to participate in any such dividend.
- (d) Liquidation. (i) Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the business and affairs of the corporation, either voluntarily or involuntarily, holders of each series of the Preferred Stock are entitled to receive a liquidating distribution of \$1,000 per share, plus any declared and unpaid dividends, without accumulation of any undeclared dividends, out of assets of the corporation available for distribution to stockholders before the corporation makes any distribution of assets to the holders of the corporation's Junior Securities. Distributions will be made only to the extent of the corporation's assets that are available after satisfaction of all liabilities to creditors and subject to the rights of holders of any securities ranking senior to the Preferred Stock and *pro rata* as to each series of the Preferred Stock and any other shares of the corporation's stock ranking equally as to such distribution. Holders of Preferred Stock will not be entitled to any other amounts from the corporation after they have received their full liquidating distribution.
  - (ii) In any such distribution, if the assets of the corporation are not sufficient to pay the liquidation preferences plus declared and unpaid dividends in full to all holders of each series of the Preferred Stock and all holders of any Parity Securities, the amounts paid to the holders of the Preferred Stock and any Parity Securities will be paid *pro rata* in accordance with the respective aggregate liquidating distribution owed to those holders. If the liquidation preference plus declared and unpaid dividends has been paid in full to all holders of each series of the Preferred Stock and any Parity Securities, the holders of the corporation's Junior Securities shall be entitled to receive all remaining assets of the corporation according to their respective rights and preferences.
  - (iii) For purposes of this section, the merger or consolidation of the corporation with any other entity, including a merger or consolidation in which the holders of the Preferred Stock receive cash, securities or property for their shares, or the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the assets of the corporation for cash, securities or other property, shall not constitute a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the business and affairs of the corporation.
- (e) Redemption. (i) Each series of the Preferred Stock is perpetual and has no maturity date. None of the series of the Preferred Stock is subject to any mandatory redemption, sinking fund or other similar provisions. The corporation may redeem, to the extent of lawfully available funds, any of the Preferred Stock at the option of the corporation, in whole or in part, from time to time, on any dividend payment date on or after June 15, 2022 (in respect of the Series A), December 15, 2022 (in respect of the Series B) or June 15, 2023 (in respect of the Series C), in each case, at a redemption price equal to \$1,000 per share, plus any declared and unpaid dividends, without accumulation of any undeclared dividends.
  - (ii) If shares of any series of the Preferred Stock are to be redeemed, the notice of redemption shall be given by first class mail to the holders of record of the Preferred Stock to be redeemed, mailed not less than 30 days nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption thereof (*provided* that, if such shares of the Preferred Stock are held in book-entry form through The Depository Trust Company, or "DTC", the corporation may give such notice in any manner permitted by DTC). Each notice of redemption will include a statement setting forth: (i) the redemption date; (ii) the number of shares and series of the Preferred Stock to be redeemed and, if less than all the shares held by the holder are to be redeemed, the number of such shares of Preferred Stock to be redeemed from the holder; (iii) the

redemption price; (iv) the place or places where the certificates evidencing shares of the Preferred Stock are to be surrendered for payment of the redemption price; and (v) that dividends on the shares to be redeemed will cease to accrue on the redemption date. If notice of redemption of any shares of the Preferred Stock has been duly given and if the funds necessary for such redemption have been irrevocably set aside by the corporation for the benefit of the holders of any shares of the Preferred Stock so called for redemption, then, on and after the redemption date, dividends will cease to accrue on such shares of Preferred Stock, such shares of Preferred Stock shall no longer be deemed outstanding and all rights of the holders of such shares will terminate, except the right to receive the redemption price plus any declared and unpaid dividends without accumulation of any undeclared dividends.

- (iii) In case of any redemption of only part of the shares of a series of the Preferred Stock at the time outstanding, the shares to be redeemed shall be selected either *pro rata*, by lot or in such other manner as the corporation may determine to be equitable. Subject to the provisions hereof, the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof) shall have full power and authority to prescribe the terms and conditions upon which shares of the Preferred Stock shall be redeemed from time to time.
- (iv) The holders of the Preferred Stock do not have the right to require the redemption or purchase by the corporation of any of the shares of any of the series of the Preferred Stock.
- (f) Voting Rights. (i) Except as provided below or as expressly required by law, the holders of shares of Preferred Stock shall have no voting power, and no right to vote on any matter at any time, either as a separate series or class or together with any other series or class of shares of capital stock, and shall not be entitled to call a meeting of such holders for any purpose, nor shall they be entitled to participate in any meeting of the holders of the corporation's common stock.
  - (ii) Each share of each series of the Preferred Stock will have one vote whenever it is entitled to voting rights. If the corporation redeems or calls for redemption all outstanding shares of each series of the Preferred Stock and irrevocably deposits in trust sufficient funds to effect such redemption, the shares of each series of the Preferred Stock will not be deemed outstanding for the purpose of voting and the voting provisions with respect to the Preferred Stock shall not apply.
  - (iii) If the corporation fails to pay, or declare and set apart for payment, dividends on outstanding shares of any series of the Preferred Stock or any other series of preferred stock upon which equivalent voting rights have been conferred for three semi-annual or six quarterly dividend periods, whether or not consecutive, the number of directors of the corporation shall automatically be increased by two at the corporation's first annual meeting of shareholders held thereafter, and shall remain increased until continuous noncumulative dividends for at least one year on all outstanding shares of each series of the Preferred Stock and any other series of preferred stock upon which equivalent voting rights have been conferred shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, in full. At such annual meeting, the holders of the shares of Preferred Stock and all series of other preferred stock upon which equivalent voting rights have been conferred, shall have the right, voting as a class, to elect such two additional members of the Board of Directors to hold office for a term of one year. Upon the payments, or the declarations and setting apart for payments, in full, of continuous noncumulative dividends for at least one year on all outstanding shares of each series of the Preferred Stock and any other series of preferred stock upon which equivalent voting rights have been conferred, the terms of the two additional directors so elected shall forthwith terminate, and the number of directors shall automatically be reduced by two, and such voting right of the holders of shares of each series of the Preferred Stock and such other series of

preferred stock upon which equivalent voting rights have been conferred shall cease, subject to increase in the number of directors as described above and to revesting of such voting right in the event of each and every additional failure in the payment of dividends for three semi-annual or six quarterly dividend periods, whether or not consecutive, as described above.

The holders of each series of the Preferred Stock, together with holders of shares of other preferred stock entitled to elect members of the Board of Directors, voting together as a class, may remove and replace (without cause) either of the members of the Board of Directors they elected. If the office of either such member of the Board of Directors becomes vacant for any reason other than removal, the remaining member of the Board of Directors elected in accordance with this paragraph (iii) may choose a successor who will hold office for the unexpired term of the vacant office.

- (iv) For purposes of the voting rights provided under Section 804 or any other provision of Article 8 (or any successor provision) of the New York Business Corporation Law, the granting of additional voting rights to holders of the Preferred Stock shall be deemed to not adversely affect the rights of the holders of shares of the Preferred Stock and shall be permitted without the consent or vote of any such holders.
- (g) Conversion Rights. The Preferred Stock will not be convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of any other class or series of stock or other securities of the corporation.
- (h) Preemptive Rights. The holders of shares of Preferred Stock will have no preemptive rights with respect to any shares of the corporation's capital stock or any of its other securities convertible into or carrying rights or options to purchase any such capital stock.
- (i) Purchase. The corporation may purchase and sell the Preferred Stock from time to time to such extent, in such manner, and upon such terms as the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof) may determine.
- (j) Certificates. Except as otherwise expressly provided below, each series of the Preferred Stock shall be issued solely in the form of one or more permanent global stock certificates (each a "Global Certificate") registered in the name of the Depositary or a nominee thereof and delivered to such Depositary or nominee thereof or custodian therefor. No Global Certificate may be exchanged in whole or in part for certificates registered, and no transfer of a Global Certificate in whole or in part may be registered, in the name of any person other than the Depositary for such Global Certificate or a nominee thereof unless (A) such Depositary (i) has notified the corporation that it is unwilling or unable to continue its services as Depositary for such Global Certificate and no successor Depositary has been appointed within 90 days after such notice or (ii) ceases to be a "clearing agency" registered under Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") when the Depositary is required to be so registered to act as the depositary and so notifies the corporation, and no successor Depositary has been appointed within 90 days after such notice or the corporation becoming aware that the Depositary is no longer so registered or (B) the corporation determines at any time that any series of the Preferred Stock shall no longer be represented by Global Certificates and shall inform such Depositary of such determination. In the event of the occurrence of any of the events specified in the preceding sentence, the corporation will promptly make available to the transfer agent a reasonable supply of certificates for such affected series of the Preferred Stock in definitive, fully registered form.

For purposes of the foregoing, "Depositary" means a "clearing agency" registered under Section 17A of the Exchange Act that is designated by the corporation to act as depositary for each series of the Preferred Stock.

Global Certificates may include legends in substantially the following form and/or such other notations, legends or endorsements required by law, stock exchange rules, the Depositary or agreements to which the corporation is subject:

"THIS STOCK CERTIFICATE IS A PERMANENT GLOBAL STOCK CERTIFICATE WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY (A NEW YORK CORPORATION) OR A NOMINEE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY. THIS CERTIFICATE IS EXCHANGEABLE FOR SECURITIES REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF A PERSON OTHER THAN THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY OR ITS NOMINEE ONLY IN THE LIMITED CIRCUMSTANCES DESCRIBED IN THE CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT AS A WHOLE BY THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY TO A NOMINEE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY OR BY A NOMINEE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY.

UNLESS THIS CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY, TO THE COMPANY OR ITS AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE, OR PAYMENT, AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR IN SUCH OTHER NAME AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY (AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN."

#### 4. Series D of Preferred Stock

(a) Designation. A series of preferred stock designated the "Fixed-to-Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series D" (hereinafter called "Series D") is established and the authorized number of shares that shall constitute such series is 5,944,250 shares, \$1.00 par value per share and having a liquidation preference of \$1,000 per share.

Such number of shares of Series D may be increased or decreased by resolution of the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof); provided, however, that no decrease shall reduce the number of shares of Series D to less than the number of shares of Series D then issued and outstanding plus the number of shares of Series D issuable upon exercise of outstanding rights, options or warrants or upon conversion of outstanding securities issued by the corporation. The "original issue date" of the shares of Series D shall be January 20, 2016. Any outstanding shares of Series D that are redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired by the corporation shall be cancelled and shall revert to authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock undesignated as to series.

## (b) Ranking. The shares of Series D shall rank:

- (i) senior, with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, to the common stock and to any other class or series of capital stock of the corporation now or hereafter authorized, issued or outstanding that, by its terms, expressly provides that it ranks junior to the shares of Series D with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the corporation, as the case may be (collectively, such common and such other capital stock, "Junior Securities"); and
- (ii) on a parity, with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, with any other class or series of capital stock of the corporation now or hereafter authorized, issued or outstanding that, by its terms, does not

expressly provide that it ranks junior to the shares of Series D with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the corporation, as the case may be (collectively, such other capital stock, "Parity Securities").

The Series D shall rank on a parity, with respect to the payment of dividends and distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, with each series of preferred stock issued by the corporation prior to the original issue date of the Series D.

The corporation may authorize and issue additional shares of Junior Securities and Parity Securities without the consent of the holders of the shares of Series D. The corporation may not issue any class or series of capital stock of the corporation that, by its terms, expressly provides that it ranks senior to the shares of Series D with respect to the payment of dividends or distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the corporation, as the case may be.

- (c) Dividends. (i) Holders of the shares of Series D will be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof), out of assets legally available for the payment of dividends, non-cumulative cash dividends based on the liquidation preference of the Series D at a rate equal to:
  - (1) 5.00% per annum for each semi-annual dividend period from and including the original issue date to, but excluding, January 21, 2021 (the "Series D Fixed Rate Period"); and
  - (2) three-month LIBOR plus a spread of 3.33% per annum, for each quarterly dividend period from and including January 21, 2021 to, but not including, the redemption date of the Series D, if any (the "Series D Floating Rate Period").

In the event the corporation issues additional shares of Series D after the original issue date, any dividends on such additional shares shall accrue from the issue date of such additional shares.

References to the "accrual" (or similar terms) of dividends on the Series D refer only to the determination of the amount of such dividend and do not imply that any right to a dividend arises prior to the date on which a dividend is declared.

- (ii) When, as and if declared by the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof), dividends will be payable on Series D on the following dates (each such date, a "dividend payment date"):
  - (1) during the Series D Fixed Rate Period, dividends will be payable semi-annually, in arrears, on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on June 15, 2016 (provided that the final semi-annual dividend period during the Series D Fixed Rate Period will be from December 15, 2020 to, but excluding, January 21, 2021 and the final dividend payment date with respect to the Series D Fixed Rate Period will be January 21, 2021); and
  - (2) during the Series D Floating Rate Period, dividends will be payable quarterly, in arrears, on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on March 15, 2021. The initial quarterly dividend period during the Series D Floating Rate Period will be from January 21, 2021 to, but excluding, March 15, 2021.

In the event that any dividend payment date during the Series D Fixed Rate Period on which dividends would otherwise be payable is not a Business Day, the dividend payment date will be

postponed to the next day that is a Business Day, without any adjustment to the dividend amount. In the event that any dividend payment date during the Series D Floating Rate Period on which dividends would otherwise be payable is not a Business Day, the dividend payment date will be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day and dividends will accrue to, but exclude, the date dividends are paid. However, if the postponement would cause the dividend payment date to fall in the next calendar month during the Series D Floating Rate Period, the dividend payment date will instead be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day. A "Business Day" means any weekday that is not a legal holiday in New York, New York and that is not a day on which banking institutions in New York, New York are authorized or required by law or regulation to be closed.

- (iii) Dividends will be payable to holders of record of the shares of Series D as they appear on the corporation's stock register on the applicable record date, which shall be the 15th calendar day before the applicable dividend payment date, or such other record date, no earlier than 30 calendar days before the applicable dividend payment date, as shall be fixed by the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof).
- (iv) A "dividend period" is the period from and including a dividend payment date to, but excluding, the next dividend payment date (without giving effect during the Series D Fixed Rate Period to any adjustment of the dividend payment date because any such date is not a Business Day), except that the initial dividend period during the Series D Fixed Rate Period will commence on and include the original issue date of the Series D. Dividends payable on the Series D for the Series D Fixed Rate Period will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Dividends payable on the Series D for the Series D Floating Rate Period will be computed based on the actual number of days in a dividend period and a 360-day year. Dollar amounts resulting from that calculation will be rounded to the nearest cent, with one-half cent being rounded upward. Dividends on the Series D will cease to accrue on the redemption date, if any, unless the corporation defaults in the redemption (which would include a default in the payment of the redemption price) of the shares of Series D called for redemption.
- (v) The dividend rate for each dividend period in the Series D Floating Rate Period will be determined by the calculation agent using three-month LIBOR as in effect on the second London banking day prior to the beginning of the dividend period, which date is the "dividend determination date" for the dividend period. The calculation agent then will add the spread of 3.33% per annum to the three-month LIBOR as determined on the dividend determination date. Absent manifest error, the calculation agent's determination of the dividend rate for a dividend period for the Series D will be binding and conclusive on the holders of shares of Series D, the transfer agent and the corporation. The calculation agent will notify the corporation of each determination of the dividend rate and will make the dividend rate available to any stockholder upon request.

A "London banking day" is any day on which dealings in deposits in U.S. dollars are transacted in the London interbank market.

The "calculation agent" means, at any time, the person or entity appointed by the corporation and serving as such agent at such time. The corporation may terminate any such appointment and may appoint a successor agent at any time and from time to time, *provided* that the corporation shall use its best efforts to ensure that there is, at all relevant times when any shares of Series D are outstanding, a person or entity appointed and serving as such agent. The calculation agent may be a person or entity affiliated with the corporation.

The term "three-month LIBOR" means the London interbank offered rate for deposits in U.S. dollars having an index maturity of three months in amounts of at least \$1,000,000, as that rate

appears on Reuters screen page "LIBOR01" (or its equivalent on Bloomberg) at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on the relevant dividend determination date. If no offered rate appears on Reuters screen page "LIBOR01" on the relevant dividend determination date at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, the corporation will select four major banks in the London interbank market and will request each of their principal London offices to provide a quotation of the rate at which three-month deposits in U.S. dollars in amounts of at least \$1,000,000 are offered by it to prime banks in the London interbank market, on that date and at that time, that is representative of single transactions at that time. The corporation shall notify the calculation agent of the quotations. If at least two quotations are provided, three-month LIBOR will be the arithmetic average (rounded upward, if necessary, to the nearest .00001 of 1%) of the quotations provided. Otherwise, the corporation will select three major banks in New York City and will request each of them to provide a quotation of the rate offered by it at approximately 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the dividend determination date for loans in U.S. dollars to leading European banks having an index maturity of three months for the applicable dividend period in an amount of at least \$1,000,000 that is representative of single transactions at that time. If three quotations are provided to the calculation agent by the corporation, three-month LIBOR will be the arithmetic average (rounded upward, if necessary, to the nearest .00001 of 1%) of the quotations provided. Otherwise, three-month LIBOR for the next dividend period will be equal to three-month LIBOR in effect for the then-current dividend period.

- (vi) Dividends on the Series D will not be cumulative and will not be mandatory. If the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof) does not declare a dividend on the Series D in respect of a dividend period, then no dividend shall be deemed to have accrued for such dividend period, be payable on the applicable dividend payment date or be cumulative, and the corporation will have no obligation to pay any dividend for that dividend period, whether or not the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof) declares a dividend for any future dividend period on the Series D or on any other series of the corporation's preferred stock or common stock.
- (vii) While the Series D remains outstanding, unless, in each case, the full dividends for the preceding dividend period on all outstanding shares of Series D have been declared and paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof has been set aside:
  - (1) no dividend shall be declared or paid or set aside for payment and no distribution shall be declared or made or set aside for payment on any Junior Securities (other than (i) a dividend payable solely in Junior Securities or (ii) any dividend in connection with the implementation of a stockholders' rights plan, or the redemption, repurchase or exchange of any rights under any such plan);
  - (2) no shares of Junior Securities shall be purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by the corporation, directly or indirectly (nor shall any monies be paid to or made available for a sinking fund for the redemption of any such securities by the corporation) (other than (i) as a result of a reclassification of Junior Securities for or into other Junior Securities, (ii) the exchange or conversion of one share of Junior Securities for or into another share of Junior Securities, (iii) through the use of the proceeds of a substantially contemporaneous sale of other shares of Junior Securities, (iv) purchases, redemptions or other acquisitions of shares of Junior Securities in connection with any employment contract, benefit plan or other similar arrangement with or for the benefit of employees, officers, directors or consultants, (v) purchases of shares of Junior Securities pursuant to a contractually binding requirement to buy Junior Securities existing prior to the preceding dividend period, including under a contractually binding stock repurchase plan, or (vi) the

purchase of fractional interests in shares of Junior Securities pursuant to the conversion or exchange provisions of such stock or the security being converted or exchanged); and

(3) no shares of Parity Securities shall be purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by the corporation, directly or indirectly (other than (i) pursuant to offers to purchase all, or a *pro rata* portion, of the Series D and such Parity Securities; (ii) by conversion into or exchange for Junior Securities; (iii) as a result of a reclassification of Parity Securities for or into other Parity Securities; (iv) through the use of the proceeds of a substantially contemporaneous sale of other shares of Parity Securities; (v) purchases, redemptions or other acquisitions of shares of the Parity Securities in connection with any employment contract, benefit plan or other similar arrangement with or for the benefit of employees, officers, directors or consultants; or (vi) the purchase of fractional interests in shares of Parity Securities pursuant to the conversion or exchange provisions of such stock or the security being converted or exchanged).

For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this paragraph (vii) shall limit the corporation from taking any of the actions set forth in this paragraph (vii) after the original issue date of the Series D and prior to the first dividend payment date.

- (viii) When dividends are not paid in full upon the shares of Series D and any Parity Securities, all dividends declared upon shares of Series D and any Parity Securities will be declared on a proportional basis so that the ratio of dividends to be declared on any Series D for the then-current dividend period to dividends to be declared on any Parity Securities is the same as the ratio of accrued but undeclared dividends on the Series D for the then-current dividend period to accrued but undeclared dividends, including any accumulations in the case of Parity Securities that accrue cumulative dividends, on any Parity Securities.
- (ix) Subject to the foregoing, and not otherwise, dividends (payable in cash, stock or otherwise), as may be determined by the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof), may be declared and paid on the corporation's Junior Securities and the corporation's Parity Securities from time to time out of any assets legally available for such payment, and the holders of shares of Series D shall not be entitled to participate in any such dividend.
- (d) Liquidation. (i) Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the business and affairs of the corporation, either voluntarily or involuntarily, holders of shares of Series D are entitled to receive a liquidating distribution of \$1,000 per share, plus any declared and unpaid dividends, without accumulation of any undeclared dividends, out of assets of the corporation available for distribution to stockholders before the corporation makes any distribution of assets to the holders of the corporation's Junior Securities. Distributions will be made only to the extent of the corporation's assets that are available after satisfaction of all liabilities to creditors and subject to the rights of holders of any securities ranking senior to the Series D and *pro rata* as to the Series D and any other shares of the corporation's stock ranking equally as to such distribution. Holders of shares of Series D will not be entitled to any other amounts from the corporation after they have received their full liquidating distribution.
  - (ii) In any such distribution, if the assets of the corporation are not sufficient to pay the liquidation preferences plus declared and unpaid dividends in full to all holders of shares of Series D and all holders of any Parity Securities, the amounts paid to the holders of shares of Series D and any Parity Securities will be paid *pro rata* in accordance with the respective aggregate liquidating distribution owed to those holders. If the liquidation preference plus declared and unpaid dividends has been paid in full to all holders of shares of Series D and any Parity Securities, the holders of the corporation's Junior Securities shall be entitled to receive all remaining assets of the corporation according to their respective rights and preferences.

- (iii) For purposes of this section, the merger or consolidation of the corporation with any other entity, including a merger or consolidation in which the holders of shares of Series D receive cash, securities or property for their shares, or the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the assets of the corporation for cash, securities or other property, shall not constitute a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the business and affairs of the corporation.
- (e) Redemption. (i) The Series D is perpetual and has no maturity date. The Series D is not subject to any mandatory redemption, sinking fund or other similar provisions. The corporation may redeem, to the extent of lawfully available funds, the Series D, at the option of the corporation, in whole or in part, from time to time, on any dividend payment date on or after January 21, 2021, at a redemption price equal to \$1,000 per share, plus any declared and unpaid dividends, without accumulation of any undeclared dividends.
  - (ii) If shares of Series D are to be redeemed, the notice of redemption shall be given by first class mail to the holders of record of the shares of Series D to be redeemed, mailed not less than 30 days nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption thereof (provided that, if such shares of Series D are held in book-entry form through The Depository Trust Company, or "DTC", the corporation may give such notice in any manner permitted by DTC). Each notice of redemption will include a statement setting forth: (i) the redemption date; (ii) the number of shares of Series D to be redeemed and, if less than all the shares held by the holder are to be redeemed, the number of such shares of Series D to be redeemed from the holder; (iii) the redemption price; (iv) the place or places where the certificates evidencing shares of Series D are to be surrendered for payment of the redemption price; and (v) that dividends on the shares to be redeemed will cease to accrue on the redemption date. If notice of redemption of any shares of Series D has been duly given and if the funds necessary for such redemption have been irrevocably set aside by the corporation for the benefit of the holders of any shares of Series D so called for redemption, then, on and after the redemption date, dividends will cease to accrue on such shares of Series D, such shares of Series D shall no longer be deemed outstanding and all rights of the holders of such shares will terminate, except the right to receive the redemption price plus any declared and unpaid dividends without accumulation of any undeclared dividends.
  - (iii) In case of any redemption of only part of the shares of Series D at the time outstanding, the shares to be redeemed shall be selected either *pro rata*, by lot or in such other manner as the corporation may determine to be equitable. Subject to the provisions hereof, the Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof) shall have full power and authority to prescribe the terms and conditions upon which shares of Series D shall be redeemed from time to time.
  - (iv) The holders of the shares of Series D do not have the right to require the redemption or purchase by the corporation of any of the shares of Series D.
- (f) Voting Rights. (i) Except as provided below or as expressly required by law, the holders of shares of Series D shall have no voting power, and no right to vote on any matter at any time, either as a separate series or class or together with any other series or class of shares of capital stock, and shall not be entitled to call a meeting of such holders for any purpose, nor shall they be entitled to participate in any meeting of the holders of the corporation's common stock.
  - (ii) Each share of Series D will have one vote whenever it is entitled to voting rights. If the corporation redeems or calls for redemption all outstanding shares of Series D and irrevocably deposits in trust sufficient funds to effect such redemption, the shares of Series D will not be deemed outstanding for the purpose of voting and the voting provisions with respect to the Series D shall not apply.

(iii) If the corporation fails to pay, or declare and set apart for payment, dividends on outstanding shares of Series D or any other series of preferred stock upon which equivalent voting rights have been conferred for three semi-annual or six quarterly dividend periods, whether or not consecutive, the number of directors of the corporation shall automatically be increased by two at the corporation's first annual meeting of shareholders held thereafter, and shall remain increased until continuous noncumulative dividends for at least one year on all outstanding shares of Series D and any other series of preferred stock upon which equivalent voting rights have been conferred shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, in full. At such annual meeting, the holders of the shares of Series D and all series of other preferred stock upon which equivalent voting rights have been conferred, shall have the right, voting as a class, to elect such two additional members of the Board of Directors to hold office for a term of one year. Upon the payments, or the declarations and setting apart for payments, in full, of continuous noncumulative dividends for at least one year on all outstanding shares of Series D and any other series of preferred stock upon which equivalent voting rights have been conferred, the terms of the two additional directors so elected shall forthwith terminate, and the number of directors shall automatically be reduced by two, and such voting right of the holders of shares of Series D and such other series of preferred stock upon which equivalent voting rights have been conferred shall cease, subject to increase in the number of directors as described above and to revesting of such voting right in the event of each and every additional failure in the payment of dividends for three semi-annual or six quarterly dividend periods, whether or not consecutive, as described above.

The holders of shares of Series D, together with holders of shares of other preferred stock entitled to elect members of the Board of Directors, voting together as a class, may remove and replace (without cause) either of the members of the Board of Directors they elected. If the office of either such member of the Board of Directors becomes vacant for any reason other than removal, the remaining member of the Board of Directors elected in accordance with this paragraph (iii) may choose a successor who will hold office for the unexpired term of the vacant office.

- (iv) For purposes of the voting rights provided under Section 804 or any other provision of Article 8 (or any successor provision) of the New York Business Corporation Law, the granting of additional voting rights to holders of shares of Series D shall be deemed to not adversely affect the rights of the holders of shares of Series D and shall be permitted without the consent or vote of any such holders.
- (g) Conversion Rights. The Series D will not be convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of any other class or series of stock or other securities of the corporation.
- (h) Preemptive Rights. The holders of shares of Series D will have no preemptive rights with respect to any shares of the corporation's capital stock or any of its other securities convertible into or carrying rights or options to purchase any such capital stock.
- (i) Purchase. The corporation may purchase and sell the Series D from time to time to such extent, in such manner, and upon such terms as the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof) may determine.
- (j) Defined terms. Terms defined in this Section 3.B.4 shall have such meaning when used in this Section 3.B.4 only.

#### C. Preemptive Rights

No present or future holder of any shares of the corporation of any class or series, whether heretofore or hereafter issued, shall have any preemptive rights with respect to (1) any shares of the corporation of any

class or series, or (2) any other security of the corporation (including bonds and debentures) convertible into or carrying rights or options to purchase such shares.

#### **Section 4. Office**

The office of the corporation is located in the City of Schenectady, County of Schenectady, State of New York.

#### Section 5. By-laws

The by-laws may be amended or repealed, and new by-laws may be adopted, by the shareholders or the Board of Directors, except that the Board of Directors shall have no authority to amend or repeal any by-law which is adopted by the shareholders after April 20, 1948, unless such authority is granted to the Board by the specific provisions of a by-law adopted by the shareholders.

#### **Section 6. Directors**

The Board of Directors of the corporation shall consist of not less than seven directors, the exact number to be determined pursuant to procedures set forth in the by-laws.

A person who is or was a director of the corporation shall have no personal liability to the corporation or its shareholders for damages for any breach of duty in such capacity except that the foregoing shall not eliminate or limit liability where such liability is imposed under the Business Corporation Law of the State of New York.

The vote required for election of a director by the shareholders shall, except in a contested election, be the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast in favor of or against the election of a nominee at a meeting of shareholders. In a contested election, directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast at a meeting of shareholders by the holders of shares entitled to vote in the election. An election shall be considered contested if as of the record date there are more nominees for election than positions on the board of directors to be filled by election at the meeting.

### **Section 7. Agent for Process**

The Secretary of State of the State of New York is designated as the agent of the corporation upon whom process against it may be served, and the post office address to which the Secretary of State shall mail a copy of such process served upon him or her is Vice President, Litigation, General Electric Company, 41 Farnsworth Street, Boston, MA 02210.

### By-Laws of General Electric Company\*

### Article I Office

The office of this Company shall be in the City of Schenectady, County of Schenectady, State of New York.

### Article II Directors

A. The stock, property and affairs of this Company shall be managed by a Board of Directors consisting of not less than seven members. The number of Directors shall be such number, not less than the aforesaid minimum, as shall be determined by vote of a majority of the entire Board of Directors, except as the number of Directors for any year shall be fixed by the shareholders at any annual statutory meeting by a majority vote of the outstanding shares entitled to vote thereon. The Directors shall be elected each year, at the annual statutory meeting of the shareholders, to hold office until the next statutory meeting, and until their successors have been elected and have qualified. One-third of the number of Directors constituting the entire Board, as that number shall be determined from time to time, shall be a quorum for the transaction of business.

## B. Meetings of Directors

- 1. The Board of Directors may fix the time or times and the place or places of regular and special meetings of the Board. Special meetings of the Directors also may be held at any time by order of the Chairman of the Board, or in the absence of the Chairman of the Board, by order of the Chief Executive Officer, if then a separate office, or upon the written direction of two of the Directors.
- 2. Notice of each special meeting shall be mailed, telegraphed or delivered electronically to each Director at his residence or place of business at least two days before the meeting and notice shall be deemed to be given at the time of mailing or delivery to a telegraph office for transmission, but the said two days' notice need not be given to any Director who submits a signed waiver of notice, whether before or after the meeting, or who attends the meeting without protesting prior thereto or at its commencement, the lack of notice to him. If the time and place of a regular meeting have not been fixed by the Board, notice of such meeting shall be given as in the case of a special meeting.
- 3. The Board of Directors may prescribe an order of business for its meetings.
- 4. Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Board of Directors or any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board or the committee consent in writing (electronic or otherwise) to the adoption of a resolution authorizing the action. The resolution and the written consent thereto by the members of the Board or committee shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board or committee.
- 5. Any one or more members of the Board of Directors or of any committee of the Board of Directors may participate in a meeting of such Board or committee by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment allowing all persons participating in the meeting to hear each other at the same time. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at any such meeting.
- C. Election of Directors. In any non-contested election of directors, any incumbent director nominee who receives a greater number of votes cast against his or her election than in favor of his or her election shall immediately tender his or her resignation, and the Board of Directors shall decide, through a process managed by the Board committee responsible for director nominations and excluding the nominee in question, whether to accept the resignation at its next regularly scheduled Board meeting. The Board's explanation of its decision shall be promptly disclosed on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

<sup>\*</sup>As last amended and restated by the Board of Directors, effective May 13, 2019.

D. In respect to things not herein specially provided for, the Board of Directors may exercise the powers conferred on them by law.

# Article III Committees of Directors

The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board, may designate from among its members, one or more committees, each consisting of one or more directors, and each of which, to the extent provided in the applicable resolution, shall have all the authority of the Board to the fullest extent permitted by law. The Board may designate one or more directors as ex officio members of any such committee who may replace any absent member or members at any meeting of such committee.

## Article IV Officers

- A. As determined by the Board of Directors, the officers of this Company shall include:
- 1. A Chairman of the Board, who shall be chosen by the Directors from their own number. The Chairman of the Board shall preside at all meetings of Directors, and he may at any time call any meeting of the Board of Directors; he may also at his discretion call or attend any meeting of any committee of the Board, whether or not a member of such committee.
- 2. A Chief Executive Officer of the Company, who shall be chosen by the Directors and may be from their own number and may also serve as Chairman of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer shall have general management, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, of the business of the Company, including the appointment of all officers and employees of the Company for whose election or appointment no other provision is made in these By-laws; he shall also have the power, at any time, to discharge or remove any officer or employee of the Company, subject to the action thereon of the Board of Directors, and shall perform all other duties appropriate to this office.
- 3. One or more Vice Chairmen, who shall also be chosen by the Directors and who shall be accountable to the Chief Executive Officer.
- 4. Two or more Vice Presidents, one or more of whom may also be designated Executive Vice Presidents or Senior Vice Presidents accountable to the Chief Executive Officer.
- 5. A Chief Financial Officer, who shall be the principal financial officer of the Company, and who shall have such duties as the Board, by resolution, shall determine. In the absence or disability of the Chief Financial Officer, the Chairman of the Board may designate a person to exercise the powers of such office.
- 6. A Controller and a Treasurer who shall be officers of the Company. The Controller and Treasurer shall perform such duties as may be assigned by the Chief Financial Officer. In the absence or disability of the Controller or Treasurer, the Chairman of the Board may designate a person to execute the powers of such office.
- 7. A Secretary, who shall record in proper books to be kept for that purpose and have custody of the minutes of the meetings of the shareholders of the Company and of meetings of the Board of Directors and of committees of the Board (other than the compensation committee) and who shall be responsible for the custody and care of the seal of the Company. He shall attend to the giving and serving of all notices of the Company and perform such other duties as may be imposed upon him by the Board of Directors.

The Secretary may appoint an Associate Secretary and Attesting Secretaries, each of whom shall have the power to affix and attest the corporate seal of the Company, and to attest the execution of documents on behalf of the Company and who shall perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Secretary; and in the absence or

disability of the Secretary, the Associate Secretary may be designated by the Chairman of the Board to exercise the powers of the Secretary.

- 8. Such other officers as the Board may from time to time appoint.
- B. One person may hold two or more offices, except that no person shall simultaneously hold the offices of Chief Executive Officer and Secretary.
- C. All officers shall be elected by the Board of Directors for an initial term which shall continue until the first regularly scheduled Board meeting preceding the next annual statutory meeting of shareholders, and thereafter all officers shall hold office until the next such election of officers or until removed; provided, however, that all officers shall serve at the pleasure of the Board. Officers, other than the Chairman of the Board, shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time direct, provided that these powers and duties are not inconsistent with any outstanding Board resolutions. The Chairman of the Board shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as the Board of Directors may from time to time direct.
- D. In the event of the absence, incapacity, illness or the death of the Chief Executive Officer, the duties of the Chief Executive Officer, pending action by the Board of Directors, shall be assumed by that Vice Chairman who is senior to the others in length of General Electric Company service.

# Article V Removal of Officers and Employees

- A. Any officer or employee of the Company may be removed at any time by the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the Board of Directors. In case of such removal the officer so removed shall forthwith deliver all the property of the Company in his possession, or under his control, to some person to be designated by the Board. Nothing herein contained shall limit the power of any officer to discharge any subordinate.
- B. The Board may at any time, in the transaction of business, temporarily delegate any of the duties of any officer to any other officer or person selected by it.

# Article VI Vacancies

Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, or in any office, may be filled for the unexpired term by the Board of Directors.

## Article VII Meetings of Shareholders

- A. Meetings of shareholders may be held at such time and in such place within or without the State of New York as the Board of Directors may determine, and the annual statutory meeting required by Section 602(b) of the New York Business Corporation Law shall be held on the fourth Wednesday in April of each year, or as the Board of Directors may from time to time otherwise determine.
- B. Special meetings of the shareholders may be called by the Board, or by the Secretary upon the written request therefor of shareholders holding ten percent of the then issued stock of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, filed with the Secretary. A shareholder request for a special meeting shall state the purpose(s) of the proposed meeting and shall include the information required for business to be properly brought by a shareholder before the annual meeting of shareholders as set forth in this Article VII with respect to any director nominations or other business proposed to be presented at such special meeting and as to the shareholder(s) requesting such meeting. Business transacted at a special meeting requested by shareholders shall be limited to the purpose(s) stated in the request; provided, however, that nothing in these By-Laws shall

prohibit the Board of Directors from submitting matters to the shareholders at any special meeting requested by shareholders.

- C. The Board of Directors may prescribe an order of business for meetings of shareholders. The Chairman of the Board, or in his absence, the Chief Executive Officer, if then a separate officer, shall preside at meetings of the shareholders; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may for any meeting of shareholders designate another officer or officers to preside.
- D. No business shall be conducted at a meeting of the shareholders except in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Article VII. Nominations for the election of directors may be made by the Board of Directors (a Board Nominee) or by any shareholder entitled to vote for the election of directors who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Article (a Shareholder Nominee). The proposal of other business that may properly be considered by shareholders at a meeting may be made only (i) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors as permitted by law or (ii) by any shareholder of the Company who was a shareholder of record at the time such shareholder gives notice of such proposal as provided for in this Article, who is entitled to vote on the proposal and who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Article.
- 1. For business to be properly brought by a shareholder before the annual meeting of shareholders, the shareholder must give timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the Company and such business must otherwise be a proper matter for shareholder action. To be timely, a shareholder's notice of intention to make a nomination or to propose other business at the annual meeting must either (i) be sent to the Company in compliance with the requirements of SEC Rule 14a-8, if the proposal is submitted under such rule, or (ii) if not, be mailed and received by, or delivered to, the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Company not earlier than the 150<sup>th</sup> day and not later than the close of business on the 120<sup>th</sup> day prior to the anniversary of the date the Company commenced mailing of its proxy materials in connection with the most recent annual meeting of shareholders or, if the date of the annual meeting of shareholders is more than 30 days earlier or later than the anniversary date of the most recent annual meeting of shareholders, then not later than the close of business on the earlier of (a) the 10th day after public disclosure of the meeting date, or (b) the 60<sup>th</sup> day prior to the date the Company commences mailing of its proxy materials in connection with the annual meeting of shareholders.
- 2. Only matters as are stated in the notice of a special meeting of shareholders shall be brought before such a meeting and, in the case of a special meeting properly noticed for the election of directors, notice of a shareholder's intention to make a nomination, in order to be timely, must be mailed and received by, or delivered to, the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Company not later than the close of business on the 10th day after public disclosure of the meeting date.
- A shareholder's notice to the Secretary to submit business for action at the annual meeting of shareholders shall set forth either the information required by SEC Rule 14a-8 if submitted in accordance with and permitted by such rule or, if a nomination for the election of a director at the annual meeting or a special meeting of shareholders or otherwise not in accordance with such rule: as to the shareholder giving the notice, the beneficial owners, if any, on whose behalf the business is being submitted and, if such shareholder or beneficial owner is an entity, as to each director, executive, managing member or control person of such entity (any such individual or control person, a "control person"): (i) the name and address of the shareholder and such beneficial owners and control persons, (ii) the class, series and number of all shares of stock of the Company held of record and beneficially by such shareholder and such beneficial owners and control persons, and a representation that such shareholder will notify the Company in writing of the class, series and number of such shares owned of record and beneficially as of the record date for the meeting, promptly following the later of the record date or the date notice of the record date is first publicly disclosed, (iii) a representation that the shareholder is entitled to vote at the meeting and intends to appear at the meeting in person or by proxy to submit the business specified in such notice, (iv) a brief description of the business desired to be submitted to the meeting of shareholders, including the complete text of any resolutions and any amendment to any Company document intended to be presented at the meeting of shareholders, (v) any personal or other direct or indirect material interest of the shareholder and such beneficial owners and control persons in the business to be submitted, (vi) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any derivative or short positions, profit interests, options, warrants, stock appreciation or similar rights, hedging transactions, and borrowed or loaned shares) that has been entered into as of the date of the shareholder's notice by, or on behalf of, the shareholder and such beneficial owners and control persons,

the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss, manage risk or benefit from share price change for, or maintain, increase or decrease the voting power of, such shareholder or such beneficial owners or control persons with respect to shares of stock of the Company, and a representation that the shareholder will notify the Company in writing of any such agreement, arrangement or understanding in effect as of the record date for the meeting promptly following the later of the record date or the date notice of the record date is first publicly disclosed, (vii) a representation whether the shareholder or the beneficial owner or control person, if any, will engage in a solicitation with respect to the nomination or business and, if so, the percentage of shares of the Company's capital stock entitled to vote on such matter that are believed or intended to be held by the shareholders to be solicited, the approximate number of shareholders to be solicited if less than all, and the name of each participant (as defined in Item 4 of Schedule 14A under the Exchange Act, regardless of whether such solicitation is subject to such provision) in such solicitation, (viii) all other information relating to the proposed business which may be required to be disclosed under the New York Business Corporation Law or applicable listing standards of the primary exchange on which the Company's capital stock is listed or included in a proxy statement filed pursuant to the proxy rules of the SEC and (ix) if the shareholder intends to make a nomination, (a) information regarding each Shareholder Nominee as would have been required to be included in a proxy statement filed pursuant to the proxy rules of the SEC as well as other information, in each case, as set forth in a completed and signed written questionnaire completed and signed by the Shareholder Nominee, which shall be provided by the Secretary upon written request, (b) any additional information as necessary to permit the Board of Directors to determine if each Shareholder Nominee is independent under applicable listing standards, any applicable rules of the SEC and any publicly disclosed standards used by the Board in determining and disclosing the independence of the Company's directors (the Applicable Independence Standards), (c) a written representation and agreement, in the form provided by the Secretary upon written request, relating to the Shareholder Nominee's compliance, in his or her individual capacity and on behalf of any person or entity on whose behalf the nomination is being made, if elected as a director, with the Company's corporate governance, conflict of interest, confidentiality and stock ownership and trading policies and guidelines, any other Company code of conduct, policies and guidelines or any rules, regulations and listing standards, in each case as applicable to Company directors, (d) a written representation and agreement that such person (i) is not and will not become a party to any agreement or understanding with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such person, if elected as a director of the Company, will act or vote on any issue or question, and (ii) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity other than the Company with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in connection with service or action as a director unless the terms of such agreement, arrangement or understanding has been provided to the Company, and (e) the terms of all agreements, arrangements and understandings between the shareholder and each Shareholder Nominee and any other person or persons, including the shareholder, such beneficial owners and any control persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to which the nomination or nominations are to be made by the shareholder or that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 404 promulgated under Regulation S-K of the Exchange Act if the shareholder making the nomination and any beneficial owner on whose behalf the nomination is made, if any, or any affiliate or associate thereof or person acting in concert therewith, were the "registrant" for purposes of such rule and the nominee were a director or executive officer of such registrant. Notice of intention to make a nomination shall be accompanied by the written consent of each Shareholder Nominee to serve as director of the Company if elected.

- E. The officer presiding at the meeting of shareholders shall determine all matters relating to the efficient conduct of the meeting, including, but not limited to, the items of business. The presiding officer shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare that any putative business was not properly brought before the meeting in accordance with the procedures prescribed by this Article VII, in which case such business shall not be transacted.
- F. The Company shall include in its proxy statement for any annual meeting of shareholders the name, together with the Required Information (defined below), of any Shareholder Nominee identified in a timely notice that satisfies Section D of this Article VII delivered by one or more shareholders who at the time the request is delivered satisfy, or are acting on behalf of persons who satisfy the ownership and other requirements of both Sections D and F of this Article VII (such shareholder or shareholders, and any person on whose behalf they are acting, the Eligible Shareholder), and who expressly elects at the time of providing the notice required by this Article VII to have its nominee included in the Company's proxy materials pursuant to this Article VII Section F.

- 1. For purposes of this Article VII Section F, the "Required Information" that the Company will include in its proxy statement is (i) the information concerning the Shareholder Nominee and the Eligible Shareholder that, as determined by the Company, is required to be disclosed in a proxy statement filed pursuant to the proxy rules of the SEC, and (ii) if the Eligible Shareholder so elects, a Statement (defined below).
- 2. The Company shall not be required to include a Shareholder Nominee in its proxy materials for any meeting of shareholders for which (i) the Secretary receives a notice that the Eligible Shareholder has nominated a person for election to the Board of Directors pursuant to the notice requirements set forth in Article VII Section D and (ii) the Eligible Shareholder does not expressly elect at the time of providing the notice to have its nominee included in the Company's proxy materials pursuant to this Article VII Section F.
- 3. The number of Shareholder Nominees (including Shareholder Nominees that were submitted by an Eligible Shareholder for inclusion in the Company's proxy materials pursuant to this Article VII Section F but either are subsequently withdrawn or that the Board of Directors decides to nominate as Board Nominees) appearing in the Company's proxy materials with respect to a meeting of shareholders shall not exceed 20% of the number of directors in office as of the last day on which notice of a nomination may be delivered pursuant to Article VII Section D (the Final Proxy Access Nomination Date), or if such amount is not a whole number, the closest whole number below 20%. In the event that the number of Shareholder Nominees submitted by Eligible Shareholders pursuant to this Article VII Section F exceeds this maximum number, each Eligible Shareholder shall select one Shareholder Nominee for inclusion in the Company's proxy materials until the maximum number is reached, going in the order of the amount (largest to smallest) of shares of the Company's capital stock each Eligible Shareholder disclosed as owned in the written notice of the nomination submitted to the Company. If the maximum number is not reached after each Eligible Shareholder has selected one Shareholder Nominee, this selection process shall continue as many times as necessary, following the same order each time, until the maximum number is reached.
- 4. An Eligible Shareholder must have owned (as defined below) 3% or more of the Company's outstanding capital stock continuously for at least three years (the Required Shares) as of both the date the written notice of the nomination is delivered to or mailed and received by the Company in accordance with Article VII Section D and the record date for determining shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting and must continue to own the Required Shares through the meeting date. For purposes of satisfying the foregoing ownership requirement under this Article VII Section F, (i) the shares of common stock owned by one or more shareholders, or by the person or persons who own shares of the Company's common stock and on whose behalf any shareholder is acting, may be aggregated, provided that the number of shareholders and other persons whose ownership of shares is aggregated for such purpose shall not exceed twenty, and (ii) a group of funds under common management and investment control shall be treated as one shareholder or person for this purpose. Within the time period specified in Article VII Section D for providing notice of a nomination, an Eligible Shareholder must provide the following information in writing to the Secretary (in addition to the information required to be provided by Article VII Section D): (i) one or more written statements from the record holder of the shares (and from each intermediary through which the shares are or have been held during the requisite three-year holding period) verifying that, as of a date within seven calendar days prior to the date the written notice of the nomination is delivered to or mailed and received by the Company, the Eligible Shareholder owns, and has owned continuously for the preceding three years, the Required Shares, and the Eligible Shareholder's agreement to provide, within five business days after the record date for the meeting, written statements from the record holder and intermediaries verifying the Eligible Shareholder's continuous ownership of the Required Shares through the record date, (ii) the written consent of each Shareholder Nominee to be named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected, (iii) a copy of the Schedule 14N that has been filed with the SEC as required by Rule 14a-18 under the Exchange Act, as may be amended, (iv) a representation that the Eligible Shareholder (including each member of any group of shareholders that together is an Eligible Shareholder hereunder) (A) acquired the Required Shares in the ordinary course of business and not with the intent to change or influence control at the Company, and does not presently have such intent, (B) has not nominated and will not nominate for election to the Board of Directors at the meeting any person other than the Shareholder Nominee(s) being nominated pursuant to this Article VII Section F, (C) has not engaged and will not engage in, and has not and will not be, a "participant" in another person's "solicitation" within the meaning of Rule 14a-1(I) under the Exchange Act in support of the election of any individual as a director at the meeting other than each Shareholder Nominee or a Board Nominee, (D) will not distribute to any shareholder any form of proxy for the meeting other than the form distributed by the Company, (E) intends to continue to own the

Required Shares through the date of the meeting, (F) will provide facts, statements and other information in all communications with the Company and its shareholders that are or will be true and correct in all material respects and do not and will not omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and (G) intends to continue to own the Required Shares for at least one year following the meeting, and (v) an undertaking that the Eligible Shareholder agrees to (A) assume all liability stemming from any legal or regulatory violation arising out of the Eligible Shareholder's communications with the Company's shareholders or out of the information that the Eligible Shareholder provided to the Company, (B) indemnify and hold harmless the Company and each of its directors, officers and employees individually against any liability, loss or damages in connection with any threatened or pending action, suit or proceeding, whether legal, administrative or investigative, against the Company or any of its directors, officers or employees arising out of any nomination submitted by the Eligible Shareholder pursuant to this Article VII Section F,(C) file with the SEC all soliciting and other materials as required under Section F.9 of this Article VII, and (D) comply with all other applicable laws, rules, regulations and listing standards with respect to any solicitation in connection with the meeting. The inspector of elections shall not give effect to the Eligible Shareholder's votes with respect to the election of directors if the Eligible Shareholder does not comply with each of the representations in clause (iv) above.

- 5. For purposes of this Article VII Section F, an Eligible Shareholder shall be deemed to "own" only those outstanding shares of the Company's capital stock as to which the shareholder possesses both (i) the full voting and investment rights pertaining to the shares and (ii) the full economic interest in (including the opportunity for profit and risk of loss on) such shares; provided that the number of shares calculated in accordance with clauses (i) and (ii) shall not include any shares (x) sold by such shareholder or any of its affiliates in any transaction that has not been settled or closed, (y) borrowed by such shareholder or any of its affiliates for any purposes or purchased by such shareholder or any of its affiliates pursuant to an agreement to resell or (z) subject to any option, warrant, forward contract, swap, contract of sale, other derivative or similar agreement entered into by such shareholder or any of its affiliates, whether any such instrument or agreement is to be settled with shares or with cash based on the notional amount or value of outstanding shares of the Company's capital stock, in any such case which instrument or agreement has, or is intended to have, the purpose or effect of (1) reducing in any manner, to any extent or at any time in the future, such shareholder's or affiliates' full right to vote or direct the voting of any such shares, and/or (2) hedging, offsetting or altering to any degree gain or loss arising from the full economic ownership of such shares by such shareholder or affiliate. A shareholder shall "own" shares held in the name of a nominee or other intermediary so long as the shareholder retains the right to instruct how the shares are voted with respect to the election of directors and possesses the full economic interest in the shares. A shareholder's ownership of shares shall be deemed to continue during any period in which the shareholder has delegated any voting power by means of a proxy, power of attorney or other instrument or arrangement that is revocable at any time by the shareholder. A person's ownership of shares shall be deemed to continue during any period in which (i) the person has loaned such shares, provided that the person has the power to recall such loaned shares on three business days' notice; or (ii) the person has delegated any voting power by means of a proxy, power of attorney or other instrument or arrangement that is revocable at any time by the person. Whether outstanding shares of the Company's capital stock are "owned" for these purposes shall be determined by the Board of Directors, which determination shall be conclusive and binding on the Company and its shareholders. For purposes of this Article VII Section F, the term "affiliate" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the regulations promulgated under the Exchange Act.
- 6. The Eligible Shareholder may provide to the Secretary, within the time period specified in Article VII Section D for providing notice of a nomination, a written statement for inclusion in the Company's proxy statement for the meeting, not to exceed 500 words, in support of the Shareholder Nominee's candidacy (the Statement). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article VII, the Company may omit from its proxy materials any information or Statement that it believes would violate any applicable law, rule, regulation or listing standard.
- 7. The Company shall not be required to include, pursuant to this Article VII Section F, a Shareholder Nominee in its proxy materials (i) for any meeting for which the Secretary receives a notice that the Eligible Shareholder or any other shareholder has nominated a Shareholder Nominee for election to the board of directors pursuant to the requirements of Article VII Section D and does not expressly elect at the time of providing the notice to have its nominee included in the Company's proxy materials pursuant to this Article VII Section F, (ii) if the Eligible

Shareholder who has nominated such Shareholder Nominee has engaged in or is currently engaged in, or has been or is a "participant" in another person's, "solicitation" within the meaning of Rule 14a-1(I) under the Exchange Act in support of the election of any individual as a director at the meeting other than its Shareholder Nominee(s) or a Board Nominee, (iii) who is not independent under the Applicable Independence Standards, as determined by the Board of Directors, (iv) whose election as a member of the Board of Directors would cause the Company to be in violation of these By-Laws, the Company's certificate of incorporation, the listing standards of the principal exchange upon which the Company's capital stock is traded, or any applicable state or federal law, rule or regulation, (v) who is or has been, within the past three years, an officer or director of a competitor, as defined in Section 8 of the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914, (vi) who is a director, trustee, officer or employee with management functions for any depository institution, depository institution holding company or entity that has been designated as a Systemically Important Financial Institution, each as defined in the Depository Institution Management Interlocks Act (DIMIA), provided, however, that this clause (vi) shall apply only while the Company is subject to DIMIA, (vii) who is a named subject of a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses) or has been convicted in such a criminal proceeding within the past ten years, (viii) who is subject to any order of the type specified in Rule 506(d) of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (ix) if such Shareholder Nominee or the applicable Eligible Shareholder shall have provided information to the Company in respect to such nomination that was untrue in any material respect or omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statement made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, as determined by the Board of Directors, or (x) if the Eligible Shareholder or applicable Shareholder Nominee otherwise contravenes any of the agreements or representations made by such Eligible Shareholder or Shareholder Nominee or fails to comply with its obligations pursuant to this Article VII.

- 8. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Board of Directors or the person presiding at the meeting shall declare a nomination by an Eligible Shareholder to be invalid, and such nomination shall be disregarded notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the Company, if (i) the Shareholder Nominee(s) and/or the applicable Eligible Shareholder shall have breached its or their obligations, agreements or representations under this Article VII, as determined by the Board of Directors or the person presiding at the meeting, or (ii) the Eligible Shareholder (or a qualified representative thereof) does not appear at the meeting to present any nomination pursuant to this Article VII Section F.
- 9. The Eligible Shareholder (including any person who owns shares that constitute part of the Eligible Shareholder's ownership for purposes of satisfying Section F.5 of this Article VII) shall file with the SEC any solicitation or other communication with the Company's shareholders relating to the meeting at which the Shareholder Nominee will be nominated, regardless of whether any such filing is required under Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act or whether any exemption from filing is available for such solicitation or other communication under Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act.
- 10. No person may be a member of more than one group of persons constituting an Eligible Shareholder under this Article VII Section F.
- 11. Any Shareholder Nominee who is included in the Company's proxy materials for a particular meeting of shareholders but either (i) withdraws from or becomes ineligible or unavailable for election at the meeting, or (ii) does not receive at least 25% of the votes cast in favor of the Shareholder Nominee's election, shall be ineligible to be a Shareholder Nominee pursuant to this Article VII Section F for the next two annual meetings of shareholders following the meeting for which the Shareholder Nominee has been nominated for election.

# Article VIII Stock and Transfer

A. Certificates of stock, signed by the Chairman of the Board, or a Vice Chairman, or the Chief Executive Officer, if then a separate officer, or a Vice President and the Secretary or Treasurer, shall be issued to the shareholders; provided, however, that the Board may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of stock shall be uncertificated shares. Any such resolution shall not apply to shares represented by a certificate until such certificate is surrendered to the Company. Such signatures may be facsimiles, engraved or printed, and in case any such officer who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed

upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such before such certificate is issued, such certificate may be issued by the Company with the same effect as if that officer had not ceased to be such at the date of its issue.

- B. The stock shall be transferable only upon the books of the Company, by the holder thereof, in person, or by properly authenticated power of attorney.
- C. The Board of Directors may appoint suitable agents in the City of New York and elsewhere, to facilitate transfers by shareholders under such regulations as the Board may from time to time prescribe. The transfer books may be closed by the Board for such periods as may be deemed advisable for dividend or other purposes.
- D. The Board of Directors may appoint any bank or trust company in the City of New York or elsewhere, to act as registrar of transfers of stock until otherwise ordered by the Board of Directors. After the appointment of any such registrar of transfers, no certificate thereafter issued for stock shall be binding upon the Company, or have any validity, unless countersigned by any such registrar of transfers, or by a successor of any such registrar appointed by the Board of Directors.
- E. The Board of Directors may make such other and further regulations, with reference to the stock and its transfer, as to them may seem advisable from time to time.
- F. The Board of Directors may call a meeting or meetings of shareholders for the purpose of authorizing an increase of the stock of this Company, at such time or times as to the Board may seem advisable.

# Article IX Examination of Books

The Board of Directors may, by resolution, make regulations respecting the examination of the books of the Company by shareholders.

### **Article X**

### **Engineering Decisions and Activities**

All engineering decisions made in a particular state pertaining to any project or engineering activities conducted by the Company in such state where so required by law, or where the Chief Executive Officer so directs, shall be made (a) by the employee of the Company who holds a certificate of registration as an engineer in such state and who has been specified by the Chief Executive Officer or the person designated by the Chief Executive Officer to make such specification, as the engineer in responsible charge of such project or engineering activities, or (b) by other responsible engineers under his direction or supervision.

#### Article XI

#### Indemnification

A. The Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as the same exists or may hereafter be in effect, indemnify any person who is or was or has agreed to become a director or officer of the Company (hereinafter, a "director" or "officer") and who is or was made or threatened to be made a party to or is involved in any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, arbitration, alternative dispute mechanism, inquiry, investigation, hearing or other proceeding (including any appeal therein), whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative, legislative or otherwise (hereinafter, a "proceeding"), including an action by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor and an action by or in the right of any other corporation of any type or kind, domestic or foreign, or any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, which such person is serving, has served or has agreed to serve in any capacity at the request of the Company, by reason of the fact that he or she is or was or has agreed to become a director or officer of the Company, or, while a director or officer of the Company, is or was serving or has agreed to serve such other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise in any capacity, against (i) judgments, fines, amounts paid or to

be paid in settlement, taxes or penalties, and (ii) costs, charges and expenses, including attorneys fees (hereinafter, "expenses"), incurred in connection with such proceeding, provided, however, that no indemnification shall be provided to any such person if a judgment or other final adjudication adverse to the director or officer and from which there is no further right to appeal establishes that (i) his or her acts were committed in bad faith or were the result of active and deliberate dishonesty and, in either case, were material to the cause of action so adjudicated, or (ii) he or she personally gained in fact a financial profit or other advantage to which he or she was not legally entitled. Notwithstanding the foregoing, except as provided in Section E with respect to a suit to enforce rights to indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Article XI, the Company shall be required to indemnify a director or officer under this Section A in connection with any suit (or part thereof) initiated by such person only if such suit (or part thereof) was authorized by the Board of Directors.

- B. In addition to the right to indemnification conferred by Section A, a director or officer of the Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as the same exists or may hereafter be in effect, also have the right to be paid by the Company the expenses incurred in defending any proceeding in advance of the final disposition of such proceeding upon delivery to the Company of an undertaking by or on behalf of such person to repay any amounts so advanced if (i) such person is ultimately found, under the procedure set forth in Section C or by a court of competent jurisdiction, not to be entitled to indemnification under this Article XI or otherwise, or (ii) where indemnification is granted, to the extent the expenses so advanced by the Company exceed the indemnification to which such person is entitled.
- C. To receive indemnification under Section A, a director or officer of the Company shall submit to the Company a written request, which shall include documentation or information that is necessary to determine the entitlement of such person to indemnification and that is reasonably available to such person. Upon receipt by the Company of a written request for indemnification, if required by the New York Business Corporation Law, a determination with respect to the request shall be made (i) by the Board of Directors, acting by a quorum consisting of directors who are not parties to the proceeding upon a finding that the director or officer has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in the New York Business Corporation Law, or (ii) if a quorum of such disinterested directors is not obtainable, or even if obtainable, if a quorum of disinterested directors so directs, by the Board of Directors upon the opinion in writing of independent legal counsel that indemnification is proper in the circumstances because the director or officer has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in the New York Business Corporation Law or by the shareholders upon a finding that such person has met such standard of conduct. The determination of entitlement to indemnification shall be made, and such indemnification shall be paid in full, within 90 days after a written request for indemnification has been received by the Company. Upon making a request for indemnification, a director or officer shall be presumed to be entitled to indemnification and the burden of establishing that a director or officer is not entitled to indemnification under this Article XI or otherwise shall be on the Company.
- D. To receive an advancement of expenses under Section B, a director or officer shall submit to the Company a written request, which shall reasonably evidence the expenses incurred by such person and shall include the undertaking required by Section B. Expenses shall be paid in full within 30 days after a written request for advancement has been received by the Company.
- E. If a claim for indemnification or advancement of expenses is not paid in full by the Company or on its behalf within the time frames specified in Section C or D, as applicable, a director or officer of the Company may at any time thereafter bring suit against the Company in a court of competent jurisdiction to recover the unpaid amount of the claim. If successful in whole or in part in any such suit, or in a suit brought by the Company to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking, such person shall be entitled to be paid also the expense of prosecuting or defending such suit. In any suit brought by a director or officer of the Company to enforce a right to indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Article XI, or brought by the Company to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking, the burden of proving that such person is not entitled to be indemnified, or to such advancement of expenses, under this Article XI or otherwise shall be on the Company.
- F. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article XI, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as the same exists or may hereafter be in effect, a director or officer of the Company shall be entitled to indemnification against all expenses incurred by such person or on such person's behalf if such person appears as a witness or

otherwise incurs legal expenses as a result of or related to such person's service (i) as a director or officer of the Company, or (ii) while a director or officer of the Company, at any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, which such person is serving, has served or has agreed to serve in any capacity at the request of the Company, in any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, arbitration, alternative dispute mechanism, inquiry, investigation, hearing or other proceeding to which such person neither is, nor is threatened to be made, a party.

- G. The Company may, to the extent authorized from time to time by the Board of Directors, or by a committee comprised of members of the Board or members of management as the Board may designate for such purpose, provide indemnification to employees or agents of the Company who are not officers or directors of the Company with such scope and effect as determined by the Board, or such committee.
- H. The Company may indemnify any person to whom the Company is permitted by applicable law to provide indemnification or the advancement of expenses, whether pursuant to rights granted pursuant to, or provided by, the New York Business Corporation Law or other rights created by (i) a resolution of shareholders, (ii) a resolution of directors, or (iii) an agreement providing for such indemnification, it being expressly intended that these By-Laws authorize the creation of other rights in any such manner. The right to be indemnified and to the advancement of expenses authorized by this Section H shall not be exclusive of any other right which any person may have or hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of the Certificate of Incorporation, By-Laws, agreement, vote of shareholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.
- I. The rights conferred by this Article XI shall be contract rights and shall vest at the time a person agrees to become a director or officer of the Company. Such rights shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director or officer of the Company and shall extend to the heirs and legal representatives of such person. Any repeal or modification of the provisions of this Article XI shall not adversely affect any right or protection hereunder of any director or officer in respect of any act or omission occurring prior to the time of such repeal or modification.
- J. If any provision of this Article XI is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever (i) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Article XI (including without limitation, all portions of any section of this Article XI containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that are not by themselves invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and (ii) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Article XI (including, without limitation, all portions of any section of this Article XI containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that are not themselves invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give effect to the intent manifested by the provision held invalid, illegal or unenforceable.
- K. This Article XI may be amended, modified or repealed either by action of the Board of Directors of the Company or by the vote of the shareholders.

#### **Article XII**

#### **Amendments of By-Laws**

These By-laws may be altered, amended or repealed, at any time, in the manner provided in the Certificate of Incorporation of this Company.

## Article XIII Emergency By-Law

A. This Emergency By-law shall become effective if the Defense Council of New York, as constituted under the New York State Defense Emergency Act now in effect or as it may hereafter be amended from time to time, shall order the effectiveness of emergency By-laws of New York Corporations and shall cease to be effective when the Council shall so declare. This Emergency By-law may also become effective in the manner outlined in Section E of this Article.

- B. In the event this Emergency By-law shall become effective, the business of the Company shall continue to be managed by those members of the Board of Directors in office at the time the emergency arises who are available to act during the emergency. If less than three such Directors are available to act, additional Directors, in whatever number is necessary to constitute a Board of three Directors, shall be selected automatically from the first available officers or employees in the order provided in the emergency succession list established by the Board of Directors and in effect at the time an emergency arises.
- C. For the purposes of Sections B and D.3 of this Article, a Director shall be deemed unavailable to act if he shall fail to attend a Directors meeting called in the manner provided in Section D.1 of this Article. This section, however, shall not affect in any way the right of a Director in office at the time an emergency arises to continue as a Director.
- D. The Board of Directors shall be governed by the following basic procedures and shall have the following specific powers in addition to all other powers which it would otherwise have.
- 1. Meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by any Director, or by the first available officer or employee in the order provided in the emergency succession list referred to in Section B of this Article, by mailing to all Directors written notice thereof at their residence or place of business at least two days before the meeting and by using other reasonably available means of communication in an effort to contact each Director.
- 2. Three Directors shall constitute a quorum which may in all cases act by majority vote.
- 3. If the number of Directors who are available to act shall drop below three, additional Directors, in whatever number is necessary to constitute a Board of three Directors, shall be selected automatically from the first available officers or employees in the order provided in the emergency succession list referred to in Section B of this Article.
- 4. Additional Directors, beyond the minimum number of three Directors, but not more than three additional Directors, may be elected from any officers or employees on the emergency succession list referred to in Section B of this Article.
- 5. Any Director, other than a Director in office at the time an emergency arises, may be removed by a majority vote.
- 6. The Board of Directors may establish any additional procedures and may amend any of the provisions of this Article concerning the interim management of the affairs of the Company in an emergency if it considers it to be in the best interests of the Company to do so, except that it may not change Sections C or D.5 of this Article in any manner which excludes from participation any person who was a Director in office at the time an emergency arises.
- 7. To the extent that it considers it practical to do so, the Board of Directors shall manage the business of the Company during an emergency in a manner which is consistent with the Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws. It is recognized, however, that in an emergency it may not always be practical to act in this manner and this Emergency By-law is intended to and hereby empowers the Board of Directors with the maximum authority possible under the New York State Defense Emergency Act, and all other applicable law, to conduct the interim management of the affairs of the Company in an emergency in what it considers to be in the best interests of the Company.
- E. If an obvious defense emergency exists because of an enemy attack and, if by reason of the emergency, the Defense Council of New York is itself unable to order the effectiveness of emergency by-laws as contemplated by Section A of this Article, then:
- 1. A quorum of the Board of Directors pursuant to Article II may order the effectiveness of this Emergency By-law or
- 2. If a quorum of the Board of Directors pursuant to Article II is not present at the first Board of Directors meeting called, in the manner provided in Section D.1 of this Article, after an emergency arises, then the provisions of this Emergency By-law shall automatically become effective and shall remain in effect until it is practical for a normally constituted Board of Directors to resume management of the business of the Company.

# Certification Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended

#### I, H. Lawrence Culp, Jr., certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of General Electric Company;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report:
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date. July 31, 2019	
/s/ H. Lawrence Culp, Jr.	
H. Lawrence Culp, Jr.	
Chief Executive Officer	

Data: July 31, 2010

# Certification Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended

I, Jamie S. Miller, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of General Electric Company;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 31, 2019	
/s/ Jamie S. Miller	
Jamie S. Miller	
Chief Financial Officer	

## Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

In connection with the Quarterly Report of General Electric Company (the "registrant") on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "report"), we, H. Lawrence Culp, Jr. and Jamie S. Miller, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, of the registrant, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, that to our knowledge:

- (1) The report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- (2) The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the registrant.

July 31, 2019

/s/ H. Lawrence Culp, Jr.

H. Lawrence Culp, Jr. Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Jamie S. Miller

Jamie S. Miller Chief Financial Officer